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Chairman's Statement

ESRYFH

Chairman

ZHANG Chun

EER

(3
Dear Shareholders, B A SRR -
In 2018, the fluctuation in global economy has been intensified. 20184 « 2R ERE MBI - B AL EE
As affected by different economic conditions such as the HBEATTENSELEERENZET B
downward pressure, the domestic general industry and the BEITHEM A SNER T 5 IE A Fp o Pk &k - R
internal and external markets were facing new challenges. The oE 2 RMIZ R - BEEEE T © BR
global economy has shown modest growth, but momentum T I A% 7 38 3R B AR R 3 L T 35 48 B &0 5% N
has been slowed down. Eurozone economy slowed down, and Bl FELERIEREZEFHDL - [#ER
emerging markets saw intensified fluctuations in economy. Major ] BB SREZRREEHESE
economies diverged with each other in economic growth trend. FEE - BERESHRAAERES HHE

The trend of “reverse globalization” and trade protectionism
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threaten the steady growth of global trade, while the international
trade rules are subject to re-adjustment. There are more
prominent risk exposures arising from political instability and
regime changes in certain countries. Some markets are facing
financial difficulties as affected by the fluctuation of the prices
of bulk commodities, such as oil. These external risk exposures
and uncertainties significantly affected the global political and
economic trend. On the other hand, driven by the structural
reform of the supply side, China’s national economy is still
operating in a reasonable range and maintained overall stability.
The economic structure is continuously optimized. The annual
gross domestic product exceeded RMBO trillion for the first time,
representing an increase of 6.6% over the previous year, which
excelled the expected development target of about 6.5%. China
plays an important role in the global economy. The demand for
engineering contracting business in various countries is growing.
Under the support of many positive and favorable factors, new
economic kinetics such as new economy and new industries are
accelerating, and structural optimization effects continue to be
highlighted.

2018 marks the 40th anniversary of the establishment of CMEC.
Under the complex situation of the domestic and foreign markets
and increasingly fierce competition, CMEC stood up to pressure
and acted actively. It has integrated internal resources, and
persisted in deepening reform. We continued to participate
deeply in the construction of “the Belt and Road”, actively explore
overseas business, and achieved a series of major breakthroughs
in the management system, business strategy, institutional
adjustment, market layout etc. We focused on innovations in
different aspects such as development modes, management
methods, investments in science and technology and resources
integration, achieving a series of key advances.
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Chairman's Statement

ESRYFH

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018, under the complicated world economic and political
landscapes, adjustment of international energy structure and
increasingly intensified competition, the international environment
brought relevant risks and challenges to the industrial
development. The Company adhered to stable development and
continued to strengthen its efforts in coordinating with national
strategies, such as “the Belt and Road Initiative” and “Going
Out”. At the same time, the Company drilled its internal skills,
optimized business layout and improved the industrial chain,
thereby seizing opportunities and preparing for challenges ahead.
With joint efforts, the Company maintained stable development
in overall operations. In 2018, the Company recorded revenue
of RMB28,862.6 million; gross profit of RMB4,696.0 million;
and profit attributable to shareholders of RMB2,131.5 million
(the Board recommended the distribution of a final dividend of
RMBO0.2067 per share for 2018).

In respect of International Engineering Contracting Business, its
revenue contribution accounted for approximately 63.3% of the
Company’s total revenue, and remained as the core business
of the Company. In the past year, the Company adhered to
the development of both traditional markets and new markets,
and at the same time exerted efforts to strengthen research on
core market industrial policies and market trends. In response
to the national policies, such as “the Belt and Road” initiative,
and market changes, the development direction of key market
projects was adjusted, with resources allocation concentrated
on highlighting key features, fine products, long-term efficiency
and innovation. We have completed the contract signing for a
large number of new projects in traditional markets, such as the
mine mouth coal power plant project at Thar Block-Il in Pakistan,
the social security housing project in Ukraine, the tourism island
project in the Maldives, the expansion of continental high voltage
power grid in Equatorial Guinea and operation and maintenance
projects. We also achieved major breakthroughs in many new
market projects, such as the housing project in Pyeongchang,
South Korea, the iron ore project in Sierra Leone, the LNG
receiving station project in Sao Tome, the apartment construction
project in Australia, and the cement plant project in Tajikistan.
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In respect of new energy business, the Company actively
pursued clean energy and green energy projects in line with
the structural changes in the international power market. The
Menengai 35MW geothermal project was signed in Kenya, which
was the Company’s first geothermal power station project and
laid a solid foundation for the development of the new geothermal
energy market. The wind power project in Kenya was also put
into operation. The photovoltaic power plant project was signed
and went in force in Ukraine, which will become the largest single
photovoltaic power plant in Europe when completed. In addition,
photovoltaic projects were also signed in Bangladesh and
Malaysia, respectively. After the completion of the combustion
plant project in Jhang, Pakistan, the Group will have gas turbine
power stations ranging from class B to H, solar photovoltaic,
wind power, geothermal, hydropower and other types of clean
energy, green energy project performance, virtually realizing a
basic coverage of all new energy categories.

In respect of external cooperation, the Company actively
participated in China’s four major home diplomacy activities,
made full use of diplomatic ties and other market opportunities,
expanded its operations into new markets such as Sao Tome
and Dominica, and continued to promote the CMEC brand and
services to existing and new customers. In addition to deepening
our cooperation with Siemens, GE, BV, XD Group and DEC and
other leading domestic and overseas enterprises, the Group also
signed new strategic cooperation agreements with Hangzhou
Boiler Group, Zhongyuan and Qingjian Group. Focusing on
overseas investment industrialization, African smart grid and new
technology overseas applications, the Group commenced close
cooperation with its business partners, and established a new
model of compatible and interactive development.
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Chairman's Statement

ESRYFH

Specific to the project development model, the Company
has continued to explore and has made great progress. In
cooperation with Pingdingshan Group, the Russian Irkutsk refinery
plant project, which adopted the integrated operation-driven
development model of “EPC + Investment + Capacity
Cooperation”, achieved remarkable results. For the combustion
engine project in Hambantota Port, Sri Lanka, it has adopted
the investment + EPC model. The Group has formed multi-level,
multi-domain, multi-mode relationships with GE, Siemens and
other external strategic partners, resulting in a more in-depth
cooperation mode and a closer cooperative relationship. The
Group also formed industrial alliances with domestic partners,
such as DEC and XD Group. Through vertical and horizontal
connectivity of industrial chain, the scope of cooperation had
expanded with closer partnership, truly realizing the win-win
situation of strategic cooperation and capital cooperation.

The Company actively explored regional operations in overseas
markets. Regional companies in Singapore and Dubai began to
take root in the local area and started expanding to surrounding
regions, both having obtained credit lines from local banks. The
Singapore regional company completed the technology platform
investment; India Industrial Park project completed the first
phase, and is advancing investment and other follow-up works.
The Dubai regional company, in coordination with a number
of departments, connected with resources in the Middle East,
and played the role of a regional platform. The localization level
continued to deepen, from hiring local staff, local procurement
and subcontracting, to working with local design institutes and
carrying out co-development projects with local enterprises.
The Company also vigorously expanded the opportunities of
neighboring countries, gradually achieving win-win symbiosis with
the local economy and society.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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In 2018, the Company implemented projects without major
and ordinary safety and quality incidents. The execution of the
projects is sound and the Company is operating more than
100 projects. The construction of Phase | of the power station
project in Serbia was successfully completed, while the water
supply and sewage treatment projects in Sri Lanka were officially
put into operation. The Company’s first overseas new energy
investment project, namely the IPP project for photovoltaic power
station in Maldives was officially put into commercial operation
and began to receive electricity charges. Pakistan Thar block
two power station commenced works on boiler foundation. The
Cote d’lvoire power grid project held the opening ceremony. The
unit 1 of Pakistan NJ hydropower project achieved successful
synchronization, while unit 2 received unit acceptance certificate.
The project is one of hydropower stations under construction with
largest total installed capacity and the highest technical difficulty
level in Pakistan.

CMEC’s reputation of orderly implementing projects with high
quality on time had received wide attention and recognition.
In 2018, CMEC won the title of “Leading Enterprise for Social
Responsibility Performance Evaluation of Foreign Contracted
Engineering Enterprises” and several awards including the “Award
for Excellence Enterprise in China’s Foreign Sustainable Practice
for 2018”. In February 2019, the Ministry of Commerce issued the
list of “Top 100 Enterprises in China’s Foreign Contracted Projects
in Terms of Turnover for 2018”. In particular, CMEC continued to
maintain its leading position in China, and ranked 8th in terms
of turnover under the top 100 foreign contracted engineering
projects in China.
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Chairman's Statement

ESRYFH

The trade services and design consulting business of CMEC
maintained good momentum. Traditional markets continued
to be consolidated, while the scale of emerging markets has
been gradually formed. Cross-border e-commerce continued to
develop. The Company made further strides towards the direction
of market, customer and product diversification. Increased
efforts were dedicated to product development and technical
investment in high-end casting and forging parts. Bulk production
for high-speed rail brake disc had commenced. The construction
of the casting and forging engineering technology R&D center
has also began. Special technology incubator project was orderly
promoted, as special projects, such as Sponge City and the
informationization across space, sky and ground surfaces, formed
certain market transformation capacity. Several new patents and
copyrights have been granted.

In 2018, the Company continued to drill its internal skills. It
has completed the reorganization of CNEEC, further enhanced
its ability in controlling the industry chain. Our engineering
contracting team experienced rapid growth. The after-sales
management office was officially established, with industrial
chain continued its back office extension. The level of purchasing
management continued to improve, achieving complete coverage
of engineering projects. The construction of engineering
contracting business management platform yielded periodic
results, while the whole life cycle management system of EPC
project continued to improve. The Company made progress in
project refinement and management. The Company has optimized
its project design plan, effectively saved costs and improved
construction quality. It has introduced QR code into logistics
procedures by using advanced technologies. The Company also
achieved unattended stationing at substations by using drones
for inspection, thus reducing labor costs and improving project
efficiency.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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With the rapid changes in the international political and economic
environment, the Company is facing a rapidly changing market
environment. CMEC is driven by pressure to actively seek for
changes, adapt itself to new market trends, and establish new
competitive advantages. The Company will continue to position
itself in accordance with the national strategies, optimize its
business layout, enhance its operating efficiency, explore mixed
ownership reform, and actively carry out mergers and acquisitions
according to business needs in order to seize high-end resources
in the market, as well as to enhance enterprise development
vitality and internal motivation. We will actively explore and nurture
new business and development models to form a business
platform that creates synergies between businesses. We will also
combine the development requirements of the industrial chain,
actively cooperate with leading enterprises in all links of the
external industrial chain, enhance industrial capabilities, increase
market competitiveness, and remain firmly determined to grow
become stronger, better and bigger.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In 2019, the world economy continued to recover in general.
However, the foundation for the growth was not stable. Economic
growth rate tended to slow down, while the growth momentum
was weakened. There are still considerable uncertainties
surrounding the Sino-US economic and trade relations, which is
bound to have a significant impact on the world economy and
politics. The deep-seated impact of the international financial
crisis has not been eliminated. Some structural problems are
still outstanding, and the road to recovery in the future is not
smooth. In terms of trend, economic globalization continues
to develop in depth despite twists and turns, the international
economic and trade regulations and the global governance
system underwent major adjustment and reconstruction, and
the world economic situation is complex and changeable. The
uncertainties and instabilities that will be faced in 2019 have
increased, and it is expected to maintain a weak growth trend.
The Chinese economy will continue to adhere to the general tone
of steady progress, promote supply-side structural reforms, and
revitalize the real economy. The consumption upgrading, trade
structure optimization and overcapacity-cut will help strengthen
the stability and resistance of the Chinese economy in the face of
international trade market tensions, global credit risks, and other
challenges.
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Chairman's Statement

ESRYFH

The CMEC 2018-2020 strategic plan has been released. In
the future, engineering contracting will continue to be the main
business supporting the scale and profit improvement of CMEC
business. It is the basis for the development of CMEC and the
driving force for other business development. CMEC will make
full use of the existing resources and advantages of this business
overseas to drive synergy development with other businesses.
In technology research and development, CMEC will focus on
cultivating technology research and development and innovation
capabilities, making it one of the core competitiveness. It will
also continue to promote innovation in management models to
support the development of business diversification. In addition,
CMEC will continue to increase its global presence and strive to
transform from overseas business operations to global business
operations and resource allocation. It will focus on realizing
regional center layout of the global core market, and gradually
move the key supporting functions forward to assist different
sectors in the localization development and operation of the
business. At the same time, we will emphasize the organic
integration of domestic and foreign markets and coordinated
development. It is necessary to study the national development
strategy of the countries along “the Belt and Road”, the regional
development plan and China’s national strategy, and combine
“Going Out” with “Bringing In”. We must position ourselves in
the market based on our own advantages, and properly plan for
domestic market development.
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Through the above layout, CMEC will form a diversified business
structure, and each business sectors will provide customers
with a leading one-stop integrated service solution through
collaborative development. Externally, a united community with
CMEC as the core will be formed to create value for customers
and alliance companies. With the effective implementation
of various strategic initiatives, CMEC will form a diversified
business structure of core business sectors and more emerging
businesses. In the segmented business areas of core business
sectors, it can become a market-leading technology and
innovative enterprise. While achieving business globalization,
internal management capability will also reach international
leading level, thus laying a solid foundation for the enterprise
vision of “based on engineering contracting business, leading
technology innovation, and being global integrated service
provider” to realize the long-term development of the Company.

At last, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincerest gratitude to the Shareholders
who extend concern and support for CMEC over the years, the
dedicated senior management team and all the staff members
who have been working with relentless efforts.

Zhang Chun

Chairman

Beijing, China
March 26, 2019
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Company Profile

NEIRIT

The Company was established in 1978 and was the first
state-owned industrial and trading enterprise in the PRC.
The Company is a subsidiary controlled by SINOMACH. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on December 21, 2012. As at December 31, 2018, the Company
had a total of 908,270,000 H Shares and 3,217,430,000
non-tradable Domestic Shares issued. The Company has a
primary focus on EPC projects and particular expertise in the
power sector, capable of providing one-stop customized and
integrated engineering contracting solutions and services. The
Company also conducts the Trading Business, Services Business
and the emerging business segments.

Visions for Corporate Development: On the basis of
engineering constructing business and driven by technology
and innovation, becoming an international diversified integrated
service provider.

Competitive Strengths: Brand reputation, operational model,
business network, professional team, business operation, financial
planning.

International Engineering Contracting Business: With
approximately 40 years of experience in the International
Engineering Contracting Business, the Company is able to
provide project owners with one-stop customized and integrated
turnkey solutions and services to manage and implement
engineering contracting projects, especially in developing
countries, and has undertaken engineering contracting projects in
approximately 50 countries, primarily in Asia, Africa, Europe and
South America. Power, transportation and telecommunications
sectors are the Company’s Core Sectors. The Company is
also engaged in the Non-Core Sectors, such as water supply
and treatment projects, building and construction projects,
manufacturing and processing plant projects and mining and
resources exploitation projects.

Trading Business: The Company conducts the Trading Business
through its sales and marketing network which covers over
150 countries and regions. The sales and marketing network is
established through years of international engineering contracting
and trading experiences and business transactions involving
export and import of products and services to and from these
countries and regions.

Services Business: The Company is engaged in a certain
extent on the Services Business, mainly including design
consulting services, logistics services, tendering agency services,
export-import agency services and other services.
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Company Profile

DA

Corporate Structure: As at December 31, 2018, the Company’s LM - R2018F12A31H » AR RID
corporate structure was as follows: E S (1N

100%

77.21% 0.78% 2201%

COMPANY
AN T

International Engineering International Engineering

Trading Business Services Business Trading Business
HEXE TRAEHTE HE X

Contracting Business Contracting Business
ERTIRREREYE ERTERDRYE
Chire Ntloral Eleci China Machnery Tndustal CMEC Comtrans CWIEC SeregalSA | Sino American Machinery
[100%} Products Co,, Ltd. 100%] International Co., Ltd. 100% (Senegal) 100% | Corporation (Delaware, USA}
DP BHTIRARR BEmRE A PREREHER 3 H O @R E FEEEMFARA
BREERF HIBABEERR ERNBRGERL (ERHEM)
(ERME)
100%) i:‘;;g:;‘r“’g"aclig':r‘;‘t‘zi - CME‘(’?\A Pe::OC"EVg‘CE'L‘d China Machnery and e China Machinery &
comerato eneral Machinery Co., L Equipment Interational igeria Development Equipment (HK) Company
FERETiEARAT HEA(CREARAR Tendering Co., Ltd [100% Limited (Hong Kong)
PRERRRARAEAR FRBHE AR AT
China Machinery " ChMEC ‘E”g'":e&"gg "
Intemational Enginosring tachinery Import & Expor CVEC Bejing Property
ol Co., Ltd. Development Co., Ltd. China Machinery SmEen
o st 3 T2 IR O IER Engineering Argentina 00 e Everbest
EWOAREEAT R AR E AT lo0% S.A. (Argenting) 6 | Development Interational
— ranaiahden  Limied (Hong Kong)
CMEC General Machinery CMEC (Beijing) International PRI AR AT LRERRABRDA(EE)
Import & Export Co., Ltd Economic & Legal (iR
China Jikan Research PR Advisors Inc. oo, | oo MEC Import &
Institute of Engineering EHOBREERT 5 (1 5) BT CMEC Engineering CA. e Egm D%ﬁé”&{)
Investigations and Design, SERRHEREER 1 99.9%) (Venezuela) it
Co., CMEC Intemational 1 2 T TR (Em)
T i R T T
100% 3 258
AREER FOW"-’Q‘;%;" L. China Machinery Engineering BRARAF
s . Corporation Namibia (EARIE)
100% CHM,E\SJZLE'”;,S°[3; CMEC Machinery & LEBBEREEARAT | |100% | (propretay) Limited (Namibi) —
e I&gﬁﬂﬁi& na | [o2e]  Etectric Equipment 1 T 1 ‘OMEC Japan Co., Lid.
Import & Export Co., Lid 0| Shenzhen CMEC industry Bkt RREEAR 0% apan)
PRETEEOAEAT  Sorporation Limited (ki) CMEC BIZjR &t
China Power Construction AT RERBRAT (A&)
Engineering Consulting
Central Southem Corporation China East Resources CMEC Zambia Development CWIC Enme Co., Lid
@E i Ik JLoo] \mmq;\ é ;‘%‘E@"ﬂ Ld. Limited (Zambia) Wapan)
AR Py e poet  m BRR cMmIC FSH &1t
RABRAR (A7)
(¥tezs)
Ecn"é‘”:e!f:gm; CMEC Dutch Carbobean
fro0%| CMEC Engineering XXK B.V. (Netherlands)

CMEC fB It
AR EEAT )

100%

Ikﬁﬂh\u

China National Machinery &
Equipment Import & Expon China Machinery Engineering
(Suzhou) Co. Corporation (PNG) Limited

100%
*‘"(WMM& 1% — (Papua New Guinea)
Eiive) PRI
(B3N ARRT
‘Shanghai Zhong Jing Import (BN
Jroo%| & Export Corporation
Eh@En Sinland Development PTE, Lid
AREERR 100% ingapore)
WHREARAR
China Machinery Engineering G
Henan Co., Lid.
PEEHLELE CMEC Larka (Private) Limited
) ARAR 100% (Sri Lanka)
China National Machinery & "“i‘ﬁ’(‘;ggigha
s | Eauipment mport & =
Export (Fujian) Co. L CMEC Middle East FZE
R oo | (United Arab Emirates)
S OBRAR oo | CMEC
FREHDF
China National Machinery & 2
106 Equipment Import & (P EBaKEE )
o (r"be‘) C%L'd CMEC Mexico Engineering,
China Machinery Engineering | AREEAD(EAT) |
Yinchuan Free Trade Zone CMEC Affica Development
R T roos | Limited (Kenya) _
(R EER) ARAF %stg«;@ﬁgnﬁm
Maldes Renewable Energy
o0 Campany Linted (o Korg)
SRR RAR
(é
‘CMEC Guinea Equatoril,
Poo%f s (Guinea Equatorial)
PRTEEATARELERT
(FRiEHMIE)
‘CMEC Saudi for
Construction LLC
[100% | (Saudi Arabia)
SRARE AR
DHRa)
CMEC Bel Limited (Belarus)
[100% ERAERE R
ARFEERA(ABEAN)
CMEC Lao Company
= Limted (Laos)_
- E S
ARAA(EH)
CMEC Congo SARLU
100% (Congo)
] PERRRE TR
AR 2 ABR ()

ARFERF (BIR)
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Key Operating and Financial Data

EERERMBRE

Revenue Structure in 2018

2018F R A 418
Unit: RMB million

Bl ARKEST

Gross Profit Structure in 2018

2018FEFEEE
Unit: RMB million

Bl ARMEBT

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

RERRSETRRAERA T

Revenue
A
M IEC T2kt 18,281
W -Power B8R 12,537
M -Transportation and 1,336
Telecommunication
ZEER KT TFEA
-Non-Core Sectors FE#Z /02T % 4,408
Trading B SR 8,477
M Services Business fR#% %75 2,105
Total #5t 28,863
Gross Profit
EF
W [EC I2R¥k 3,486
M -Power EHETR 2,518
I -Transportation and 343
Telecommunication
RRERKRETRA
-Non-Core Sectors FERZ0 T 625
Trading & SR 489
W Services Business R %7 721
Total &t 4,696

Revenue Breakdown
P ON(=

63%
43%
5%
16%
30%
7%

100%

Gross Profit Breakdown

ERMELL
74%
54%

7%
13%
1%
15%

100%



Key Operating and Financial Data

Revenue

WA

Unit: RMB million
Eifir - ARBEETT

28,862.6

27,375.1 I

2017 2018
20174 2018%F
(Restated)
(Fit)

Basic Earnings per Share

BRERBR
Unit: RMB
B AR®

0.52
| I

2017 2018
20174 20184

(Re§tated)

(Eit)

Backlog for the International Engineering
Contracting Business
BMIBREBEBATRERE

Unit: US$ million

Bf: BEET

10,647.3

9,019.3

As at December 31,2017 As at December 31, 2018
0175125 31E R2018512A314

ERRERMBRE

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margins
ERRERR

Unit: RMB million

B ARMEET

M Gross profit
EH

5,289.0

4,696.0 A Gross profit margin

£H%

2017 2018
20174 2018%F
(Restated)
(&)

Net Asset Per Share

BRFEE
Unit: RMB
B AR%
42 4.0
2017 2018
20174 20184
(Restated)

(&)

Newly Signed Contracts Value for the
International Engineering Contracting
Business
BERIBREBEBNTENERLSHE
Unit: US$ million
B BEET

6,055.1

4,706.1

2017 2018
20174 20184
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Key Operating and Financial Data

ERRERNBRE

7. Gross Profit Margin for the International Engineering Contracting Business

B TRABEBHERNER

30% [

24.0%

25% [~ 24.4%.\ 22.7%
27% B —=
[¢ -
20.2% 222% 20.1%

20% [— —_ \=19.1%
16.9% o 16.9%
16.3%

15% [
10% [—
5% [
0% 1 1 J
2016 2017 2018
20164 20174 20184
(Restated)
(&)
Il Power Sector’s Gross Profit Margin [l International Engineering Il Company’s Overall Gross Profit Margin Non-Power Sector’s Gross
BHEIRIREEER = Contracting Business’s Overall RAMERA ERE Profit Margin
Gross Profit Margin BB ERE

Bl T2 R B EBMERA EF X

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

FEEHREIRROERAT



Financial Highlights
MBREE

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31ALEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
2018 2017F 20164 20155 20145
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AREFr AREFT AREFT AREFT

(Restated)*
(&)

Revenue WA 28,862,688 27,375,112 21,017,236 24,056,269 23,746,597
Gross profit ES 4,695,953 5,289,045 3,544,191 3,726,821 3,814,298
Other revenue and other income/ HERAREBIRA /S

(expenses), net (Ax) ## 22,382 405,916 14,892 (6,264) (77,395)
Operating expenses SR (3,166,397)  (2,671,437)  (1,991,968)  (1,934,119)  (1,641,864)
Profit from operations R 1,551,938 3,023,524 1,667,115 1,786,438 2,095,039
Profit before taxation & A A 2,825,767 2,360,925 2,783,930 2,996,868 2,764,856
Income tax iR (689,926)  (584,298)  (674,140)  (787,908)  (645,105)
Profit for the year ERRH 2,135,841 1,776,627 2,109,790 2,208,960 2,119,751
Other comprehensive income for the year R E M4 & I (123,209) (77,311) 74,536 (11,906) (18,890)
Total comprehensive income for the year — FRGA N EE 2,012,632 1,699,316 2,184,326 2,197,054 2,100,861
Profit attribute to: \;MIJE%EHG :

~ Owners of the parent RAHEA 2131540 1,774,959 2,106,521 2,204,777 2,119,470

- Non-controlling interests 3&% iR 4,301 1,668 3,269 4,183 281
Total comprehensive income FElnRERER

attributable to:

- Owners of the parent -HRAEEA 2,008,234 1,697,723 2,180,909 2,192,817 2,099,652

- Non-controlling interests — RS 4,398 1,593 3,417 4,237 1,209
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREAREERF

(expressed in RMB per share) (AERARETHHE) 0.52 043 0.51 0.53 0.51
Total non-current assets ERBEELR 12,428,161 9,794,017 8,103,361 6,854,702 5,868,844
Total current assets TEEELRR 43,680,456 46,556,442 39,348,918 37,097,851 32,221,003
Total assets BEGE 56,114,617 56,350,459 47,452,279 43,952,553 38,089,847
Total non-current liabilities EREEEEE 1,409,869 1,245,291 956,450 882,288 729,062
Total current liabilities RHaEEE 38,191,494 37,724,419 31,120,276 28,523,824 24,198,264
Total liabilities ’E Fﬂ@%ﬁ 39,601,363 38,969,710 32,076,726 29,406,112 24,927,316
Total equity attributable to RAEBAELERES

owners of the parent 16,427,408 17,300,486 15,328,515 14,500,886 13,136,369
Non-controlling interests FERES 85,846 80,263 47,038 45,555 26,162
Total equity eyt 16,613,264 17,380,749 15,375,553 14,546,441 13,162,531
Total equity and liabilities EnkBEEE 56,114,617 56,350,459 47,452,279 43,952,553 38,089,847
*  Restatedment is based on business combination under common * BERENAFRE BRI 2.7 S

control as a result of the acquisition of China National Electric M2018F4AWERREE N TIEAR AT
Engineering Co., Ltd. (FEIE JJTE AR A F) in April, 2018, which MEKRE—EH TREBFED -

is stated in note 2.1 to the financial statements in this annual report.

Annual Report 2018 1 7
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2018, new changes arose in the world economy,
with divided momentum of recovery and accelerated
accumulation of various risks. World economic growth in
2018 failed to extend the momentum of synchronized and
vigorous recovery in 2017. With sharp swings in financial
markets and bulk commodity prices, and the prevalence of
global trade protectionism and unilateralism, a decline in
economic growth was recorded in most economies, with
few exceptions such as the United States where growth
rate continued to rise. These suggest that while the world
economy is in the process of slow recovery, the pace has
further slowed down, with even more variables, challenges
and uncertainties. Domestically, China’s economy achieved
overall stability with steady development. China’s GDP
exceeded RMBOO trillion, representing a 6.6% year-on-year
growth based on comparable price calculation, maintaining
a sustained and healthy economic growth with overall social
stability. However, at the same time, changes and concerns
were perceived in economic operation. The long-lasting
aggregation of structural contradictions continued to be
prominent. With the economy continuously experiencing
temporary fluctuations in the process of its transformation
and upgrading, the economic downward pressure continuing
to aggravate and the economic growth rate slowing down,
various risk factors cannot be neglected.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

TTEEE

20184 - HRKBE B IR T — L3
B ExmLEsl - SERBRIMNR
B o 2018t RACEIZ R WL B IE
BT FZEIE LR EI AR LR -
PR AREmEBREZULE -
EHEBEHRETERBEFTREIT
BREBREZ DL HEBAILRES A
ZHN - EL MK B o A B ) AT 7 18 iR
IR TR - BT RAEREAD
T@EEefEs AREEMHRE 2
g PkE - TREEE — S0 #
BERNE BALEERTHEEBTE.
BHAE BINEELERRARE
QOB BT - KA LLEEFTHE - RLLiE
R66% RETHEEFBERRER
Mg XBREE - BRF - &BEET
BHrEE FHhEE RHEBZENE
BUETEEENTE KESLALN
B NATTE - &K&E TNTRAFEM
RN EESREBRNE  SEER
AETARRK °



Management Discussion and Analysis

International Engineering Contracting Business

In 2018, foreign contracted engineering business
in China achieved a turnover of RMB1.12 trillion,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 1.7%
(equivalent to USD169.04 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 0.3%). Newly signed
contracts amounted to RMB1.6 trillion, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 10.7% (equivalent to
USD241.8 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease
of 8.8%). Among which, 7,721 new contracts in
connection with foreign contracting works amounting
to USD125.78 billion were signed in countries along
“the Belt and Road” initiative, accounting for 52% of the
PRC’s newly contracted foreign projects over the same
period, representing a year-on-year decrease of 12.8%;
the business turnover was USD89.33 billion, accounting
for 52.8% of the total amount over the same period,
representing a year-on-year increase of 4.4%.

New major projects in countries along “the Belt and
Road” initiative were gradually implemented while
development of new projects slowed down. As affected
by such factors, the value of newly signed contracts for
foreign engineering contracting projects decreased in
2018, with turnover in general remaining stable. Overall,
opportunities and challenges coexisted in the current
international engineering contracting industry.

BEEERWED T

B TRRABER

2018%F « HEIMINERBITIZE
EREETEAREI128ET
Bt T %1.7% (31 £1,690.418
En BEEEN3%) FHEA
BEEARB1.68EL B IH
10.7% (¥142,4181E%E T - Rt
TF48.8%) c Hep - FE[— 7 —
BIAGERFEHIINKBEIE
BBAR7T 721 HEARE
1,257 . 8183 T + 1 FEAF B %74
B TIEFZE G RERN52% - [
LE T P#12.8% & STRK & % %6893.3
BT - R HBERS52.8%
R RA.4% °

[—F—] sRERFEKREE
bEEEW  IEBRAEWNE - %
HEREFE  2018F HINEE
IRHENERCEENTRE -
EXEBERARFT IR BHK
B BATBEBR IRABRITERS
RN BB FNPRE W TT ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

Continuing expansion of international market
demands

There were no fundamental changes in the
overall development direction of the international
infrastructure market. According to McKinsey, it
is estimated that, by 2030, countries will need to
invest USD57 trillion in roads, bridges, ports, power
plants, water supply and other infrastructures to
accommodate to the paces of global economic
growth. The World Economic Outlook Report,
which was released by the International Monetary
Fund in October 2018, also predicted that Asia’s
economy will grow by 5.4% in 2019 and remain
a global leader. Economic growth in sub-Saharan
Africa is accelerating and is expected to grow
by 83.8%, surpassing the 3.1% recorded in
2018. Market analysis are of the opinion that the
rapid economic growth and the acceleration of
industrialization and urbanization in Asia and Africa
will raise the demand for infrastructure construction
in various countries. In terms of international
infrastructure market demand, the demand for new
infrastructure construction in emerging economies
and developing countries will also continue to
increase.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Favorable conditions in “the Belt and Road”
initiative with promising international
cooperation environment

For domestic macro policies, the overall
environment for deepening of international
cooperation under “the Belt and Road” initiative
continued to be promising. The newly established
National Agency for International Development
and Cooperation further streamlined the
institutional mechanism for external cooperation
management. The 5th Anniversary Symposium
for “the Belt and Road”, the Beijing Summit of
the China-Africa Cooperation Forum and the first
Import Expo, which were held in 2018, all put
forward new tasks and demands. In 2019, in
order to resolve the key issues of building “the
Belt and Road”, among others, major projects,
financial support, investment environment, risk
control, the relevant government departments and
financial institutions will gradually introduce and
improve supporting policies. In order to implement
China-Africa cooperation in the field of facilities
connectivity, the Chinese government will prepare
a plan for the cooperation of infrastructure in
China and Africa with the African Union, thereby
supporting Chinese enterprises to participate
in infrastructure construction in Africa in the
form of “investment, construction and operation
integration”, implementing a number of key
connectivity projects with African countries, and
providing financial support to Africa by means of
government assistance, financial institutions and
enterprise investment and financing. By the end
of November 2018, China signed “the Belt and
Road” initiative cooperation agreement with more
than 140 countries and international organizations.
The policy communication between the PRC
government and countries concerned will further
be enhanced, and the infrastructure projects under
the bilateral cooperation framework are expected
to maintain on a certain scale. In addition, with
the continuing expansion of the international
impact of “the Belt and Road” initiative, western
governments and multilateral financial institutions
have become more willing to participate in “the
Belt and Road” projects. A growing number of
western governments are planning and promoting
cooperation between domestic and Chinese
companies in third-country markets.

BEEERWED T

[ =% —8 | BRI - B
BEREQL

HERNEEHERRE Rt
[—%—3 | BB A E g
IRIBIOAEFE R o FKL
MERBEEERAES
—HBIETHINAEEER
B2 #2018 B 1T HY
[—#—KISBFEXRS
FIEAEREBEILLRES &
[EENBESEREE TN
R MBK2019F © &
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WERE  RRBRETSHE
[—# —BK] WEEME
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BiGEE L AMTESE TR
R BEREREHAEEN
FRIEAE - BRI R 3E
M BR 4R U JE AL BRI
AIERED)  ZHFFPRE
s — 8] SEA
SHEIEMNERREER R
IEMNSREE— B E R
SERIER - WA AETE
B SRIMEBMOERRE
EFAEEMNREERES
BB 2201811 A K -
AR 2 [A140% [ B 5K A
BAESEE T [— & — 1]
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

Judging by existing facts, the huge demand
in international markets, the expected bonus
from domestic policies, good opportunities in
international cooperation and international trade will
lay a solid foundation for sustainable and steady
development of the industry.

Business development is at risk of uncertain
changes in the international politics and
economy

Uncertainties arising from changes in international
political and economic conditions cannot be
neglected. Firstly, there are still considerable
uncertainties surrounding the Sino-US economic
and trade relations, which is bound to have a
significant impact on the world economy and
politics, leading to increased downside risks to the
world economy. Secondly, the trend of “reverse
globalization” and trade protectionism threaten
the steady growth of global trade, in particular the
business expansion in developed markets. Thirdly,
there is a possible intensification of fluctuations in
international financing and commodity markets,
while the spiking US dollar will aggravate the
exchange rate fluctuation of the international
infrastructure market. Fourthly, the international
trade rules are subject to re-adjustment. Fifthly,
there are more prominent risk exposures arising
from political instability and regime changes in
certain countries. Sixthly, recovery of financial
condition environment in certain markets was
prolonged as affected by the fluctuation of the
prices of bulk commodities, such as oil. Seventhly,
the international security risks resulting from
terrorism remain one of the top priority concerns.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Market expansion faces dramatic changes on
the demand side and intensifying competition
on the supply side

Profound changes also occurred in market
expansion. Firstly, on the demand side, the
business model underwent profound changes.
Overseas government projects demonstrated a
downward trend, with private projects becoming
mainstream. Commercial loan model is projected
to surpass the “double-preferential loans” and
other government preferential loan projects.
Secondly, business structure is changing rapidly.
Take energy projects for instance, while fossil
energy projects will subsist in certain areas for a
certain period of time, green and alternative energy
will become the mainstream for future energy
projects. Meanwhile, cross-regional, inter-operable
integrated projects are more attractive for owners
and more competitive. Thirdly, with the gradual
increase of owners’ requirements, integration
projects covering investment, construction
and operation have become mainstream.
On the supply side, competition in the same
industry is further intensified, with professional
engineering companies gaining more strength, and
manufacturing companies following close behind.

BEEERWED T

TEHAREEEREERE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

Trading Business

In 2018, China’s foreign trade was generally stable
with steady progress made. Thanks to the recorded
high of import and export scales, China’s leading
position as the largest goods trading country was
further consolidated. The total value of foreign trade
imports and exports amounted to RMB30.51 trillion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 9.7%. Among
which, amounts of export amounted to RMB16.42
trillion, up by 7.1%; amounts of import amounted to
RMB14.09 trillion, up by 12.9%; and trade surplus
reached RMB2.33 trillion, narrowing by 18.3%. The total
value of foreign trade imports and exports, denominated
in US dollars, amounted to USD4.62 trillion,
representing an increase of 12.6%, among which,
amounts of export amounted to USD2.48 trillion, up by
9.9%; amounts of import amounted to USD2.14 trillion,
up by 15.8%; and trade surplus reached USD351.76
billion, narrowing by 16.2%. Foreign trade in 2018
primarily demonstrated the following six features:

1. The scale reached a historic high. Last year,
all of China’s total imports and exports, export
volume and import volume set new records in
history, reaching new heights. Moreover, China’s
trade in goods is growing faster than the average
growth rate of large trading countries and major
economies, such as the United States, Germany
and Japan.

2. Trade structure continued to be optimized.
Optimization was achieved in five aspects including
international market layout, domestic regional
layout, commodity structure, entities of operation
and method of trading.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

EEES; S

2018%F « HEIHINE Z BT
BEREE EHORERE
LHE EMEZE - KB
MNEMEE - HIBELOBE
AR¥3051BE L RALLEE
9.7% - Hrf - H O AR#16.42
BET EBR71%: #FOAR
#14.0908 8 T - & K12.9% s
B HIEEANRE2338BE T
WFE18.3% ° IRETLFTE * HNE
#H O @ E4628 BEET - I8
£12.6%  Hdp - HO2.488 18
F oo ¥ R.9%: # 02148
BETT BR158%: BFE=
3517618 E T W £16.2% °
2018F HHINE S F E 2Nl
[ElOE ST

1. BEAEREHS  AFHRE
HEEOMEBE  DOEM#E
OEE#PRIE S Fec e - uh k
T—EFHEE-WE - &K
BEENEZNIZRERNE
Bl - ZE - AXEEHKE
MEELFEREH)TFIPIER -

2. BEEREEAEL - EER
misfiE  BRREAE -
AmiEE KETR HS
FAREETEAERTE
1t o



Management Discussion and Analysis

The conversion between old and new drivers
in foreign trade development was accelerated.
New foreign trade business environment continued
to improve, with the establishments of 22 new
cross-border e-commerce comprehensive pilot
areas and 6 market procurement trade mode pilots.
Cross-border e-commerce market procurement
trading maintained high-speed growth for three
consecutive years, becoming a new highlight of
foreign trade growth, coupled with a steady growth
in the exports of products featuring high-quality,
high-tech, and high added-value.

The development of foreign trade became
more balanced. Import growth for 2018 increased
by 15.8%, with the contribution rate to import and
export growth reaching 56.6%, exceeding that of
export growth, and became an important driving
force behind the growth of foreign trade. This is a
major indication of a more balanced development
of China’s foreign trade.

The contribution to national economic and
social development was increased. In 2018,
China’s import linkage tax reached RMB1.97 trillion,
representing an increase of 4% and accounting for
12.6% of China’s tax revenue. A rapid growth in
import and export made positive contributions to
employment promotion, industrial upgrading and
balancing international payment balances.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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China was playing an important role in the
development of global economy and trade.
According to the statistics of the World Trade
Organization, in the first three quarters of 2018,
China’s amounts of import accounted for 10.9% of
the amounts of the world, representing an increase
of 0.7%. Import growth contributed 16.8% to
the growth of global import. In particular, we
successfully held the first China International Import
Expo in 2018, which provided new opportunities to
countries and regions around the world to export
their goods and services to China, and established
a new platform for countries to share the benefits
of Chinese development, and injected new impetus
into world economic growth.

C. Services Business

The survey and design industry entered a
brand-new stage of development. It is a new
age marked by the juxtaposition of challenges of
continuous growth and increased competition in
the industry, the simultaneous driving of market
demand and that of enterprise endogenous
changes, the deepening and evolution of
competition pattern and the acceleration of
enterprise business model innovation, and the
digital age driven by the industry IT innovation and
development. The arrival of the new development
stage made the innovation and development of
the survey and design industry imminent, while
also provided numerous challenges and boundless
opportunities for enterprises.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The project contracting model brought new
opportunities for design consulting services.
In recent years, China considered the works on
optimizing organization model of engineering
construction, carrying out engineering project
contracting and establishing whole-process project
consultation as important measures for promoting
the sustainable and healthy development of the
construction industry. Establishment of engineering
project contracting and establishing whole-process
project consulting pilots by various local
construction authorities, and the mass adoption
of engineering project contracting model by the
government in investment in housing construction
and in municipal projects have provided
more engineering project contracting market
opportunities for the design consulting agencies.
Meanwhile, most of the economic construction
for countries along “the Belt and Road” initiative
adopted the engineering project contracting
model. Under the tide of economic globalization,
the engineering projects undertaken by design
consultation agencies must be in line with
international standards. All such factors created a
remarkable opportunity to deepen the reform for
the survey and design industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED T

Design consultation agencies entered a phase
of transformation and upgrading. The profound
changes in the construction market and industry
led to the reorganization of the design consultation
agencies and the reshaping of the state of the
industry. Design institutes have successively
completed company system reform, and
developed towards the direction of enterprization
and corporatization, which is, to complete an
in-depth reform in the development of the industry
structure towards engineering companies and
engineering consulting companies. It was also a
powerful initiative for design consulting agencies
to accelerate the transformation and upgrading
process and innovation development in the areas
of development prospects, comprehensive benefits
and strategic businesses, laying a solid foundation
for carrying out whole-process project consulting
and engineering project contracting business.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

4. Design consultation agencies were subject
to further improvement. Although many design
consultation agencies began to undertake
engineering project contracting business upon
completion of the industry restructuring, they
remained unfit for the engineering project
contracting model in terms of, among other
aspects, institution establishment and business
scope. Most of the design consultation agencies
had not yet formed a project-based organizational
structure, and still suffered from issues such as
the general engineering contracting management
structure being unsound, and the lack of qualified
project management personnel for engineering
project contracting business. In particular,
continuous improvement and promotion in many
aspects are required for design consultation
agencies wishing to expand to the international
market and compete with other international
agencies, including a standardized system
conforming to international standards, familiarity
with international engineering standards,
improvement in the level of information technology,
establishment of a project management information
platform, and a quality assurance system covering
the whole process including planning and design.

II. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

A.

International Engineering Contracting Business

We are a leading international engineering contractor
and service provider in China, focusing on the EPC
projects, particularly in the power industry. Our
International Engineering Contracting Business is one of
the Company’s traditional core businesses, accounting
for about 63.3% of the Company’s total revenue in
2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

In 2018, amid a severe external environment, the 20184 « BIfR T2 B 75 H ¥
International Engineering Contracting Business stood up BRUEHINERIR IR - TR ) - 18
to pressure and maintained a steady development. BIER  RIFT FREMER -
The following table sets forth the details of the T & & 7| # £2018F 128311
International Engineering Contracting Business for the IFEEBBRIRADERFE
year ended December 31, 2018 and the comparative LA K & 220179128318 I F
figures for the year ended December 31, 2017: EHLLERE T -

Unit: RMB million
B AR¥KEET

Year-on-year

% of Growth/
2018 Total 2017 (Decline)
REER

20185  HFEMN% 20174 /CR)

Revenue Power

' ON BHEELIR 12,537.2 68.6%  12,067.9 3.9%
Transportation and Telecommunications
RBERNREFEA 1,335.6 7.3%  2,022.9 -34.0%
Non-Core Sectors
IRDITE 4,408.1 241%  2,928.7 50.5%

Total
@st 18,280.9 100.0% 17,019.5 7.4%

Gross profit Power

E5 BEEIR 2,517.8 72.2% 2,675.1 -5.9%
Transportation and Telecommunications
REERLETREA 343.6 9.9% 701.3 -51.0%
Non-Core Sectors
FEROITE 624.7 17.9% 487.4 28.2%

Total
et 3,486.1 100.0% 3,863.8 -9.8%
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Simultaneous efforts in traditional and new
markets

In response to the national policies, such as “the
Belt and Road” initiative, and market changes, the
development direction of key market projects was
adjusted, with resources allocation concentrated on
highlighting key features, fine products, long-term
efficiency and innovation. We have completed
the contract signing for a large number of new
projects in traditional markets, such as the mine
mouth coal power plant project at Thar Block-Il,
Pakistan, the social security housing project in
Ukraine, the tourism island project in the Maldives,
the expansion of continental high voltage power
grid and operation and maintenance projects in
Equatorial Guinea and operation and maintenance
projects. We also achieved major breakthroughs
in many new market projects, such as the housing
project in Pyeongchang, South Korea, the iron ore
project in Sierra Leone, the LNG receiving station
project in Sao Tome, the apartment construction
project in Australia, and the cement plant project in
Tajikistan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
MEEJE A Eﬁjﬁﬁa *ﬁ'

North
America

Fe=iM

Note: The map is provided only for illustrative purposes
and not drawn to scale. It is not intended
to accurately show the exact location of our
engineering contracting projects.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the
revenue from the Group’s International Engineering

A M EEES AR - WIERL
fIamag - B R B A9 IFERERR
REMIE T2 A I B MRS TR
=

T X & 7 & £20185F12A831H
HFEEREAERDHARER

Contracting Business by geographic locations for BUPR T2 B WA B4R
the year ended December 31, 2018:
2018
20184
RMB million % of Total
AREEET HEEWN %
Asia M 8,101.8 44.3%
South America EEP 1,140.6 6.3%
North America JEZEM 445.6 2.4%
Africa FEM 7,572.5 41.4%
Europe BN 1,020.4 5.6%
Total @t 18,280.9 100.0%

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Progress made in the development of new
models

In cooperation with Pingdingshan Group, the
Russian Irkutsk refinery plant project, which
adopted the integrated operation-driven
development model of “EPC + Investment +
Capacity Cooperation”, achieved remarkable
results. For the combustion engine project in
Hambantota Port, Sri Lanka, it has adopted
the investment + EPC model. The Group has
formed multi-level, multi-domain, multi-mode
cooperative relationships with GE, Siemens and
other external strategic partners, resulting in a
more in-depth cooperation mode and a closer
cooperative relationship. The Group also formed
industrial alliances with domestic partners, such
as DEC and XD Group. Through vertical and
horizontal connectivity of industrial chain and peers
complementing one another’s disadvantages, the
scope of cooperation had expanded with closer
partnership.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

The following table sets forth the operational T & & % & 22018124
details of the International Engineering Contracting BIALFEBHEIEAES
Business for the year ended December 31, 2018 (¥BNEEFE  UREZE
and the comparative figures for the year ended 2017F12A31H IEFE W
December 31, 2017: LB T

Unit: USD million
By - FEZET

As at As at
December % of December Increase/
31, 2018 Total 31,2017 (Decrease)

R2018% H2017%

128318 #@EH% 128318 #E /i)

Value of HEN Power ENEER 1,336.4 28.4% 18488 27.7%
newly AE4EHE Transportationand ~ TEEHK
signed Telecommunications @& 844.2 17.9% 2,968.9 -71.6%
contracts Non-Core Sectors ERITE 2,525.5 53.7% 1,237.4 104.1%
Total act 4,706.1 100.0% 6,055.1 -22.3%
Backlog RITHK Power ENEER 7,255.1 68.1% 5,492.4 32.1%
4FE  Transportation and RiEEHE
Telecommunications* &z 456.1 4.3% 733.3 -37.8%
Non-Core Sectors FERITE 2,936.1 27.6% 2,793.6 51%
Total @t 10,647.3 100.0% 9,019.3 18.0%
*  The amount of the contracts, for which income was * LUFEERERKRANER
recognised by net amount, was deducted from the SO ERTKERE
backlog. N o
34 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Keeping abreast of international energy trends

Following the changing trend of international
energy market and focusing on capturing new
energy projects, the Company signed a contract
in respect of a geothermal project in Kenya, which
was our first geothermal power station project and
laid a solid foundation for the development of the
new geothermal energy market. The wind power
project in Kenya was also put into operation. The
photovoltaic power plant project was signed and
went in force in Ukraine, which will become the
largest single photovoltaic power plant in Europe
when completed. In addition, photovoltaic projects
were also signed in Bangladesh and Malaysia,
respectively. After the completion of the power
plant project in Jhang, Pakistan, the Company will
have gas turbine power stations ranging from class
B to H, solar photovoltaic, wind power, geothermal
and other types of clean energy, green energy
project performance, virtually realizing a basic
coverage of all new energy categories.

Actively engaging in external cooperation

The Group actively participated in China’s four
major home diplomacy activities, made full use of
diplomatic ties and other market opportunities,
expanded its operations into new markets such
as Sao Tome and Dominica, and continued to
promote the CMEC brand and services to existing
and new customers. In addition to deepening our
cooperation with Siemens, GE, Black & Veatch,
DEC and XD Group and other leading domestic
and overseas enterprises, the Group also signed
new strategic cooperation agreements with
Hangzhou Boiler Group Co., Ltd., China Zhongyuan
Engineering Corp. and Qingjian Group Co., Ltd.
Focusing on overseas investment industrialization,
African smart grid and new technology overseas
applications, the Group commenced close
cooperation with its business partners, and
established a new model of compatible and
interactive development.

BEEERWED T

ERERERES

IE FE B B A2 IR T 15 (b 8
B FNHEREFERER
B -HESERESTHEIE
2 R NGIE o R=X b
BUIER - BT A
BERTIZEETER - 58
TREEEBHDEER ES
REEOWES T KKE
B - %IE B EKIE KRR
MEREBRELREL : £R
i - BRAD B BIES
KIRBE - FEEEIASE
MEMEE TR 28
B B BIHAL R 51 R 1
Buh - KBREENIK - EEE -
WAL R B RER - 56
BERMIBE B EAER
HMEERENEENZE

2= o

=1

A m

>

HERRHIEE

FEIR 20N B PO K F 355N
EE) ROFARRAIER
EmisHE AETEZ
E - ZREMEHNTS - F
E R E RN CMECH
FREERRTS o BR T TEUR b
AP+ MAER - Black
& Veatch R A B R - A&
BEESEAINEFLEN
A1ESN - BENMNBIES R
BHERAR - PREFRE
SNIRBRAF - SEEE
BRORRIEMEZTERE
et - BEEIIMEE T
1t~ NS B A R 3 £ Al
BINEREESRAZEA
B BUuRBABEERE
BIFTIR -

Annual Report 2018
2018FF 5}

35



36

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

Sound project execution

Currently, the Company is operating more than
100 projects, and the overall execution is sound,
without any major and general safety, quality or
other issues being discovered. The construction of
Phase | of the power station project in Serbia was
successfully completed, while the water supply
and sewage treatment projects in Sri Lanka were
officially put into operation. The Company’s first
overseas new energy investment project, namely
the IPP project for photovoltaic power station
in Maldives was officially put into commercial
operation and began to receive electricity charges.
Pakistan Thar block two power station commenced
works on boiler foundation. The Cote d’lvoire
power grid project held the opening ceremony.
The unit 1 of Pakistan NJ hydropower project
achieved successful synchronization, while unit 2
received unit acceptance certificate. The project
is one of hydropower stations under construction
with largest total installed capacity and the highest
technical difficulty level in Pakistan.

The Company made progress in project refinement
and management. The Company has optimized
its project design plan, effectively saved costs and
improved construction quality. It has added scientific
and technological elements to its logistics operation,
and introduced QR code into logistics procedures
by using advanced technologies. The Company
also achieved unattended stationing at substations
by using drones for inspection, thus reducing labor
costs and improving project efficiency.

The Company further strengthened quality
control over monthly report and completion
summary of projects. It continued to conduct
routine inspections in the implementation phase
of projects, with a focus on inspecting and
supervising 14 projects, including the Pakistan
Jhang project.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

HERTREARE

EFH1T7IE B HiB1001E -
WITEREBERI - R¥A
FEAN—HKEE EEEM
B EMMEDEI IR
JEFIFET « BT 2B R HKH
EKERIEIER EXKE - A
Al EEINTEIRIREIRR
BB KK E uhIPPIE B
FRE AR EBITIWRRIK
NEE OEAEHEE 1
BUERMAEEMAT - &
HEREMNEERTHAIM
2 BHEHUENJEBR 8 A K
MBI EBEXY) - WEBSE
ZAMEEWEE  ZEE
AEEIMBTEENBERS
EHA - RIT#ESR=HK
Buhz— o

NEEHEB RRBACE IR
EEVSHE S - BIAE RFTTT
EETERL BAREHLHOK
Ao RITEIEE AR
It E - MR EER -
“HRESSIAMRIRE - R
EAMAEITER - HEEL
BITEAES  BD ALK
A $RFHR B M e

—HINRIAE AT T
REOEEES - HERR
EHITHEMNTEEUE
BHKEMES T EEANE
EMIEE F14{EER -

4

i

"
@



Management Discussion and Analysis

Drill internal skills

In 2018, the Company completed the
reorganization of CNEEC, further enhanced
its ability in controlling the industry chain. Our
engineering contracting team experienced rapid
growth. The after-sales management office was
officially established, with industrial chain continued
its back office extension. The level of purchasing
management continued to improve, achieving
complete coverage of engineering projects. The
construction of engineering contracting business
management platform yielded periodic results,
while the whole life cycle management system of
EPC project continued to improve.

More in-depth regionalization and localization

Regional companies in Singapore and Dubai began
to take root in the local area and started expanding
to surrounding regions, both having obtained
credit lines from local banks. The Singapore
regional company completed the technology
platform investment; India Industrial Park project
completed the first phase, and is advancing
investment and other follow-up works. The Dubai
regional company, in coordination with a number
of departments, connected with resources in the
Middle East, and played the role of a regional
platform. The localization level continued to
deepen, from hiring local staff, local procurement
and subcontracting, to working with local design
institutes and carrying out co-development
projects with local enterprises. The Company
also vigorously expanded the opportunities of
neighboring countries, gradually achieving win-win
symbiosis with the local economy and society.
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Trading Business

In 2018, the Trading Business adhered to the philosophy
of focusing on the main businesses and returning to its
core operations, continued to explore innovative ideas,
and proceeded business transformation and upgrading.
The overall business continued to move towards the
direction of quality and efficiency-oriented development,
while profitability was further elevated.

The following table sets forth the details of the Trading
Business for the year ended December 31, 2018 and
the comparative figures for the year ended December
31, 2017:

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEmE
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2018%F - BHXRBEEFEREE
¥ mBREL BERFBE -
BURS  BREBRERNDE
Man BTy AR - BNIKFHE—
TRt

T & & 7 # £2018F12A31H
tFEEZEBFBEREE
2017F12A31B L FE N &
HT

Unit: RMB million
7 - AREEET

Year-on-year

Growth/

2018 % of Total 2017 (Decline)

BEEER )/

20185  HBEMN% 20175 OR)

Revenue 'ON International trade B 7,003.4 82.6% 6,501.0 7.7%
Domestic trade BNE 5 1,473.1 17.4% 1,584.3 -7.0%

Total st 8,476.5 100.0% 8,085.3 4.8%

Gross EF International trade ~ EIf¥ & 5 418.1 85.4% 416.0 0.5%
profit Domestic trade NE 5 71.3 14.6% 55.3 28.9%
Total et 489.4 100.0% 471.3 3.8%

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Multi-parallel measures for business
development

Traditional markets continued to be consolidated,
while the scale of emerging markets has been
gradually formed. China-East Resources Import
& Export Co., Ltd.* (F&ERREFOBREMEA
B]), a core subsidiary of the Company in Trading
Business, successfully entered the Canadian
market in North America, with various projects
conducted smoothly. China Machinery Industrial
Products Co., Ltd.* (FREBEEHEREGREMT
72 7]) made further strides towards the direction
of market, customer and product diversification,
and currently has opened up the European market
and the domestic market. Increased efforts were
dedicated to product development and technical
investment in high-end casting and forging parts.
Bulk production for high-speed rail brake disc had
commenced. The construction of the casting and
forging engineering technology R&D center has
also began.

Results of model innovation are beginning to
manifest

The “Internet + Overseas Operation Platform Project”
model has vyielded initial results. The Company
applied online + offline marketing strategies targeted
at small and medium-sized distributors in Europe and
America. The Company also actively leveraged on
local policies to carry out “import bonded processing”
business, and is in the process of exploring new
business models. Trading segment strengthened
its collaboration with the construction segment in
overseas photovoltaic projects, and had made great
strides.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED T

3. Continued to pursue sector management

The Company continued to promote the
transformation and upgrading of Trade Business,
actively promoted the science and technology
funds, achievement transformation and declaration
as a new high-tech enterprise. The Company
introduced guidance opinions on innovation
businesses under the trading services sector, and
released the Blacklist of Trading Business. It also
put greater efforts in promoting sub-brands, and
regulated the sub-brand management.

Services Business

In 2018, the number of completed projects accumulated
under the tendering business of our Services Business
recorded a faster growth as compared to the previous
year. With the continuous expansion in major customer
base, the balanced development in core markets and
core customers, as well as the active introduction of
internal collaborative works, our Services Business
maintained steady growth in general.

Outstanding results were once again recorded in the
design consulting business. We strove to implement the
sector development strategies, continued to maintain
the growth trend, thus further improving science and
technology level and elevating various fields to a new
height.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Fruitful achievements in scientific and
technological innovation

China Machinery R&D was among the first batch
of whole-process engineering consulting pilots in
Hunan Province, with approval for the provincial
science and technology innovation platform, and
was awarded the status of Advanced Enterprise in
BIM Application of China. JiKan Research Institute
was included in the cultivation plan of the National
Key Laboratory in Shaanxi Province, approved for
national postdoctoral research workstation and
awarded the first prize in the SINOMACH Group
Science and Technology Award.

Special technology incubator project was orderly
promoted, as special projects, such as Sponge
City and the informationization across space,
sky and ground surfaces, formed certain market
transformation capacity. The above two design
institutes were granted with 37 new patents, 22
software copyrights and 15 awards at the provincial
and ministerial levels or above.

Remarkable achievements in business
expansion

Design consulting business sector focused on the
direction of national macro policy support, adapted
to the transformation of investment model and
market changes, established the management
and control system for new business models,
and attached close attention to key markets and
large-scale projects. For management layout,
it deepened the excavation of off-site regional
markets, moderately expanded the scale of
operation, established additional branches and
strengthened localization.
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The Company continued to obtain general
contracting qualification for construction works.
China Machinery R&D has newly obtained
level two general contracting qualification for
professional eco-friendly construction, level three
general contracting qualification for construction
engineering and power engineering works, and
grade A engineering consulting credit rating.
JiKan Research Institute has newly obtained level
one general contracting qualification for building
construction.

Steady improvement in management system

The Company attached great importance to talent
development, and earnestly strengthened system
building. The Company took initiatives to introduce
professional teams, mid-to-high end leading talents
and academic leaders required for development.
Among which, two were experts under special
allowance scheme of the State Council, and one
was awarded the title of provincial survey and
design master.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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The following table sets forth the details of the T % # 5l # £20184%12A4
Services Business for the year ended December 31HIEFERBGEBFHEE
31, 2018 and the comparative figures for the year [{ & £2017F12A318 1t
ended December 31, 2017: FEMLRET

Unit: RMB million
By - AR EET

Year-on-year

% of Growth/

2018 Total 2017 (Decline)

BERE

2018F  HEN% 20174 CR4)

Revenue WA Design consulting services & &T i AR 1,040.8 49.4% 1,036.0 0.5%

Logistics services Wik 290.7 13.8% 332.7 -12.6%
Export-import agency # O RIE RS

services 4141 2.0% 26.0 58.1%

Tendering agency services  FREZHRIERA 33.2 1.6% 20.6 61.2%

Others Hit 699.4 33.2% 855.0 -18.2%

Total Met 2,105.2 100.0% 2,270.3 -7.3%

Gross ER Design consulting services &R &1 &8 AR 253.7 35.2% 231.0 9.8%

profit Logistics services Vi IR 7% 103.8 14.4% 202.0 -48.6%
Export-import agency # O RIE RS

services 38.7 5.4% 38.1 1.6%

Tendering agency services — HREZERIERAS 11.5 1.6% 11.8 -2.5%

Others Hh 312.8 43.4% 471.0 -33.6%

Total Met 720.5 100.0% 953.9 -24.5%
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Emerging Business

The three major emerging business segments,
namely asset management, construction logistics and
agriculture development, were formed. On the basis
of the existing business units and business scale of
each emerging business segment, the Company has
gradually expanded its current businesses and scope
of operation, and increased the level of business
income and profitability, thereby improving our business
performance and providing replenishment funds and
support.

Various works under asset management business
progressed smoothly. The Beijing general headquarter
complex building project completed five-party
acceptance. The tenant recruitment for Shanghai CMEC
Plaza was basically completed. Shenzhen CMEC Plaza
was recognized as an urban intelligent industrial park by
Shenzhen City. The occupation rate of Changsha CMEC
Plaza Office Building B exceeded 50%, while Xi’an
CMEC Plaza successfully made progress as planned.

In respect of the logistics business, the Company
continued its expansion to external business, and won
bids for various projects such as the Ethiopia oil and
gas field project of GCL-Poly and the Serbia power
plant project of Shanghai Electric. The Company left
its marks in key oil and gas field regions such as Iraqg
and Chad, and established business relationships with
state-owned enterprise clients such as DEC and China
Energy Engineering Corporation Limited.

The agricultural development operations expanded
steadily. A project site has been located for the
China-Ukraine International Agricultural Demonstration
Cooperation Park project and a memorandum was
executed, signifying a solid step in the development of
Ukraine-based overseas business expansion.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis

E. Important Events

1.

Completion of the acquisition of CNEEC

On November 24, 2017, the Company and
SINOMACH entered into an acquisition agreement,
pursuant to which, the Company has agreed to
acquire the entire equity interest in CNEEC for an
aggregate consideration of RMB1,980,031,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,349,766,807)
(the “Acquisition”). The Acquisition was completed
on April 4, 2018. The Acquisition is a key step for
SINOMACH Group to honor its non-competition
undertakings, which would enable the Company
to better utilize such business integration to
strengthen the competitiveness of its core
businesses. The Acquisition enabled the Company
to rapidly expand its assets and scale of business
by external merger and acquisition, and to
further enhance the Company’s capabilities in
design, supervision, operation and maintenance
of engineering projects, and to further improve
the Company’s service capabilities in a complete
project cycle. The Acquisition also reinforced the
market position of the Company’s engineering
contracting business in traditional areas by
consolidating relationships with partners, and
developed business in a larger scale and with
stepped up efforts to enter new markets and
areas. It also helped to expand the Company’s
talent pool for the International Engineering
Contracting Business, and improve its talent
team structure. Details for the transaction are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated
November 24, 2017, January 12, 2018 and April
9, 2018, respectively, on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Establishment of Henan Pingmei Shenma Far
East Chemical Co., Ltd. (“Henan Pingmei”)
through joint investment

On November 26, 2018, the Company, China
Pingmei Shenma Energy Chemical Group Limited
Liability Company (“Pingmei”) and China Machinery
Industry International Cooperation Co., Ltd.
entered into a joint venture agreement in relation
to the establishment of Henan Pingmei through
joint investment. The total registered capital of
Henan Pingmei is RMB450,000,000, of which
RMB67,500,000 was contributed by the Company,
representing 15% equity interest in Henan Pingmei.
The establishment of Henan Pingmei aims to jointly
promote technical exchanges in the early stage of
chemical projects of “the Belt and Road” areas.
In addition, the establishment of Henan Pingmei
is consistent with the strategic layout of “the Belt
and Road”, as well as the core principal business
and development strategies of the Company. It is
also the first cooperation of the Company with a
large state-owned enterprise in coal chemicals for
joint development of an overseas chemical project.
Being the largest local state-owned enterprise in
Henan Province, Pingmei has technological and
capital advantages in the chemical industry, which
are helpful in the development of chemical industry
projects by the Company, and is favourable for
inducing complementary advantages. Details
for the transaction are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated December 21, 2018 and
December 27, 2018, respectively, on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

RESRRIBTESS
ERCTHRAR (A
TR

M2018F11H26H © &
a REFHES SR
IT&EEEREFERA ([F
B1) KR B M A T2 R R
E1ER B R & B
ERE SIS BT
FHZEFMERABARKE
450,000,0007T © A& A &)
& AR ¥67,500,0007T © #
B EFEN15%E AR -
JAONE R BER K
FHET—F— K &
LTI B BRI AR I 2207 »
AR EFERER—
BRI NERGR TA
ZAN/NCIE VNS 1PN/ R
EEE  RAQREHNBA
BIETRBEEBRE  &1F
FEIEIMETIEE - EAA
METAMAEEE
T A TTERNRMA
BE&EY  BAIRARATH
BEIITEEE BARE
FELER X IHNEF
BE2AARB R AT
Uh R AR A B A8 U 5 Bl T R
A H &2018F12H218 M
2018F 12 A27THHI A -



Management Discussion and Analysis

I1l. FINANCIAL POSITION AND OPERATING
RESULTS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with
the financial statements of the Group together with the
accompanying notes included in this results announcement
and other sections therein.

1. Overview

The Group’s profitability improved in 2018. Profit before
taxation increased by 19.7% to RMB2,825.8 million in
2018 as compared to RMB2,360.9 million in 2017.

2. Revenue

The Group generated its revenue from the International
Engineering Contracting Business, Trading Business
and Services Business. The Group’s revenue increased
by 5.4% to RMB28,862.6 million in 2018 as compared
to RMB27,375.1 million in 2017.
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The following table sets out, for the periods indicated,

the amount and percentage of our total revenue by

each of our three business segments:

TERHIRARHAE=ZEXHD
BEEHNEBRRERARANE

P2l ax

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31ALLEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
(RMB (RMB
million) (%) million) (%)
(AE# (AR
BET) (%) H27T) (%)
International B TRABER
Engineering
Contracting Business
Power BRER 12,5637.2 43.4% 12,067.9 44.1%
Transportation and
Telecommunications R B N E AT 1,335.6 4.6% 2,022.9 7.4%
Non-Core Sectors IERZONTE 4,408.1 15.3% 2,928.7 10.7%
Subtotal NEt 18,280.9 63.3% 17,019.5 62.2%
Trading Business BESEL
International trade R E 5 7,003.4 24.3% 6,501.0 23.7%
Domestic trade BAE S 1,473.1 5.1% 1,584.3 5.8%
Subtotal INEF 8,476.5 29.4% 8,085.3 29.5%
Services Business PRI 2,105.2 7.3% 2,270.3 8.3%
Total @t 28,862.6 100.0% 27,3751 100.0%

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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International Engineering Contracting
Business

The Group’s revenue generated from the
International Engineering Contracting Business
increased by 7.4% to RMB18,280.9 million in
2018 as compared to RMB17,019.5 million in
2017, primarily due to the increase in the revenue
generated from the Power and Non-Core Sectors.

The revenue generated from the Power Sector
increased by 3.9% to RMB12,537.2 million in 2018
as compared to RMB12,067.9 million in 2017,
primarily due to the significant progress in the
power station projects in Asia.

The revenue generated from the Transportation
and Telecommunications Sector decreased by
34% to RMB1,335.6 million in 2018 as compared
to RMB2,022.9 million in 2017, primarily due to
the significant progress in the railway improvement
project in South America and the communications
project in Africa during the corresponding previous
year.

The revenue generated from the Non-Core Sectors
increased by 50.5% to RMB4,408.1 million in
2018 as compared to RMB2,928.7 million in 2017,
primarily due to the significant progress of the
water plant projects in Africa during the year.
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2) Trading Business

The Group’s revenue generated from the Trading
Business increased by 4.8% to RMB8,476.5 million
in 2018 as compared to RMB8,085.3 million in
2017, primarily due to the increase in the revenue
from international trade.

The revenue generated from the international trade
increased by 7.7% to RMB7,003.4 million in 2018
as compared to RMB6,501.0 million in 2017,
primarily due to the increase in revenue from grain
re-export business in Europe.

The revenue generated from the domestic trade
decreased by 7.0% to RMB1,473.1 million in 2018
as compared to RMB1,584.3 million in 2017,
primarily due to the decrease in the business
volume of the solar energy components as
compared to the corresponding previous year.

3) Services Business

The Group’s revenue generated from the Services
Business decreased by 7.3% to RMB2,105.2
million in 2018 as compared to RMB2,270.3 million
in 2017, primarily due to the decrease in revenue
generated from logistics business as compared to
the corresponding previous year.

3. Cost of sales 3.

The Group’s cost of sales increased by 9.4% to
RMB24,166.7 million in 2018 as compared to
RMB22,086.1 million in 2017, primarily due to the
increase in costs as a result of the increase in revenues
from the relevant industries.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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4. Gross profit and gross profit margin 4. EFRERE
() Gross profit of the Group in 2018 consists of (i) 2018FAEKEBEFBRIFR
the followings: mr

Year ended December 31,
BZ12A31HILLEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
(RMB (RMB
million) (%) million) (%)
(AR# (AR
&) (%) EBEr) (%)
International ERR TR B ER
Engineering
Contracting
Business
Power BHEER 2,517.8 53.7% 2,675.1 50.6%
Transportation and
Telecommunications 32 3@:E# M EFiE 343.6 7.3% 701.3 13.3%
Non-Core Sectors IERZNTE 624.7 13.3% 487.4 9.2%
Subtotal /NET 3,486.1 74.3% 3,863.8 73.1%
Trading Business BESER
International trade BRES 418.1 8.9% 416.0 7.9%
Domestic trade NE 5 71.3 1.5% 55.3 1.0%
Subtotal /INET 489.4 10.4% 471.3 8.9%
Services Business EEE 3 720.5 15.3% 953.9 18.0%
Total @t 4,696.0 100.0% 5,289.0 100.0%
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(ii) Gross profit margins of the Group in 2018 are
set out below:

(i) 2018FAKEEFEHRN

Tk

Year ended December 31,

HZ12A31HLEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
(%) (%)
(%) (%)

International Engineering R ITRRAEER
Contracting Business 19.1% 22.7%
Power BEIR 20.1% 22.2%

Transportation and

Telecommunications RiBER NEFBA 25.7% 34.7%
Non-Core Sectors IERZ T EE 14.2% 16.6%
Trading Business EEESS 5.8% 5.8%
International trade HRE 5 6.0% 6.4%
Domestic trade NE 5 4.8% 3.5%
Services Business RIS £ 34.2% 42.0%
Total st 16.3% 19.3%

The Group’s gross profit decreased by 11.2%
to RMB4,696.0 million in 2018 as compared to
RMB5,289.0 million in 2017. This decrease is
mainly attributable to the decrease in the gross
profit of International Engineering Contracting
Business and Services Business as compared to
the corresponding previous year.
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1) International Engineering Contracting Business

(@)

Gross Profit

The gross profit generated from the
International Engineering Contracting Business
decreased by 9.8% to RMBS3,486.1 million in
2018 as compared to RMBS3,863.8 million in
2017, primarily due to the decrease in gross
profit from the Power and Transportation and
Telecommunications Sectors.

The gross profit generated from the Power
Sector decreased by 5.9% to RMB2,517.8
million in 2018 as compared to RMB2,675.1
million in 2017, primarily due to the decline in
gross profit margin of projects with significant
progress made during the year as compared
to that of previous projects.

The gross profit generated from the
Transportation and Telecommunications
Sector decreased by 51.0% to RMB343.6
million in 2018 as compared to RMB701.3
million in 2017, primarily due to the significant
progress in the railway improvement project
in South America during the corresponding
period of previous year.

The gross profit generated from the Non-Core
Sectors increased by 28.2% to RMB624.7
million in 2018 as compared to RMB487.4
million in 2017, primarily due to the significant
progress of the water plant project in Africa
during the year.
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(b) Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit margin generated from the
International Engineering Contracting Business
decreased to 19.1% in 2018 as compared to
22.7% in 2017, primarily due to the decline
in the gross profit margin from the Power,
Transportation and Telecommunications
and Non-Core Sectors as compared to the
corresponding previous year.

The gross profit margin generated from the
Power Sector slightly decreased to 20.1% in
2018 as compared to 22.2% in 2017, primarily
due to the decline in gross profit margin of
projects with significant progress made during
the year as compared to that of previous
projects.

The gross profit margin generated from the
Transportation and Telecommunications
Sector was 25.7% in 2018 as compared to
34.7% in 2017, primarily due to the lower
gross profit margin of the road improvement
projects in Africa.

The gross profit margin generated from the
Non-Core Sectors was 14.2% in 2018 as
compared to 16.6% in 2017, primarily due to
the higher gross profit margin from the house
construction projects in Africa, which were
completed in 2017.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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2) Trading Business

(@)

Gross Profit

The gross profit generated from the Trading
Business increased by 3.8% to RMB489.4
million in 2018 as compared to RMB471.3
million in 2017, primarily due to the increase in
gross profit from both international trade and
domestic trade.

The gross profit generated from international
trade increased by 0.5% to RMB418.1 million
in 2018 as compared to RMB416.0 million in
2017, which was basically the same as that of the
corresponding previous year.

The gross profit generated from the domestic
trading business increased by 28.9% to
RMB71.3 million in 2018 as compared to
RMB55.3 million in 2017, primarily due to the
increase in the business volume of casting and
forging products and domestic grain trade.

Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit margin generated from the
Trading Business was 5.8% in 2018, which was
basically the same as that of the corresponding
previous year.

The gross profit margin generated from the
international trading business was 6.0% in
2018 as compared to 6.4% in 2017, decreasing
slightly as compared to the corresponding
previous year.
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vl

The gross profit margin generated from the
domestic trading business was 4.8% in 2018
as compared to 3.5% in 2017, primarily due
to the decrease in the business volume of
aluminum with lower gross profit margin in the
previous year.

3) Services Business

(@)

Gross Profit

The gross profit generated from the Services
Business decreased by 24.5% to RMB720.5
million in 2018 as compared to RMB953.9
million in 2017, primarily due to the decrease
in both gross profit and gross profit margin
generated from logistics business.

Gross Profit Margin

The gross profit margin generated from
the Services Business was 34.2% in 2018
as compared to 42.0% in 2017, primarily
due to the decline in gross profit margin of
logistics business as a result of fierce market
competition and the decrease in revenue
generated from technology service business
with higher gross profit margin of the previous
year.

5. Other revenue

The Group’s other revenue amounted to RMB106.9

million in 2018 as compared to RMB212.3 million in

2017, mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue

generated from wealth management products as
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Other income and expenses, net

The Group’s other income and expenses, net amounted
to RMB(84.6) million in 2018 as compared to income
of RMB193.6 million in 2017, mainly attributable to
the increase in loss from fair value changes of foreign
currency forward exchange contracts.

Selling and marketing expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses increased
by 15.8% to RMB1,254.1 million in 2018 as compared
to RMB1,082.6 million in 2017, mainly attributable to
the increase in labor costs.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by
10.3% to RMB1,283.5 million in 2018 as compared to
RMB1,163.6 million in 2017, mainly attributable to the
increase in labor costs and research and development
expenses.

Impairment loss on financial and contract
assets/other operating expenses

The Group’s impairment loss on financial and contract
assets and other operating expenses increased by
47.9% to RMB628.8 million in 2018 as compared
to RMB425.2 million in 2017, mainly attributable
to the increase in provision for impairment loss on
receivables as compared to that in 2017 as a result of
implementation of new accounting standards.

BEEERWED T

H i 2 3 58

2018%F « AEEMEMIL T F5E
BAREB46)HE T M2017
FRIAWMAARYK1I03.68 &
T EZHEREHINESGH AR
EEZEIERIGM -

HERTHEHERX

20184 - REEMHERTISE
HESZAARB1,25418&7T
im20174 A & A R #1,082.6 8
BT HIEA15.8% EEHMN
ALRARB P o

TBRAX

20185 - REEMITHAZAA
R #1,283.568 & Jt * M20174
Bl AARE1,163.6B 87T #iE
710.3% * FEHMNAIKARK
HEERBATIEM -

ERMRERAEERERSE H
AR E R X

20185 - AEEMH R AERE
EREEBMEMEEREZAA
R #628.88 & 7T * mM20174 Al
BAREA225E T HiIEE
47.9%  FEBHRZHITH G
ERFE  BUEFHRERER
20174 E N »

Annual Report 2018
2018 F F 3}

57




58

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWED
10. Profit from operations

11.

12.

The Group’s profit from operations decreased by
48.7% to RMB1,551.9 million in 2018 as compared
to RMB3,023.5 million in 2017, mainly attributable to
the decrease in gross profit, as well as the increase
in selling and administrative expenses, provision for
impairment and loss on changes in fair value of foreign
currency forward contracts.

Finance income/finance expenses

In 2018, the Group’s finance income amounted to
RMB1,314.9 million as compared to RMB394.1 million
in 2017, representing an increase of 233.6% as
compared to the corresponding previous year, mainly
attributable to greater exchange gain recorded during
the year.

In 2018, the Group’s finance expenses amounted to
RMB208.3 million as compared to RMB1,162.3 million
in 2017, representing a decrease of 82.1% as compared
to the corresponding previous year, mainly attributable
to greater exchange gain this year.

Thus, in 2018, net finance income of the Group
amounted to RMB1,106.6 million as compared to
RMB(768.1) million in 2017.

Income tax

The Group’s income tax increased by 18.1% to
RMB689.9 million in 2018 as compared to RMB584.3
million in 2017, mainly attributable to the effect of the
increase in the profit before tax.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

Profit for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s net profit for
the year increased by 20.2% to RMB2,135.8 million in
2018 as compared to RMB1,776.6 million in 2017 and
its net profit margin was 7.4% in 2018 as compared to
6.5% in 2017.

Net profit attributable to owners of the parent

The net profit attributable to owners of the parent
increased by 20.1% to RMB2,131.5 million in 2018 as
compared to RMB1,775.0 million in 2017.

Profit attributable to the holders of
non-controlling interests

The profit attributable to the holders of non-controlling
interests of the Group amounted to RMB4.3 million
in 2018 as compared to profit of RMB1.7 million in
2017, which slightly increased from the corresponding
previous yeatr.

Liquidity and capital resources

As at December 31, 2018, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB21,383.6 million,
compared to RMB21,479.3 million as at December
31, 2017, which was basically remained steady as
compared to the corresponding previous year.

As at December 31, 2018, the Group’s borrowings
amounted to RMB984.8 million, compared to RMB916.4
million as at December 31, 2017, representing an
increase of 7.5%. RMB878.4 million (including RMB9.8
million of long-term borrowings due within one year)
was short-term borrowings and RMB106.4 million was
long-term borrowings.
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17.

18.

19.

20.

vl

The borrowings were denominated in either RMB, US
dollars or Japanese Yen and were subject to interest
rates ranging from 1.00% to 6.00% per annum.

Capital expenditures

The Group’s capital expenditures consisted primarily
of the purchase of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and land lease prepayments. In 2018,
the Group’s capital expenditure was RMB503.9 million,
representing a decrease of 34.1% as compared to
RMB764.4 million in 2017, mainly attributable to the
completion of some of the infrastructure projects.

Gearing ratio

In 2018, the Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings
divided by total assets) was 1.8%, representing a
slight increase as compared to 1.6% in 2017, mainly
attributable to the increase in short-term borrowings.

Major acquisition and disposals and significant
investments

Please see the paragraph headed “Il. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW - E. Important Events” on page 45 of this
annual report.

Contingent liabilities

We were involved in a number of legal proceedings
and claims against either our Company or subsidiaries
of our Company in the ordinary course of business.
While the outcomes of such contingencies, lawsuits or
other proceedings cannot be determined at present,
the Directors believe that any resulting liabilities will not
have a material adverse impact on the financial position,
liquidity or operating results of the Group.
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21. Event after reporting period

On March 26, 2019, the Board resolved that a final
dividend of RMB0.2067 per share is to be distributed
to the Shareholders, subject to approval of the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. Such final dividends proposed after the end
of the reporting period have not been recognised as
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period.

IV. LIQUIDITY

Our principal sources of funds have been cash generated
from operations, various short-term and long-term
bank borrowings and lines of credit, as well as capital
contributions from Shareholders. Our liquidity requirements
derive primarily from our working capital needs, purchases of
fixed assets and the servicing of our indebtedness.

We have historically met our working capital and other
liquidity requirements principally with cash generated from
operating activities, and financed the remainder primarily
through bank borrowings and proceeds from the Listing.
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Cash Flows

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEmE

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash

flows for the year ended December 31, 2018, together

with the comparing figures for the year ended December

31, 2017:

RERE

T & E 5 EH 201812 A31H
FEERMORESRESEN - A
% B £2017F12A831H It F &

R E T

Year ended December 31,
HZ12A31BALLEE

2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB million RMB million
ARMEET AREEHET
(Restated)
(FEu)
Net cash generated from KEEEEAMNIR©FRE
operating activities 604.7 152.0
Net cash used in investing activities R&/EEFTAMNIE S F5E (332.6) 7541
Net cash used in financing activities gt & )EENFTRAIR & F58 (732.2) (946.9)
Net increase/decrease in cash and 4 BRI & Z @YWL~
cash equivalents B E R (460.1) (40.8)
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year FYNR L RIELEED 21,479.3 22.127.4
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net [EREHHNFTE 364.4 (607.9)
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of year FRNBLRIBELEHED 21,383.6 21,479.3

As at December 31, 2018, the Group’s cash and
cash equivalents amounted to RMB21,383.6 million,

compared to RMB21,479.3 million as at December

31, 2017, representing a decrease of 0.4%. The main

source of the Group’s operating capital is the receipts

from engineering projects.
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2018, we had
net cash flow generated from operating activities
of RMB604.7 million. In 2018, cash generated from
profit from operations amounted to RMB2,599.1
million, cash outflow from changes in working capital
was RMB1,525.5 million and income tax paid was
RMB469.0 million, the changes in working capital mainly
included (i) a decrease in contract liability of RMB855.3
million; (i) an increase in trade and other payables of
RMB796.5 million; (ii) an increase in trade and other
receivables of RMB4,198.3 million; and (iv) a decrease
in contracts assets of RMB2,651.1 million.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2018, our net cash
generated from investing activities was RMB(332.6)
million. Our net cash outflow from investing activities
mainly consisted of (i) cash inflow from decrease of
time deposits with maturity of three months or longer
of RMB1,770.4 million; (i) cash inflow of RMB151.7
million as a result of the decrease in restricted deposits;
(i) payments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment of RMB431.4 million; and (iv) payments for
acquisition of subsidiaries of RMB1,980.0 million.
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Cash Flows from Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2018, our net cash
generated from financing activities was RMB(732.2)
million. Our cash inflow from financing activities primarily
consisted of proceeds from borrowings of RMB1,332.2
million. Such amount was offset by (i) repayment
of bank borrowings of RMB1,253,3 million and (ii)
dividends paid to Shareholders of RMB849.5 million.

Capital Expenditures and Capital Commitments

Our capital expenditures primarily consisted of the
purchase of buildings, certain equipments, lease
prepayments and intangible assets. In 2018, the
Group’s capital expenditure was RMB503.9 million,
representing a decrease of 34.1% as compared to
RMB764.4 million in 2017, mainly due to the gradual
accomplishment of the Company’s investment projects
and the construction of infrastructure projects of fixed
assets in the year.

Our capital commitments mainly include the value of
contracts signed but not yet completed and the value of
contracts not yet signed but the budget of which have
been authorized. In 2018, the capital commitments
of the Group were RMB971.2 million, representing a
decrease of 30.2% as compared to RMB1,390.9 million
in 2017. It was mainly attributed to a greater investment
made by the Company in investment projects and in the
construction of infrastructure projects of fixed assets in
this year.
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6. Working Capital

(a) Trade and other receivables

Our trade and other receivables primarily consist of
trade and bill receivables, advances to suppliers,

other

receivables related to agency services

and amount due from or advances to fellow
subsidiaries.

The following table sets forth the turnover days

of the

average trade receivables and the average

trade payables of the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

(RMB million)
AEEHET) (ANEEKEHT)

BEEERWED T

BEES

(a) BEZRHEMEBRRKIE

AT E 5 I H e W kIR
TERREREZHREFIANE
W& - AR TR
R RERBHEENE M E
W R IR % R MR B A A [R) B B
BARFA -

T & & 5 R B £20185F &
2017 12A31H I FE K
NEIEHE FEWEIE R F
HMESEMNRENEAEX
& o

Year ended December 31,

BZ12A31HILEE
2018 2017
20184 20174
(RMB million)

The turnover days of the average

trade receivables (Note 1) (H1it1)
The turnover days of the average
trade payables (Note 2) (K1#22)
Note 1: The average trade receivables are the sum of

Note 2:

opening balance and the closing balance of
trade receivables and bills receivables (net of
allowance of doubtful debts) divided by two. The
turnover days of the average trade receivables
are the average trade receivables divided by total
revenue and multiplied by 360.

The average trade payables are the sum of
opening balance and the closing balance of trade
and bills payables divided by two. The turnover
days of the average trade payables are the
average trade payables divided by cost of sales
and multiplied by 360.
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The following table sets forth the aging analysis
of trade and bills receivables (net of allowance of
doubtful debts) based on the invoice date as at
December 31, 2018 and 2017.

T & & 5 7220184 K2017
F12HA31H & 5 E WA
MEWERE (kR REEE)
BEZE AR DT

As at December 31

M12H31H
2018 2017
2018%F 20174

(RMB million) (RMB million)
AR¥EET) (ARKEZT)

(fE )

Within 3 months 3MEALAR 5,820.7 3,886.3
3 months to 6 months 3fEA=6f@A 200.8 160.9
6 months to 1 year JENESE:S 1,297.3 1,397.4
Over 1 year 1F M 1,447.3 1,322.8
8,865.1 6,767.4

The Group’s credit policies with its customers for HZE2018F12A31HILFE
the year ended December 31, 2018 remained AEBHERFHEEDBRE
consistent as that for the year ended December 31, HZ2017F12A31H L F[E

2017. We continually enhanced our management
of trade and bills receivables to reduce the
exposure to doubtful debts. In addition, we made
allowance for doubtful debts after fully considering
the nature of trade and bills receivables and its
recoverable amount. As at December 31, 2018,
allowance provided for doubtful debts for our trade
and bills receivables amounted to RMB1,919.2
million, accounting for 17.8% of our trade and bills
receivables, as compared to RMB1,251.3 million
as at December 31, 2017, accounting for 15.6%
of our trade and bills receivables. The increase in
allowance for doubtful debt in 2018 as compared
to that in 2017 was primarily due to the change
in accounting policy, which introduced a more
stringent standard of provision.
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(b) Trade and other payables

Our trade and other payables primarily consist of
trade and bills payables, other payables related
to agency services, accrued salaries, wages and
benefits and amounts due to fellow subsidiaries.

The following table sets forth the aging analysis of
our trade and bills payables based on the invoice
date as at December 31, 2018 and 2017:

(b)

BERHEMENRE

BB 5 N H A & 5R0A
TZEREFIRMNFALE
MERE - RERBAERAE
RN RIE - BatFE - T
BERENEREZHEAT

TRIE ©

N K &5 20184 k2017
F12A31BHME FHEMNRK
BREMERZEZHEHN
BRER AT -

As at December 31

M"12A31H

2018 2017
20184 20174
(RMB million) (RMB million)
AEEEET) (ANRKEHET)
(R E )
Within 3 months 3MEALAR 5,627.4 4,434.3
3 months to 6 months 31E A Z=61E A 739.8 1,124.6
6 months to 1 year JENGESE:S 1,819.9 2,822.0
Over 1 year 1F M+ 8,489.0 7,843.0
16,676.1 16,223.9

The Group’s credit policies with its suppliers for HZE2018F12A31HILFE -

the year ended December 31, 2018 remained the
same as that for the year ended December 31,
2017.
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V. INDEBTEDNESS

1. Borrowings

Our consolidated borrowings as at December 31,

2018 and 2017 for the purpose of calculating the
indebtedness of our Group were as follows:

&%

1. &8

A2018F K2017E12A318 » &
MANTEREBEBLHNE HHE

BT

As at December 31

M®12A31H
2018 2017
20184 20174
(RMB million) (RMB million)
ARMEET ARKHET
Current: E -
Short-term borrowings RAEEE
Bank loans RITEK
unsecured R 640.1 505.3
secured BIER 228.5 195.2
Subtotal INEt 868.6 700.5
Add: current portion of e REEEREIE S
long-term borrowings 9.8 54.3
Subtotal NET 878.4 754.8
Non-current: eI
Long-term borrowings REEE
Bank loans IRITER
unsecured IR 61.0 173.0
secured AR 55.2 42.9
Subtotal N 116.2 215.9
Less: current portion of B REEENREESS
long-term borrowings 9.8 54.3
Subtotal NEt 106.4 161.6
Total HET 984.8 916.4
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Our short-term borrowings primarily include credit
borrowings, mortgage borrowings and guarantee
borrowings from commercial banks and other financial
institutions. As at December 31, 2018, our short-term
borrowings (including the current portion of long-term
borrowings) amounted to RMB878.4 million, accounting
for 89.2% of our total borrowings.

Our long-term borrowings primarily included
credit and mortgage borrowings from commercial
banks. These included bank borrowings related to
engineering projects, with the total balance of such
borrowings (including the current portion) amounting
to approximately RMB116.2 million as at December
31, 2018. As at December 31, 2018, our long-term
borrowings (excluding the current portion) amounted
to RMB106.4 million, accounting for 10.8% of our
total borrowings. The increase in our interest-bearing
borrowings to RMB984.8 million as at December
31, 2018 was primarily due to the increase of bank
borrowings as a result of undertaking the engineering
projects and infrastructure projects.

All borrowings were denominated in either RMB, USD or
Japanese Yen and were subject to interest rates ranging
from 1.00% to 6.00% per annum.

There had been no material defaults in repayment of
our bank borrowings and no material breaches of the
finance covenants during the year ended December 31,
2018.
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The maturity profile of our interest-bearing borrowings
as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:

R2018F 201712 A31H »
M EEERSHEMT -

As at December 31

A12A831H
2018 2017
20185 20174

(RMB million) (RMB million)
(AR¥EET) (ANEKHZHT)

Within 1 year or on demand 1FE AR ERFER
After 1 year but within 2 years 16 ZE2F

After 2 years but within 5 years 2F EH4F

After 5 years 5 LA

Total “BET

Gearing Ratio

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio. Gearing ratio is derived by dividing total
borrowings by total assets multiplied by 100%. In 2018,
the Group’s gearing ratio (total borrowings divided by
total assets) was 1.8%, maintained stable as compared
to 1.6% as recorded in 2017.

Contingent liabilities

We were involved in a number of legal proceedings
and claims against either our Company or subsidiaries
of our Company in the ordinary course of business.
While the outcomes of such contingencies, lawsuits or
other proceedings cannot be determined at present,
the Directors believe that any resulting liabilities will not
have a material adverse impact on the financial position,
liquidity, or operating results of the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

VI. RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

We are exposed to various types of risks, including currency
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, competition
risk and investment risk, etc., in the normal course of our
business. Our management continuously monitors our
exposure to these risks to ensure appropriate measures
are in place and are implemented in a timely and effective
manner.

1. Currency Risk

Currency risk arises primarily from sales and purchases
and our International Engineering Contracting Business
overseas and overseas financing which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
primarily denominated in U.S. dollars and Euros. As a
matter of policy and in compliance with the PRC laws
and regulations, we are not allowed to widely engage
in hedging activities. Therefore, we entered into foreign
currency forward contracts to lock in the value in
RMB for some of our future cash receipts, primarily in
respect of the proceeds of our international engineering
contracting projects to reduce our currency risk and to
obtain certainty of forecasted income generated from
the deferred payments to be received from the project
owners. The Group maintains and follows the internal
policies and controls for managing the use of derivative
financial instruments and will not participate in pure
speculative arbitrage activities.
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Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk arises primarily from borrowings
and bank deposits, of which the borrowings bearing
interests at variable rates and at fixed rates expose
us to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value interest
rate risk, respectively. The Company regularly reviews
and monitors the mix of our fixed and variable rate
borrowings, either through managing the contractual
terms of interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities
or using of interest rate swaps in order to manage our
interest rate risks.

Credit Risk

Our credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other
receivables. The Company has a credit policy in place
and our exposure to these credit risks is monitored
on an ongoing basis. With respect to the International
Engineering Contracting Business, credit terms granted
are negotiated individually on a case-by-case basis
and are set forth in the relevant engineering contracting
contracts. The Company conducts monthly reviews of
credit risks and end-of-credit-term period reviews to
determine if the Group needs to make any necessary
provisions for credits that we have extended to
customers. We evaluate our customer’s credit status
and repayment capability through establishing an
appropriate business evaluation system. Meanwhile, we
implemented the policy to buy export credit insurance.
For the Trading Business, the Company and the
trading subsidiaries are required to buy unified export
credit insurance from Sinosure; for the International
Engineering Contracting Business financed by export
seller’s credit, the Group typically buys export credit
insurance from Sinosure for its projects to meet its
financing needs as well as to control credit risk for trade
and other receivables.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to
raise sufficient funds at the balance sheet date to meet
its financial obligations when they fall due. To manage
liquidity risk, the Company prepares both annual and
quarterly financial budgets which include budgeting
for capital and utilization of credit facilities to plan and
consolidate various financial resources to meet the
needs of its business, operations and development.
Furthermore, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents the management
considered adequate to finance its operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flow.

Competition Risk

The Group competes with both domestic and foreign
contractors for our International Engineering Contracting
Business. Competition generally stems from price,
design, variety of the services provided, service quality,
financial solutions, business models and environmental
standards. Similar to other Chinese contractors in the
industry, the Group faces competition from engineering
contractors with advanced technology from the
developed countries such as the U.S., Japan and
various European countries as the latter have relatively
large competitive advantages in global branch networks,
information collection, management and construction
capabilities, adaptability and brand name recognition,
among other areas. The Company will continue to
leverage our competitive advantage in pricing, especially
for projects in the developing countries, benefiting from
more competitive labor cost and equipment price. The
Company will also continue to leverage the cooperation
between the PRC government and foreign governments
(especially those of the developing countries) to
compete with both domestic and foreign contractors.
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The Group competes with both Chinese and foreign
companies for our international trading business.
Competition with Chinese companies engaged in
the international trading business focuses on price,
range of products and range of suppliers and clients,
whereas competition with foreign companies focuses
on the price and quality of products manufactured by
Chinese and foreign suppliers. While competition in
the international trading market is intense, given this
market is considerably vast, the Company will continue
to compete with the Chinese and foreign companies
by capitalizing on our financing capabilities and value-
adding services. With more than 40 years of operating
history in the international trading business, the
directors believe the Group has an edge over our PRC
competitors within the industry in terms of our extensive
sales and marketing networks, long established
experiences in the international trading market, well-
trained business talents, strong capabilities in providing
financing solutions and good reputation.

Investment Risk

Investment risk mainly represents any discrepancy
between actual return and anticipated return from
investment. Investment risk is caused by factors
which are out of the Company’s control or contingent
factors which cannot be ascertained when making an
investment decision, relevant advance payments for
certain projects, decrease of investment in infrastructure
by non-governmental investment institutions resulting
from changes in policies, significant outlay of working
capital over extended period of time, and governmental
approvals from and regulatory compliance with various
governmental departments when implementing the
investment projects. The Company has set up an
investment review committee and engaged independent
third parties such as financial advisors, taxation
advisors and legal counsels during the investment
process to carry out comprehensive due diligence,
analysis and deliberation with a view to improving the
level of decision-making in investment and managing
investment risks.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

AEEEFINRRRERE HE
BHETHRF  BRFEERESE
BHFBEQRBEFETRRER
EmBEMMERREFPHEE
RS R =R NI of
SPRPIMEEREEEMOE
REEENHET BEERES
mIGEF AR A BRZT S
FEER ARABNHAEFH
B AL 7 SR (B ARG A A B e b
NEHET - BIEEBRRE S XD
A0ZFNREESL - EFMRE
AEBEMBEANREZHEERTS
BiHEE  EERBESZMERY
RENER  IIRBROEREA
7T REBESTENBRENR
REFNBE  SAKELHEF
THEFEEAED -

RE R

KRERRTIZERENER DR
RIEHOH s R ER - BEK
B RN RE R E AR EE
HBEZIHARSIFLHRERTE
RFEAEENBRRAZNZE
BNETHBNEEREA  BX
EEERIFRFREREE R
REERNRERD - EBEH
FRPRAEZEES  BTER
BIHE & B TR ES K
JiF 4t K 75 8 <7 /B R U BB P EY
EERIE - ARRERIKRE
BELZER YEREBRIERE
BYBER - RSB - AR
REEUE =T HBETEDH
ERBBRONMTHE  UERR
BREOKF - ERRERR -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Country Risk from Overseas Business

Currently, most of the projects of our International
Engineering Contracting Business are conducted
overseas, especially in developing countries or less-
developed regions including some countries and
regions in constant social or political turbulence. Our
International Engineering Contracting Business is
therefore subject to constantly changing economic,
regulatory, social and political conditions in the overseas
jurisdictions in which we conduct business or operate
our projects.

To the extent that the Group’s overseas business or
operations is affected by unexpected and adverse
foreign economic, regulatory, social and political
conditions, the Group may experience project
disruptions, losses of assets and personnel, and other
indirect losses. In some of the high-risk locations where
the Group has employees, business or operations,
the Group may incur additional costs in safeguarding
our personnel and assets. The Company typically
seeks to manage potential losses through contractual
arrangement which protects us against liabilities due to
force majeure and provides for indemnities from project
owners, subcontractors and suppliers, as well as
purchase of construction, installation and engineering
all-risks insurance and third-party liability insurance.
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Safety and Quality Risk

Due to the nature of construction work involved in
our International Engineering Contracting Business,
the Group’s projects may involve certain inherently
dangerous activities, including operations on aerial
platform, underground construction, use of heavy
machinery and working with flammable and explosive
materials. Despite that the Company ensures
compliance with the requisite safety requirements
and standards, we are subject to the inherent risks
of geological catastrophes, fire, toxic gas, equipment
failure and explosion and so on. Besides, our employees
are subject to the personal risks caused by unstable
security environment. Any personal injury or loss of life
our employees may suffer, damage to or destruction
of properties and equipment and other losses caused
by force majeure in the situations mentioned above
would result in the delay in our engineering contracting
projects, extended occupation of the time and efforts of
our management, suspension of our operations or even
imposition of legal liabilities. The Company endeavors
to lower our exposure to the abovementioned potential
risks associated with our International Engineering
Contracting Business by taking measures including
making contractual arrangements with the project
owners in the event of disruption to the projects due
to force majeure, seeking indemnities from the project
owners, subcontractors and suppliers, purchasing
construction, installation and engineering all-risks
insurance, third-party liability insurance and persona
accident insurance, strengthening our internal control
system on ensuring a safe and high quality working
environment for our projects, as well as maintaining
close communications with the project owners and local
governmental authorities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Post-project Transfer Risk

Our international engineering contracting projects
are contractually completed after the warranty period
expires and the project owner issues a final acceptance
certificate. During the course of use and operation by
the project owner, operational or quality issues may
arise due to natural factors such as hurricanes and
tsunamis or improper operation or maintenance by
the project owner’s operational staff. According to the
contracts, the Group is then no longer liable for any
warranty obligations or other liabilities. However, since
some projects are associated with national interests and
people’s livelihood or bear significant influences in the
local areas, any flaws or defects in quality that occur
after the project completion may adversely compromise
our reputation, as well as having a negative impact on
customers’ overall evaluation on us. Some of the project
owners may require us to bear costs for continuous
maintenances or the change of relevant parts, causing
us losses not foreseeable under the contracts. Since
corporate reputation is the cornerstone for our
expansion of markets, the Company will continue to
step up the training for the project owner’s operational
staff and endeavor to enter into operational maintenance
supporting contracts with the project owners, so as to
enhance the operational and maintenance capability
of the project owners’ operational staff and avoid or
reduce the quality issues caused by improper manual
handling as far as possible. At the same time, the
Company emphasizes on the cultivation of core markets
and the sustainable development of our business
while attaching importance to collecting opinions and
comments from customers, actively communicating with
customers, as well as being committed to maintaining
good social benefits and corporate interests.
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10. Corruption Risk

Currently, the PRC government has been strengthening
its anti-corruption efforts and governments of
various countries for which we have undertaken
works are also enhancing their regulatory efforts in
anti-commercial bribery. Personal non-compliance
or corruption of any employee will bring material
adverse impact to the reputation of our Company.
Being an international engineering contractor and
service provider, the Group cannot avoid carrying
out necessary and work-related communications
with the PRC government, governments of countries
where our works are conducted, Chinese financial
institutions and project owners. During this process,
we may be exposed to risks associated with personal
non-compliance of employees or even corruption risks.
The Company will continuously strengthen its internal
control and further improve its anti-corruption regime
as well as strengthening accountabilities. The Company
has already, at the same time, embarked on staff’s
compliance trainings, so as to enhance the compliance
awareness of the staff and increase their compliance
CONSCIOUSNESS.
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11. Sanctions Risk 11. &R ER

We are a company incorporated in the PRC and we
comply with all applicable PRC laws and regulations,
undertake the international commitments and
international obligations made by China and the relevant
resolutions passed by the United Nations Security
Council. However, as a result of our international
activities, we are also subject to the laws and
regulations of the various countries and regions in which
we do business. In order to prevent and control the risk
of sanctions, we established an export control internal
compliance program (ICP) within the Company. The
Company’s ICP adopts the principle of comprehensive
control (CATCH-ALL), and the scope and content of
the ICP control will be adjusted in time in accordance
with the changes in the international export control
situation and the possible impact on the business of
the Company. In particular, if any of our transactions is
conducted in or through the United States, or otherwise
involves U.S. persons, U.S. dollar clearing in the United
States or U.S.-origin goods, U.S. sanctions regulations
may be applicable to some or all of such transactions.

In recent years the U.S. sanctions landscape has
evolved substantially, especially those targeted
at Iran and Cuba. January 16, 2016 marked the
“Implementation Day”, which marked the full execution
of sanctions relief promised to Iran as part of the Joint
Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) as negotiated
by Iran, the P5+1 (United States, Russia, China,
France, United Kingdom, Germany) and the EU and
endorsed by the UN (“Iran Nuclear Deal”). In exchange
for curtailing certain nuclear-related activities, Iran was
granted relief from certain U.S., EU, and UN sanctions.
However, the United States announced on May 8, 2018
that it will withdraw from the Iran Nuclear Deal and
restore sanctions against Iran. So the Company decided
to terminate all business ties in Iran thereafter from a
prudent perspective and the Company has no existing
or implemented project in Iran.
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As to Cuba, following a resumption of formal diplomatic
ties between the two countries under the Obama
administration and the removal of Cuba from the U.S.
government’s State Sponsors of Terrorism list, a series
of amendments to OFAC’s Cuban Assets Control
Regulations and Section 746.4 of Export Administration
Regulations administered by the Bureau of Industry and
Security of United States Department of Commerce
expanded the range of transactions in which U.S.
persons are allowed to engage with Cuba. However,
beginning in November 2017, the Trump administration
began to reverse some (but not all) of the changes
made by the Obama administration and to re-tighten
the US embargo against Cuba. These changes included
the creation of the State Department “List of Restricted
Entities and Subentities Associated with Cuba” that
identifies entities that are “under the control of, or act
for or on behalf of, the Cuban military, intelligence, or
security services or personnel” (the “Cuba Restricted
List”). U.S. Persons are prohibited from engaging in
certain direct financial transactions with entities on
the Cuba Restricted List. Additionally, the Commerce
Department will deny licenses in most cases for exports
of U.S.-origin items for use by entities on the Cuba
Restricted List. Furthermore, on March 4, 2019, the
Trump administration announced that it would authorize
U.S. nationals to file a limited range of civil claims
against entities operating in Cuba pursuant to Title Il
of the Cuban Liberty and Democratic Solidarity Act of
1996 (also known as the Helms-Burton Act). Following
the regulatory changes in the United States and taking
into account the local economic conditions, no potential
project carried out in Cuba has been approved by
the general manager of the Company. The Company
has no existing or implemented project in Cuba and
has expressed no willingness to carry out business
in Cuba market recently. Pursuant to our ICP control,
every potential project carried out in Cuba must be (1)
reviewed by the Company’s internal export compliance
office, (2) reviewed by outside legal counsel, and (3)
approved by the general manager of the Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Notwithstanding the Trump Administration’s revised
sanctions policies vis-a-vis Iran and Cuba, we believe
we have been in compliance with the Sanctions
Undertakings made at the time of the Listing as
regards to economic sanctions. We also believe that
our internal control policies targeted at sanctions
compliance, and in particular our internal compliance
program on export control, are sound and sufficient
to assist us in navigating the evolving international
sanctions landscape. Despite the far-reaching and
complex nature of U.S. sanctions programs, our limited
activities in the United States and rigorous internal
control policies will minimize our exposure and liability
to any potential sanctions violations. Of course, it is not
possible to foresee which countries or organizations
the U.S. government may place under sanctions in
the future. However, previous U.S. administrations,
including the Trump administration, have provided either
a “wind-down” period, or issued a general or specific
license, in order to allow affected firms to terminate
operations and withdraw from countries placed under
new sanctions. Though the termination or forfeiture of
any business operations or revenue in relation to any
newly sanctioned counterparties, industries, projects
or countries, may cause an adverse impact on our
operations, financial condition, or ability to carry on
business in the jurisdictions concerned, we strive to
reduce such hazards through proactive political and
economic risk assessment, along with timely legal
advice from experienced external counsel. Furthermore,
as a result of the foregoing, the Company’s exposure
in Cuba is so limited that any adverse impact from
changes to Cuba sanction by the United States will be
minimal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED T

VII. OUTLOOK

In 2019, the Company will adhere to the overarching theme

of “seeking progress while maintaining stability”, strive to the

principle of high-quality development, and lay down a solid

foundation for the new phase of strategic planning through

reform and innovation, cooperation and passionate works.

() Business Development Strategy

1. Engineering Contracting Business

(1)

Market development based on new
development concept

The Company will pay close attention to
the directions of national policies, adapt to
the market characteristics, break through
the limitations of individual projects, actively
make use of various high-end platforms,
multi-bilateral economic and trade cooperation
mechanisms and diplomatic opportunities, and
strive to provide “one-stop” solutions tailored
for customer needs.

Endeavour to improve contract conversion
rate with a problem-oriented mentality

The Company will study and analyze
the “choke points” for the execution of
contracted projects earnestly, concentrate
on the streamlining process, endeavour to
improve the conversion rate and strive for the
implementation of the projects.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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(3)

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

Continue to improve performance capacity
by meeting high quality development
requirements

The Company will overcome various difficulties
and pressures, take active initiatives,
continuously improve the lean and professional
management level of projects, actively
promote the application of new technologies,
improve and enhance the method and level
of project supervision, and adopt targeted
approaches for risky projects in a timely
manner.

Elevate market competitiveness with model
innovation and industrialization

The Company will continue to promote
investment-driven EPC, actively explore
relevant comprehensive operation-driven
development models, and enhance the overall
market competitiveness.

Continue to strengthen the control of the
industrial chain with CMEC characteristics

The Company will constantly improve the
industrial chain, make full use of integrated
resources, and constantly strengthen CMEC’s
preliminary consultation, and remote online
monitoring, diagnosis, operation maintenance
capabilities of power stations; enhance the
integrated competitiveness of construction
and operation, optimize the industrial chain,
and strive to form a differentiated competitive
advantage with new technology.

VREEERRERE
BIRTTEAIKF
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEmE

vl

Make constant improvements to the
professional level of engineering contracting
management

In line with the high-end market demand, as
well as the trend of rising level on project scale
and complexity, the Company will effectively
improve the professional management level of
all key procedures.

2. Trading Business

(1)

Continuous optimization of trade categories

The Company will focus on fast-growth
categories in line with national industrial
development strategies, create star cash
flow products, drive the steady growth of
income, improve the category management
mechanism, to achieve continuous
optimization of the trade category.

Increase the investments in scientific research

The Company will take full advantage of
existing research institutes and equipment
enterprise resources, increase the
investments in the core links of the equipment
technology-based trade industry chain, and
build a technology-based trading business
with high technology content.

In-depth promotion of subsidiary regulatory
management

The Company will further standardize
subsidiary management, strengthen the
scientific management of subsidiaries,
enhance risk prevention and control, and
ensure the healthy development of all business
sectors.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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4)

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

Actively promote trade regionalization and
localization

The Company will continue to promote the
construction of regional trade centers in
Southeast Asia and the Caribbean, promote
the construction of the North American
integrated business center with Canada at
the heart, and advance the transformation of
“trade + EPC” towards integrated corporate
trading.

Vigorously develop new trading business
model

The Company will continue to develop the
“trade +” integrated trade service model with
CMEC characteristics, and further enhance
the profitability of trading business.

3. Services Business

(1)

Closely following the national strategy
and simultaneously promote the domestic
and foreign markets. The Company will
constantly strengthen the construction of
the national branch layout, continue to
promote the services business, especially the
international layout of the design consulting
sector, and raise the internationalization
capacity.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED T

@)

The Company will promote innovation and
cultivate core businesses. Based on the
application and development of cutting-edge
technology, and with the technical research
and development capability to support the
global development of CMEC, the Company
will focus on special technology incubation
projects such as Sponge City, and strive
to create core competitive advantages and
effectively promote the conversion of scientific
and technological achievements.

Strengthen project management and
promote transformation and upgrading.
The Company will improve the management
system of major projects, strengthen process
and target management, standardize
the management process of engineering
contracting business, improve risk control
capability, and promote the transformation and
upgrading.

Strengthen expertise. By grasping the
opportunity of constructing “whole process
consulting pilot unit”, the Company will meet
market demand, constantly complement
various areas of expertise, broaden the
business scope and promote comprehensive
strength.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

(D) AR EEBM

(Il) Corporate Management Strategy

1. Full implementation of the Company’s new ZHEREEARH —H
phase of strategy g
The Company’s new phase of strategic planning NEFT B R B 2 BT
has been formulated. 2019 is not only the year of SEE - 2019F B HTEM AR
new strategy implementation, but also a critical HWeF BEREISFER
year to improve and strengthen our high-quality MeEEEkk URELR
development and the system foundation for A AR F
sustainable development. The Company will ZERITHUEH - HEREES
emphasize on strategy execution, ensuring tangible EUHER °
effect of the strategies.

2. Spare no efforts to promote reform EHEERER
The Company will adhere to the main line of BMERFARLSAISEEN
supply-side structural reform, study and implement RERTIEEHR  REH
the philosophy of “consolidation, enhancement, RABE[ZE - 858 - 12
promotion and streamline”, drive and deepen Fotgdl NEERT M
the reform of state-owned enterprises led by HGRIEBEERESE - R
supply-side structural reform. The Company will LB E - BERENT
continue to focus on the pain points and difficulties ERPABEIMER S
encountered in the development process, and 3 He TE T — B B B R R R
explore a breakthrough point for a new phase of WO e
development reform.

3. Continuous consolidation of management KESETEER

foundation

Facing the new historical tasks and new
requirements brought by the reform and opening
up, the management support system must evolve
and develop to become more modern, scientific
and effective.

EHNERRBHENES
FEBMFER  EEXE
BALVASEHEMRR
£ B8t ERferRHE
BAR o
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEERWED T

The Company will further strengthen strategic giﬁ—fbﬂ?ﬁ%iﬁk%ﬁ.&iﬁi fift
control and research, enhance scientific R EREERIE - s’
governance, elevate investor maintenance and éf% HEMTEER - 8%
market value management, innovate financing BERBEEN  TEEH
channels and models, improve investment and BEEERR  RAMKERE
financing management system, boost scientific REZ ALK - sfb A B (R
level of financial management. The Company will BREMERE  bEE kA
also strengthen the building and management RIHIEEE R - RIS E(EK
of its talent team, strengthen the legal and risk FoonsgiR s B EART
prevention and control system, enhance the level of RAERSHEE  FEHOE
informatization, strengthen integrated management BIEK - BMLE2EEDK
and services, improve audit efficiency, implement o

export control requirements and untiringly monitor
production safety.

88 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

January — B

1. The then President Zhang Chun met with the President of
Region Asia, Middle East and Africa (AMEA) of ABB Ltd

In the morning of January 8, the then President Zhang Chun
met with Dr. Gu Chunyuan, the President of Region Asia,
Middle East and Africa (AMEA) of ABB Ltd at the Company.
The then President Zhang Chun extended greetings to the

visiting delegation, and reviewed the signing of the strategic
cooperation agreement and the cooperation between the two
sides in 2017.

1. REAHREZERABBARHR  AMIEMAECEO

1A8A LT BRI K EZELRGR 7T RFHABBRAAIFE -
TAFMIEMKECEORBEM T+ —1T - BEAHF FHBEIE L —
TR FRREND - WO T EH2017FBEAERENEER
EHHEE -

2. The TENAGA 49.5MW wind power project won the “2017
——— Quality Award of SINOMACH (Engineering)”

P L T
L]

iy In the Annual Quality Award Election of SINOMACH Group, the
A TENAGA 49.5MW wind power project in Pakistan undertaken
by the Company won the “2017 Quality Award of SINOMACH
(Engineering)”.

"EAMIsAEm "™
LE2 T _-—

2. TENAGA 49.5MWEEEH X E2017FETIRE [BEREEHR
HH

ERMERE—F-EMNESRTES - QAREEITIETENAGA
49 5MWEETE B LB 201 7FETI2E (B E 242 | THE 48 -
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

February — H

Chairman Zhang Chun met with the CEO of Global Sales
- Power and Gas, of German Siemens AG

On February 1, Chairman Zhang Chun met with the delegation
of senior executives headed by Karim Amin, the CEO,
Global Sales — Power and Gas, of German Siemens AG at
the Company. Chairman Zhang Chun and Mr. Karim Amin,
on behalf of both parties, officially signed the Strategic
Cooperation Agreement.

REESRERZEEAM FREEXAREHRHECED

2H1R REESRAERAGRE TEBRAMFRHO A A
(Siemens)# EH KA R EIKIEECEOREN - FURA(Karim Amin)
EERAFMFRAAIEE 1T - REESREREN - MALER
REFEREZT (BB SERZE) °

President of the Republic of Angola and Angolan Minister
of Construction and Civil Engineering inspected the
social security housing project and related infrastructure
projects of the Company

On February 8, the President of the Republic of Angola
together with Angolan Minister of Construction and Civil
Engineering inspected the social security housing project and
related infrastructure projects undertaken by CMEC in Luanda
Province, Angola.

RANAGEERNAXHTIERPRSBREALEREERIER
BEEERAR

2A8H ' RN HAMBEBFELTNESMALTELLRE—
TAZBCMECRZ TN EZEENHSREREMIEBEEZER
IEH °
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

5. Deputy President of the Republic of Kenya inspected
inspected the Kenyan RWC421 road upgrading and
maintenance project

In the morning of February 23, the Deputy President of the
Republic of Kenya inspected the Kenyan RWC421 road
upgrading and maintenance project undertaken by our
Company.

5. ERTRAGRESEIRWCA2I AR AR R #EER

2A23B L BRGEIAFESEETHRAAENSE:
RWCA21 AR FH A N TR B IRI5 -

6. The then President Zhou Yamin met with the General
Manager and Chief Risk Officer of ABN Amro

In the afternoon of March 8, the then President Zhou Yamin
met with the delegation headed by Mr. Karst-dan Wolters,
General Manager, Chief Risk Officer and Member of the Global
Credit Committee of ABN Amro at the Company. The two sides

discussed and exchanged views on the risk management and
control of overseas projects by CMEC, support for overseas
subsidiaries and the cooperation opportunities between CMEC
and ABN Amro in the future.

6. REAHEADIRE REAMRTEREEDELE

SABHETF REAHATRAEARER T RFHRITEREEE
B HREARE - 2IKEEZ B 2% SKarst-Jan Wolters?t
£—17 - EHFCMECHRINEBMRAREE - HIHIINFRRAIX
BB KR CMECH R HIRITAR R A VEM S #1T T R MR o
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

Chairman Zhang Chun met with the delegation of the
governing party of Iraq

In the morning of March 19, Chairman Zhang Chun met with
the delegation headed by the Chairman of Dawa Party, the
governing party of Irag at the Company, and the two sides
underwent friendly talks.

REEERERFHRVBEARE

BA19R LT RIFEFERERRGR T RINFRN R HKE —
ENERIFRRE 17T BT TRFER -

Chairman Zhang Chun and the then President Zhou
Yamin met with the Chairman of Black & Veatch

On March 19, Chairman Zhang Chun and the then President
Zhou Yamin met with the delegation headed by Mr. Steve
Edwards, Chairman and President of Black & Veatch at the
Company.

REEERMFTIHARATREREXEBETEST 27 (Black
&Veatch) £f&

3A19R  REEFRANFARATREAFGR T EBHELK
FE A A Bl(Black & Veatch) £ [E - & B 7T E Steve Edwards%t
E—1Te
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

April @ A

9. The then President Zhou Yamin met with the delegation
headed by the Vice President of the Kazakhstan National
Sovereign Wealth Fund and the Chairman of SK&UCC

In the morning of April 2, the then President Zhou Yamin
met with the delegation headed by the Vice President of the
Kazakhstan National Sovereign Wealth Fund and the Chairman
of SK&UCC at the Company, and the two sides underwent
friendly talks.

9. BFEARACTRERARNERIBERIEESREERESLE
AT(SKAUCC)EERAKKXE

4R2E L BESHASREARERTRERTENR IR
EH 8% R RIALEATSKAUCCEERARKE 17 85
EETRIFEY -

10. Chairman Zhang Chun attended the Sino-Ukrainian New
Energy High-Level Forum and the signing ceremony
of the Nikopol PV panel of a 246MW large solar power
station held in the capital of Ukraine

On April 6, Chairman Zhang Chun attended the Sino-Ukrainian
New Energy High-Level Forum and the signing ceremony of
the Nikopol PV panel of a 246MW large solar power station
held in Kiev, the capital of Ukraine.

10. REEEREECHENMLEEFEFEEESEREBEERMER
HME246MW X R B FHNER

4A6H RFEERESRHAHERLETPEMERSES
BESRMERIRR246MW AR BN ELER -
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

11.

11.

The Prime Minister of Pakistan, attended the Ceremony
of Grid Connection for Power Generation of the First
Hydraulic Turbine of NJ Hydropower Project

On April 13, the Prime Minister of Pakistan attended the
Ceremony of Grid Connection for Power Generation of the
First Hydraulic Turbine of NJ Hydropower Project. Han Xiaojun,
the then Party Secretary and Vice Chairman, and Wang Yili,
Assistant to the President, participated in the ceremony.

EEEEAEHENKEEE SR KAY FREHE
AR13F BHEEABHENIKEEE B S #ATHEHTA

2 BEIRZECRIEZTRERT AEEMEIEN2MNE
:T:ﬁ o

12,

12,

Vice President Fang Yanshui met with the delegation
headed by the Minister of Works of the Kingdom of
Bahrain and Bahrain’s Ambassador to China

In the afternoon of April 13, Vice President Fang Yanshui met

with the delegation headed by the Minister of Works of the
Kingdom of Bahrain and Bahrain’s Ambassador to China.

FEKEARERERIEARATERBRMEEAENRE

4R13ATF » HEKBIBRAELRRGR T RINEMRER QK
TREBHBEMEREEFEAERRE T -

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE



Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

13. Chairman Zhang Chun went to Baghdad, the capital of
Iraq, for a series of working visits

From April 21 to April 23, Chairman Zhang Chun met with the
Prime Minister’s Chief Financial Consultant and Investment
and Reconstruction Consultant authorized by the Iragi Prime
Minister. Chairman Zhang Chun and his entourage also met
with the Chairman of the Dawa Party of Irag and the Minister
of Electricity of Iraq, respectively.

13. REESEREFAREHEREETRIGE

4A21A 248230  REEEREATHFURAEREERD
AEEARVRERNRERERZER - REEER—TED IS

; 3 14. The Company and XD Group held the 2018 first high-level

[ —

RIBIEE & forum

g 0180~

‘ l LTy On April 27, the Company and XD Group held the 2018 first
s | b oW high-level forum in Beijing. Chairman Zhang Chun, the then
Party Secretary and Vice Chairman Han Xiaojun, the then
President Zhou Yamin, Zhang Yalin, Chairman of XD Group,

Yang Baolin, Deputy General Manager of XD Electric Co.,
Ltd., and directors of CMEC related functional departments,
business departments and XD Group’s subsidiaries, about 50
people in aggregate, attended the forum. Under the theme of
“Achieving Win-Win Situation Through Innovative Cooperation
and Development”, the forum consisted of special reports,
themed seminars and summit dialogues etc.

14. AFHEAZESEEAM2018FE—RSERIE

AF27H  RRIHEAEEE018FEF— NS EREBERIEFNE
FM-REFEBEER BHIEZZXHIIESREET  BIERA
TR FAESEEEEREEMN  ASERRMNAER A A BRI
SBEM - WRCMECERBERAE ST - £KHMEEA  AAEEE
TEBELEAEA  H50A2MILKHRE © thXREN [BIFE
EERAR] AEE  BFERE  BAEHH  SBYHFESRE

AR
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

T T | 15.

15.

CNEEC held the “Restructuring Meeting of CMEC and
CNEEC”

In the morning of May 2, Chairman Zhang Chun, the then Party
Secretary and Vice Chairman Han Xiaojun, the then President
Zhou Yamin, Chief Financial Officer and Board Secretary Wang
Weiling, President Assistant Zhang Zhiliang, etc., went to
CNEEC for the “Restructuring Meeting of CMEC and CNEEC”.

ETEHITESNSBEIRRNERAGDEFREENIRE
FRATEAKRE]

SH2R FF  REEFK WHIEZELRBEFTRBRT
FREEAIR  VWBREREEFSWETER  LRPERZS
F—17 BPETARTE#MREIRERODARAR EFE
BENIREBERAREARE] -

16.

16.

CMIPC and China Erzhong jointly signed a strategic
cooperation agreement

In the morning of May 9, witnessed by the then Party Secretary
and Vice Chairman Han Xiaojun, Vice President Ai Wei and
Lu Wenjun, Chairman of China National Heavy Machinery
Corporation, Chen Jun, General Manager of China Machinery
Industrial Products Co., Ltd. and Li Juncheng, General
Manager of China Erzhong Group (Deyang) Heavy Industries
Co., Ltd., jointly signed a strategic cooperation agreement.

TREBE_ERE (BRSFHR)

S5A9B EF  EREAREZESLRAIETRERE - LEAIEL
BULBERENEGERERNARAAEXREEREFAEN
BT PREBEGBREABREEAFRELLERRAFE
B (k) BRKEERARTHBAKLEARRZE T (HKEE
1Rt ) °
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

17. Chairman Zhang Chun met with the Chairman of Ukraine
Parliamentary Committee of the Fuel and Energy
Complex

On May 10, Chairman Zhang Chun met with a delegation
headed by Dombrowski, Chairman of Ukraine Parliamentary
Committee of the Fuel and Energy Complex at the Company.

17. REESERERSTHWEASHREZEESER

5A10H  REESFREARERATIFGNSRHEERIREE
BIFERMEBERAELE 1T

18. The then President Zhou Yamin visited Philemon Yang,
the President of Cameroon

In the afternoon of May 16, the then President Zhou Yamin
visited the President of Cameroon at the President’s Office of
Cameroon.

18. BIARATREESRXEAEIEFNZ - B(Philemon Yang)

5A16BTF ' REBHBATRAFEERNES TREREEE -
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

Jia Qinglin, the former Chairman of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, Zeng Peiyan, Vice
Premier, and other former leaders of CMEC, SINOMACH
and financial institutions sent congratulatory letters to
congratulate the 40th anniversary of the establishment of
CMEC

Jia Qinglin, the former Chairman of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, Zeng Peiyan, Vice Premier, and other
former leaders of CMEC, SINOMACH and financial institutions
sent congratulatory letters to congratulate the 40th anniversary
of the establishment of CMEC.

F2EBRGEEMAERE BEARRAESERE  BREENS
BB RCMECAOER B RESE

F2EBHEEMNETR  LEAEEFLEE  BEREENTS
R RCMECA0EL R E(F

[ 19.
n-.-"l II..III-H'I&'I‘
SRS N FAPHEEEE b
waddN. BYEEE
i —— v
20.
20.

Chairman Zhang Chun won the “2018 International
Engineering Outstanding Individual” award

On June 7, the “2018 International Engineering Outstanding

Individual” Awards Ceremony was held in Macau, and
Chairman Zhang Chun won the Outstanding Individual Award.

REESREE2018EHB TRELAY ]

6H7H ' [2018B T2 H AV ] MEEMREERPIERIT  RK)Z
EEREEFDAYE -
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

21. Chairman Zhang Chun met with the President of Angola

On June 7, Chairman Zhang Chun met with the President of
Angola in Luanda, the capital of Angola.

2. REESRASTHFULASR

6A7H REBERAELANEHDELERS T LT AL -

22, CMEC was awarded as a leading company in the “2018
Social Responsibility Evaluation of China International
Contracted Engineering Enterprises”

On June 7, the 9th International Infrastructure Investment
and Construction Forum hosted by the China International
Contractors Association and IPIM was grandly opened
in Macau. Once again, CMEC was awarded as a leading

company in the “2018 Social Responsibility Evaluation of China
e el International Contracted Engineering Enterprises”.

22, CMECHk [2018FEY I ERBIRCEHSSTENTEIED
AR

6A7H  AFEEIIEABTIEREMNEAMBESRERERT M
MENEBERERRBREREZRS BRBARPIRAFSR -
CMECH# [2018F B S SN AB IR XM EEFTENE] D
PR RALREE -

Annual Report 2018
2018FF 5}



100

Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

23.

23.

The Prime Minister of Cameroon visited the construction
site of CMEC’s western region training field project

In the morning of July 9, the Prime Minister of Cameroon
visited the construction site of CMEC’s western region training
field project.

EEEAERECMECET AEIMSHEBET

THOR B BREEAIPRIFCMECT A KR 3R %IR8 i TR
i

24,

24,

The then President Zhou Yamin met with the Minister of
Transport of Argentina

In the morning of July 24, the then President Zhou Yamin
met with the Minister of Transport of Argentina in the building
housing of the Ministry of Transport in Buenos Aires, Argentina.

REARRFAZIREMRERBBRIH

7TR248 £F - REAEE S REMRE & &5 Ham T R R
BELAE BRI R RET T EA -
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

August /\ A

ﬂ 25. Chairman Zhang Chun met with the Minister of Spatial

Planning and Major Projects of Congo (Brazzaville)

On August 1, Chairman Zhang Chun met with the Minister of

Spatial Planning and Major Projects of Congo (Brazzaville), in
Brazzaville, the capital of Congo (Brazzaville).

25, REESRERBR () BLER REEEATIEDR

8A1R  REFEFRAMR () BEMHhUKEBER THIR
(7)) L8R - RBEEATREE -

26. Chairman Zhang Chun met with President & CEO of GE
Gas Power Systems of GE

In the morning of August 21, Chairman Zhang Chun met
with Mr. Chuck Nugent, President & CEO of GE Gas Power
Systems and Vice President of GE.

26. REESRERBAERAARVEEBLRAREFEHITE
BA21IB LT RFESERAEQAEGE T RINBRERKA

REEBXEBAHFFERPTE - BAEREKELEMr.Chuck
Nugent—7T °
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

27.

27.

Meng Jianmin, Vice Chairman of SASAC inspected the
Kostolac-B power plant project site in Serbia

In the afternoon of August 23, a delegation headed by Meng
Jianmin, Vice Chairman of China’s State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State
Council (SASAC), inspected CMEC’s Kostolac-B power plant
project site in Serbia. The delegation was accompanied by
SINOMACH Vice President Luo Jiamang and CMEC Chairman
Zhang Chun, who made a report on the progress of the
project.

HEZRETAZERAEER# T Kostolac-BEWTER
8H2B T4 BIEZBETZER—TTHERTARIERET

Kostolac-BEIKBEHIRE - BIME BRI B4R - RAIESE
RRZRERWER THEEERBR

28.

Chairman Zhang Chun met with the Equipment and Road
Maintenance Minister of Cote d’lvoire

In the morning of August 31, Chairman Zhang Chun met at

CMEC with Equipment and Road Maintenance Minister of Cote
d’lvoire.

REEEREAMFARKEREREEDIR
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

29. Chairman Zhang Chun visited the President of Somalia

In the afternoon of August 31, Chairman Zhang Chun visited
the President of Somalia who was on a trip for attending the
Forum on China-Africa Cooperation held in China, at the hotel
where the president stayed.

29, REESRAFSGRTELSR

BABIBTF REFEERAERFELARTHEERSTREY
FHEaEmBNRFTRHEAS -

30. Chairman Zhang Chun held a talk with the Minister of
Petroleum, Energy and Renewable Energy Development
of Cote d’lvoire

In the afternoon of August 31, Chairman Zhang Chun held a
talk with the Minister of Petroleum, Energy and Renewable
Energy Development of Cote d’lvoire.

30. REESREMBHEHRAM  ERVNHFEFRXRDBRIH
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

September 11 H

31.

31.

Chairman Zhang Chun visited the President of Senegal

On September 2, Chairman Zhang Chun visited the President
of Senegal.

REEEREGEANMBAMNELASR

9A2B  REEERFASENNBALME AL -

32.

32.

The then Party Secretary and Vice Chairman Han Xiaojun
met with Roch Marc Christian Kaboré, President of
Burkina Faso

In the afternoon of September 2, the then CMEC Party
Secretary and Vice Chairman Han Xiaojun met with the
President of Burkina Faso, who was in China for the Forum
on China-Africa Cooperation, at the hotel where the president
stays.

RERZECRAESREREFENEMNEZFHELAR
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

33. Chairman Zhang Chun attended the opening ceremony of
the 6th Conference of Chinese and African Entrepreneurs
and the Forum on China-Africa Cooperation

In the morning of September 3, Chairman Zhang Chun
attended the opening ceremony of the High-level Dialogue

between Chinese and African Leaders and Business
Representatives, as well as the 6th Conference of Chinese
and African Entrepreneurs and Beijing Summit of the Forum
on China-Africa Cooperation. Chinese President Xi Jinping
attended the event and delivered a keynote speech titled “Work
Together Towards Prosperity”.

33. REESRHEFANETHFECERASNFFSEREMERX

9ABHLESF  REFEERUFETHIEEARTIHAKRKRSE
HEGEENETHREXZAEMT IS ERBILERESNHR
R BREFBOFHEHERTER(AREREHRZE) &

=Pt K

34. Vice President Tong Zigang met with the Energy Minister
of Burkina Faso

In the morning of September 3, Vice President Tong Zigang
met at CMEC with the Energy Minister of Burkina Faso.
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

35.

35.

Chairman Zhang Chun held friendly talks with
Mozambique’s minerals and energy minister

On September 3, Chairman Zhang Chun held friendly talks with
Mozambique’s minerals and energy minister.

REEEREERIRBMELRPBRETRIFEH

9A3H  REEFRERRIRBERRLLRET T REE

36.

36.

Chairman Zhang Chun met with the Minister of Mineral
Resources, Green Technology and Energy Security of
Botswana

In the afternoon of September 4, Chairman Zhang Chun met
with the Minister of Mineral Resources, Green Technology and
Energy Security of Botswana at CMEC, who was in Beijing to
attend the 2018 Beijing Summit of the Forum on China-Africa
Cooperation.

REEEREEABREMNEEER ZENERERZEZ2EBR
QHAB T REEERAERAERE TRELZ 2018 A E
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

October T+ A

37.

37.

Chairman Zhang Chun met with the President of Angola

On October 9, Chairman Zhang Chun met with the President
of Angola at Diaoyutai State Guest House, Beijing.

REEEREERFHNAS

10A9R  RFEERALINBCEBERS T LFER -

EER T Lf 0y 5 o) e

38.

38.

The Company signed the Memorandum of Strategic
Cooperation on the Iraqgi Market with GE

In the morning of November 1, as invited by the organizer,
Chairman Zhang Chun attended 2018 Energy Infrastructure
Cooperation Forum hosted by GE at Diaoyutai State
Guesthouse, and achieved strategic cooperation on the Iraqi
market with GE.

RAEBAEREEFUR T SERS RS
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

39.

39.

The Argentina Belgrano Cargo Railway Rehabilitation
Project was reported by China Central Television
(“CCTV”) news for 2 consecutive days

From November 30 to December 1, the 13th G20 Leaders
Summit was held in Argentina. Chinese President Xi Jinping
paid a state visit to Argentina. The Argentina Belgrano Cargo
Railway Rehabilitation Project (the “Argentina Railway Projects”)
implemented by CMEC had once again received media
attention, and was reported by CCTV news, Focus Report and
Oriental Horizon for 2 consecutive days.

RSN AEEERNEREERRREPEADRER
& ([RE]) HEwHE

11AS0HE12A1H + G20EE AE T = RIE S EMRERTT -
PEBEREF BT EHMREETREE o BCMECEITAIM
BEERRNAEEHERIEER (U TEHBMEER) BAX
FKEERAE - EEORKBTABRTEEE  SUSARRIRKE
ZWAE -

40.

Chairman Zhang Chun visited Argentina and paid a
courtesy visit to the President of Argentina.

From November 29 to December 4, Chairman Zhang Chun

visited Argentina for the G20 Summit and paid a courtesy visit
to the President of Argentina.

REEERVEMREFSMRELS
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELFEKRSER

December + — H

41. The Company won the award of “Belt & Road Best
Practice Listed Company” in the 8th Hong Kong
International Finance Workshop

On December 5, the award ceremony of the 8th Hong Kong
International Finance Workshop & China Securities Golden
Bauhinia Awards (IFW2018) was held at Grand Hyatt Hong
Kong. Carrie Lam Cheng Yuet-ngor, Hong Kong Chief
Executive, attended and addressed the ceremony. CMEC, by
relying on its exceptional performance in 2018, won the award
of “Belt & Road Best Practice Listed Company”. Ms. Wang
Weiling, CFO and Board Secretary of CMEC, attended the
ceremony and received the award on behalf of CMEC.

4. RAEF\EERERSHWRERE-FT-HREEERLTL
A
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

42,

42,

Chairman Zhang Chun visited Iraq and met with the
Ministry of Electricity

On December 16, the delegation headed by Chairman Zhang
Chun visited the Ministry of Electricity of Irag and met with the
new Minister of Electricity.

REEERIGFAREFSENRR

12A168  REEER—THFFRRENE  HETHESE
B -

43.

43.

Chairman Zhang Chun visited Botswana and made an
official visit to the Minister of Mineral Resources, Green
Technology and Energy Security

On December 11 to 12, Zhang Chun, Party Secretary and
Chairman of CMEC, visited Botswana. During the visit,
Chairman Zhang Chun made an official visit to the Minister of
Mineral Resources, Green Technology and Energy Security of
Botswana.

REESRVHABXEAAFERELR - FENERERZE
AR
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Major Corporate Events for the Year

REELEKRER

44, CMEC won the International Sustainable Practice
Excellence Award in the “2018 China Sustainable
Competitiveness Excellence Enterprise” awarding
ceremony

On December 20, the “2018 China Sustainable
Competitiveness Excellence Enterprise” awarding ceremony
was held in Beijing. CMEC won the International Sustainable

Practice Excellence Award.

44. CMEC [2018F E A FAB T h 23k | R MBREF I
IHRERE MR
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Report of Directors

EEEWRE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared
in accordance with IFRS for the year ended December 31, 2018.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated as a part of the reorganization
undergone by the Group in preparation for the Listing by
converting its predecessor into a joint stock company with limited
liability under the Companies Law on January 18, 2011. The
Company’s H Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on the
Listing Date.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a leading international engineering contracting
and services provider with a primary focus on EPC projects and
particular expertise in the power sector, capable of providing
one-stop customized and integrated engineering contracting
solutions and services. The Company also conducts the Trading
Business and Services Business.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
1 to the financial statements in this annual report.

RESULTS

The audited results of the Group for the year ended December
31, 2018 are set out in consolidated statement of profit or loss
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in
this annual report. The financial position of the Group and the
Company as at December 31, 2018 is set out in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the statement of financial
position in this annual report, respectively. The cash flows of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in the
consolidated statement of cash flows in this annual report.

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the
year and the key factors affecting its results and financial position
are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” of this annual report.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the distribution of a final dividend of
RMBO0.2067 per Share (pre-tax) for 4,125,700,000 Shares for the
year ended December 31, 2018, representing a total amount of
RMB852,782,190 (pre-tax).

According to the Articles of Association, dividends will be
denominated and declared in Renminbi. Dividends on Domestic
Shares will be paid in Renminbi and dividends on H Shares will
be paid in Hong Kong dollars.

The proposed final dividend is subject to Shareholders’ approval
at the upcoming AGM. Subject to approval, the final dividend
is expected to be distributed on or before September 30, 2019
to the holders of Domestic Shares and H Shares whose names
appear in the register of members of the Company on the record
date for dividend distribution. The Company will issue a separate
announcement regarding the date of the upcoming AGM, the
record date for the payment of H Share dividends and the dates
of closure of register of members of the Company.

In accordance with tax law and relevant requirements under
taxation regulatory institutions of the PRC, the Company
is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it
distributes the final dividend for the year ended December 31,
2018 to all non-resident enterprise shareholders (including
HKSCC Nominees Limited, other nominees, trustees or other
entities and organizations, who will be deemed as non-resident
enterprise shareholders) whose names appear on the H share
register of members of the Company on the dividend record
date™.

The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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Pursuant to the PRC Individual Income Tax Law ({(FRE AR
HAE @ AFFBEE)), the Implementation Regulations of the
Individual Income Tax Law ((FFZEARLMB@EAMSHEE
Me1&51)), the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Administration of Tax Collection ({FRZE A B H F1ER & i e & 18
7£)) and other relevant laws and regulations and based on the
Company’s consultation with the relevant PRC tax authorities, the
Company is required to withhold and pay 20% individual income
tax for the Company’s individual H shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of H shares of the Company
(the “Individual H Shareholders”). Pursuant to the Notice on
Matters concerning the Levy and Administration of Individual
Income Tax after the Repeal of Guo Shui Fa 1993 No.045 (&
B 75 3% [1993]0455% 3 14 BE 112 B RAE A PAS T EUE I RERE D)
issued by the State Administration of Tax of the PRC and the
letter titled “Tax arrangements on dividends paid to Hong Kong
residents by Mainland companies” issued by the Stock Exchange,
the overseas resident individual shareholders of the shares issued
by domestic non-foreign invested enterprises in Hong Kong are
entitled to the relevant preferential tax treatment pursuant to the
provisions in the tax arrangements between the countries where
they reside and China and the tax arrangements between China
mainland and Hong Kong (Macau). The Company will identify the
country of domicile of the Individual H Shareholders according
to their registered address on the H share register of members
of the Company on the dividend record date* (the “Registered
Address”). The Company assumes no responsibility and
disclaims all liabilities whatsoever in relation to the tax status or
tax treatment of the Individual H Shareholders and for any claims
arising from or in connection with any delay in or inaccurate
determination of the tax status or tax treatment of the Individual
H Shareholders or any disputes over the withholding mechanism
or arrangements. Details of arrangements are as follows:

The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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For Individual H Shareholders who are Hong Kong or Macau
residents or those whose country of domicile is a country
which has entered into a tax treaty with the PRC stipulating
a dividend tax rate of 10%, the Company will withhold and
pay individual income tax at the rate of 10% on behalf of the
Individual H Shareholders.

For Individual H Shareholders whose country of domicile
is a country which has entered into a tax treaty with the
PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of less than 10%, the
Company will withhold and pay individual income tax at the
rate of 10% on behalf of the Individual H Shareholders. If
relevant Individual H Shareholders would like to apply for a
refund of the additional amount of tax withheld and paid,
the Company can assist the relevant shareholder to handle
the application for the underlying preferential tax benefits
pursuant to the tax treaties, provided that the relevant
shareholder shall submit to the Company the information
required under the “Notice of the State Administration
of Taxation on issuing the Administrative Measures on
Preferential Treatment Entitled by Non-residents under Tax
Treaties” (Notice of the State Administration of Taxation,
2015 No.60) (ERBBKERBUMNEBIEEEMTAZ
ERRHBEFEBERR NG BERBBERAE
2015F % 605%)) (the “Tax Treaties Notice”) on or before
the commencement date of the closure of register of
members.* Upon examination and approval by competent
tax authorities, the Company will assist in refunding the
additional amount of tax withheld and paid.

For Individual H Shareholders whose country of domicile
is a country which has entered into a tax treaty with the
PRC stipulating a dividend tax rate of more than 10% but
less than 20%, the Company will finally withhold and pay
individual income tax at the actual tax rate stipulated in the
relevant tax treaty.

The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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For Individual H Shareholders whose country of domicile is
a country which has entered into a tax treaty with the PRC
stipulating a dividend tax rate of 20%, or a country which
has not entered into any tax treaties with the PRC, or under
any other circumstances, the Company will finally withhold
and pay individual income tax at the rate of 20% on behalf
of the Individual H Shareholders.

According to the relevant requirements under the Notice
on the Tax Policies Related to the Pilot Program of the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect (Finance Tax [2016]
No. 127), jointly published by the Ministry of Finance,
State Administration of Taxation and China Securities
Regulatory Commission, the Company shall withhold an
individual income tax at the rate of 20% on dividend derived
from the H Shares of the Company acquired through the
Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect by mainland individual
investors. For dividend received by domestic securities
investment funds from investing in the H Shares of the
Company through the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect,
the tax payable shall be the same as that for individual
investors. The Company will not withhold the income tax
on dividend derived from the H Shares of the Company
acquired through the Shenzhen-Hong Kong Stock Connect
for domestic enterprise investors, and those domestic
enterprise investors shall report and pay the relevant tax
themselves.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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If the domicile of an Individual H Shareholder is not the same
as the Registered Address or if the Individual H Shareholder
would like to apply for a refund of the additional amount of tax
finally withheld and paid, the Individual H Shareholder shall notify
and provide relevant supporting documents to the Company
on or before the commencement date of the closure of register
of members.” Upon examination of the supporting documents
by the relevant tax authorities, the Company will follow the
guidance given by the tax authorities to implement relevant tax
withholding and payment provisions and arrangements. Individual
H Shareholders may either personally or appoint a representative
to attend to the procedures in accordance with the requirements
under the Tax Treaties Notices if they do not provide the relevant
supporting documents to the Company within the time period
stated above.

Shareholders are recommended to consult their tax advisers
regarding the PRC, Hong Kong and other tax implications arising
from or in connection with their holding and disposal of the H
Shares.

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER

The circular and the notice of the forthcoming AGM will be
published and dispatched to the Shareholders in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules and the Articles of
Association. The Company will make an announcement on the
period of closure of register of members of H Shares in the
circular and the notice of the AGM in due course.

* The Company will make an announcement on the period of closure
of register of members of H Shares (for dividend entitlement) and the
dividend record date in the circular and the notice of AGM in due
course.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a
discussion on the Group’s future business development and the
financial and operational key performance indicators employed by
the Directors in measuring the performance of our business are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” on pages
2 to 11 of this annual report, “Key Operating and Financial Data”
on pages 14 to 16 of this annual report, “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Il. Business Overview” on pages 29 to 46 of this
annual report and “Management Discussion and Analysis — VII.
Outlook” on pages 82 to 88 of this annual report. The financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out
in note 41 to the financial statements in this annual report. Save
as disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements in this annual
report, there were no significant events that have an effect on
the Group subsequent to the financial year ended December 31,
2018.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business
operations of the Group, some of which are inherent to the
industries the Group operates in and some are from external
sources. As regards the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group, please refer to the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis — VI. Risk Factors and Risk Management”
on pages 71 to 81 of this annual report.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS

(i)

Employees

We are in strict compliance with the Labor Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the laws and
regulations of labor and employment in overseas areas
of operation, respect human rights, implement equal and
non-discriminatory labor and employment policies, and
equally treat staffs of different races, nationalities, ethnic
groups, genders, ages and religions, and firmly prohibit
the employment of child laborers, oppose all forms of
employment discrimination and forced labor, and establish
equal labor relations that meet the prescribed requirements

with employees.

We focus on identifying the value of employees, constantly
strengthening the development and training of talents,
broadening the career development channels of staffs,
optimizing the training system, enriching the ways of
incentives for talents, and try our best to activate the
enthusiasm and creativity of staffs.

We build a good career development environment for our
staffs, improve our talent reserve mechanism, optimize
reasonable talent structure, form a team of key talents,
establish a talent flow mechanism, improve our talent training
system so as to mainly solve the problem of shortage
and default of key talents, which lays a foundation for the

Company to cultivate innovative international talents.

We made efforts to form core competitive advantages of
elites and leading talents in the industry as well as build a
transparent and open development environment. We develop
a career development channel system of “smooth vertical
development and horizontal cross-sector development”
for our staffs and help our staffs build a reasonable career
development plan, which form a broad career development
platform for our staffs and promote their sustainable
development.
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(ii)

We respect the opinions of our staffs, carry out democratic
management, and constantly promote and improve the
democratic management system for the enterprise which
mainly includes the trade union system and the congress
of staffs system, and further open up the channels of
democratic participation, democratic management and
democratic supervision for staffs.

Customers

Our major customers are primarily project owners of our
engineering contracting projects for our International
Engineering Contracting Business, and many of them are
governments, governmental agencies or state-owned entities
of overseas countries.

To ensure delivery of quality services to our customers, we
adopt strict internal control and risk management systems
throughout the entire process of a project.

We have developed long-standing relationships with a
number of our customers.

There are no unified standard credit terms granted to
customers of the construction business and trading
business. The credit terms granted to customers of the
construction business are negotiated individually on a
case-by-case basis and set forth in the relevant contracts.
The credit terms granted to customers of the trading
business are normally about three to six months. The bills
receivables are generally due within 180 days from the date
of issuance. The Group’s credit policy is set out in note 41(a)
to the financial statements in this annual report. An ageing
analysis of our trade receivable is set out in note 22(a) to the
financial statements in this annual report.
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(iii) Suppliers and Subcontractors

In almost all of our engineering contracting projects, we
act as the main contractor managing and overseeing the
entire project while we procure equipment and machinery
for the construction of our projects from various suppliers
and subcontract works to subcontractors in areas including
design, exploration, logistics, installation, construction and
supervision.

We carefully select our suppliers and subcontractors,
primarily based on their qualifications, track record, financial
strength and proposed fees and we maintain an updated
list of qualified and reliable suppliers and subcontractors
with a proven track record and long-term relationship
with us. We entered into agreements with our suppliers
and subcontractors in relation to each project and we
require our suppliers and subcontractor to comply with
service standards. We have a number of measures to
manage and monitor the performance of our suppliers and
subcontractors in terms of both quality and delivery time and
to ensure compliance with the applicable safety and other
requirements.

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are usually
paid within the agreed period, usually due within 180 days.
The bills payable are generally due within 180 days from the
date of issuance. An ageing analysis of our trade payables is
set out in note 24 to the financial statements in this annual
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

We are subject to different levels of local environmental laws and
regulations governing air pollution, noise emissions, hazardous
substances, water and waste discharge and treatment and
other environmental matters depending on the relevant local
jurisdiction in which we operate. Through our quality, safety and
environmental protection control management system, we ensure
compliance with safety and environmental requirements through
various stages: (1) at the design stage, we ensure that our design
is compliant with applicable safety and environmental laws,
regulations and mandatory standards and enhance environmental
awareness and professional ethics of the designers through
education and trainings; (2) at the procurement stage, we check
and control the equipment and materials used by ourselves and
our subcontractors and ensure that the procurement meets safety
and environmental requirements; and (3) at the construction
stage, we seek to manage factors that may affect safety and
environmental protection during the construction process through
establishing safety and environmental management objectives,
identifying hazardous substances, and abiding by preventive
measures and trainings.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best knowledge of our Directors, in 2018, we were in
compliance with all relevant PRC laws and regulations in all
material respects and have obtained all necessary licenses,
approvals and permits from relevant and appropriate regulatory
authorities for our business operations in the PRC; the operations
of our overseas subsidiaries were not in breach of any applicable
laws and regulations of the relevant jurisdictions and our overseas
subsidiaries’ business operations were in compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations of the jurisdictions in all material
respects where the overseas subsidiaries were incorporated.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Company is entitled
to establish a necessary system of insurance for the liabilities
of its Directors, Supervisors and senior management for the
purpose of lowering the risk that may be incurred from regular
performance of duties by such parties. The Company has
arranged for appropriate and valid insurance coverage for
Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’s liabilities in
respect of legal actions against its Directors, Supervisors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities during the
year ended December 31, 2018 and the indemnity provision
and Directors’, Supervisors’ and senior management’s liability
insurance remained in force as of the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the year
ended December 31, 2018 or subsisted at the end of the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the
last five financial years is set out in the section headed “Financial
Highlights” of this annual report. This summary does not form
part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 10.10% (2017: 9.46%) of the Group’s
total purchases. The Group’s largest supplier accounted for
2.46% (2017: 2.94%) of the Group’s total purchases.

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group’s sales to its
five largest customers accounted for 22.27% (2017: 21.03%) of
the Group’s total sales. The Group’s sales to its largest customer
accounted for 5.46% (2017: 6.34%) of the Group’s total sales.
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None of the Directors of the Company or any of their close
associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of
the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and
suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in
note 14 to the financial statements in this annual report.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Details of movements in the issued capital of the Group during
the year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity in the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
year ended December 31, 2018 are set out in consolidated
statement of changes in equity in this annual report, and details
of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity in the financial statements.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at December 31, 2018, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of

Companies Law, amounted to approximately RMB6,882.7 million
(as at December 31, 2017: RMB6,229.1 million).

BANK LOAN AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as
at December 31, 2018 are set out in note 26 to the financial

statements in this annual report.
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BOARD

The Directors during the year ended December 31, 2018 and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Sun Bai (resigned with effect from January 12, 2018)

Mr. ZHANG Chun (appointed as the chairman with
effect from January 12, 2018)
Mr. HAN Xiaojun (appointed with effect from March 5, 2018)

Mr. ZHOU Yamin (appointed with effect from March 5, 2018 and
resigned with effect from December 12, 2018)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. YU Benli
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018)

INEDs:

Mr. LIU Li

Ms. LIU Hongyu

Mr. FANG Yongzhong
Mr. WU Tak Lung

BOARD OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the current Directors, Supervisors and
senior management of the Group are set out in the section
headed “Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and
Employees” of this annual report.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from
each of the INEDs and the Company considers such Directors to
be independent for the year ended December 31, 2018.

SERVICE CONTRACT AND LETTER OF
APPOINTMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

As approved at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
on March 5, 2018, (i) Mr. ZHANG Chun has been re-appointed,
Mr. HAN Xiaojun and Mr. ZHOU Yamin have been appointed
as executive Directors of the third session of the Board, (ii) Mr.
YU Benli and Mr. ZHANG Fusheng have been re-appointed as
non-executive Directors of the third session of the Board, (iii) Mr.
LIU Li, Ms. LIU Hongyu, Mr. FANG Yongzhong and Mr. WU Tak
Lung have been re-appointed as INEDs of the third session of
the Board, whose term of service commenced on March 5, 2018
until the expiration of the term of the third session of the Board,
and (iv) Mr. QUAN Huagiang and Mr. QIAN Xiangdong have been
re-appointed as shareholder representative Supervisors for the
third session of the Supervisory Board. Ms. LIU Ting has been
appointed as the staff representative Supervisor for the third
session of the Supervisory Board on January 12, 2018 and she
together with Mr. QUAN Huagiang and Mr. QIAN Xiangdong
formed the third session of the Supervisory Board. Their term of
service commenced on March 5, 2018 until the expiration of the
term of the third session of the Supervisory Board.

After their appointment, all members of the third session of the
Board have entered into service contracts and/or appointment
letters with the Company for a term of three years, commencing
from March 5, 2018 and ending on March 4, 2021 or on the
date when the fourth session of the Board is elected by the
Shareholders. The Company shall have power to enter into
service contracts and/or appointment letters with the members of
the third session of the Supervisory Board.
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For the year ended December 31, 2018, none of the Directors
or Supervisors had entered or proposed to enter into a service
contract and/or appointment letter with any member of the Group
which will not expire or is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or Supervisor or their connected entities had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
or its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended December 31, 2018.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions”, there
has been no contract of significance (whether for the provision
of services to the Company or not) between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and controlling shareholders (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended December 31, 2018.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts (except for the executive Directors’ service
contracts) concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended December 31,
2018.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the
Group’s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration
of the directors and senior management of the Group, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
of the Directors and senior management and comparable market
practices.

The Company does not adopt any pre- or post-IPO share
award scheme and share option scheme as incentive to eligible
employees.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, Supervisors and
five highest paid individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements in this annual report.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS DURING THE YEAR

Pursuant to Rules 13.51(B) of the Listing Rules, the change to
Directors’, Supervisors’ or senior management’s information
subsequent to the date of the 2018 interim report of the
Company and up to the date of this report are set out below:

On December 6, 2018, Mr. ZHANG Chun, the Chairman and an
executive Director, has been ceased as the Deputy Secretary of
the Party Committee of the Company; and has been serving as
the Secretary of the Party Committee of the Company on the
same day. Since January 2019, Mr. ZHANG has been ceased as
the chairman of CNEEC.

Since December 2018, Mr. YU Benli, a non-executive Director,
has been ceased as the chairman of China Perfect Machinery
Industry Corp., Ltd. (P BB E#i% T2/ 1H B R A F]), a subsidiary
of SINOMACH.
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Since December 2018, Mr. ZHANG Fusheng, a non-executive
Director, has been ceased as the chairman of China National
Machinery Industry International Co., Ltd. (4 BB A B
B ER A F]), a subsidiary of SINOMACH and a director of Beijing
Xianglong Assets Management Co., Ltd. At REEREEELLEER
EERF).

On December 12, 2018, due to job arrangements, Mr. ZHOU
Yamin has been resigned as an executive Director, the President
and ceased as a member of the Operation and Risk Management
Committee.

On December 12, 2018, Mr. HAN Xiaojun, an executive
Director, has been appointed as the acting President following
the resignation of Mr. ZHOU Yamin as the President. Mr. HAN
has been appointed as a member of the Operation and Risk
Management Committee and ceased as the Vice Chairman
following the appointment as the President on December 21,
2018.

On October 29, 2018, Mr. WU Tak Lung, an INED, has been
resigned as an independent non-executive director of First Tractor
Company Limited (5 —#Bhi A% (5 BB A 7)), a company listed on
both the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00038)
and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601038).

Since October 2018, Mr. QUAN Huagiang, a Shareholder
representative Supervisor and the chairman of the Supervisory
Board, has been serving as vice chief account of SINOMACH.

Since February 2019, Mr. QIAN Xiangdong, a Shareholder
representative Supervisor, has been ceased as a director, vice
chairman and chief financial officer of China United; and has
been serving as a director and the deputy secretary of the Party
Committee of Hi-Tech Group Corporation (FEIfEXEBARE A
al).
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INTERESTS, SHORT POSITIONS AND SHARE
OPTION SCHEME OF THE DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at December 31, 2018, none of the Directors, Supervisors or
members of the senior management of the Company had any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred
to therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ RIGHTS TO
ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

No time during the year ended December 31, 2018 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director, Supervisor
or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company,
its holding company and any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors,
the Supervisors, or their respective spouse or children under 18
years of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER TERFEREMATHARS REE
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS BROHNERRAR
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at December 31, 2018, so far as it was known by or otherwise MR2018F12A31H » IBEWESEHKAQF]
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company, BE=TBABAMs AR MmN ENE -
the particulars of the corporations or persons (other than a BIEFESH KA EKRHIEI36IETFEN S LM
Director, Supervisor or chief executive of the Company) which Frro s s B IR () AR A AR 105 % 2k A L #E 2=
had 5% or more interests and short positions in the Shares and RABREBIAL (EF - BEEHARF
the underlying Shares as recorded in the register kept under =T ABRRIN) FEAT

section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions and Short positions in the Shares BHONETFERKXE

Approximate
Percentage of Approximate

Shareholding  Percentage of

Number of Issued in the Relevant Shareholding
Shares/ Class of in the Total
Capacity/ Underlying Shares Shares
Name of Shareholders Class of Shares Nature of Interest Shares Held Total (Note 1) (Note 1)
HERRHER ERAEHR
FsERTRG / RERAEL BROEAY
RRA# RGER 5%/ BEtE RERGHEA 82y (Wi1) (Hi1)
SINOMACH Domestic Shares Interests of beneficial owner/ 3,185,260,000
Personal interests (Note 2)
(Long position)
Gl NER EnfA A NER/ AAER 3,185,260,000
(Witz)
(5#8)
— 3,217,430,000 100% 77.99%
Interests of controlled 32,170,000
corporation/ (Note 2)
Corporate interests (Long position)
Rii0Es /rEER 32,170,000
(Hit2)
(418) -
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Approximate
Percentage of Approximate
Shareholding  Percentage of
Number of Issued in the Relevant Shareholding
Shares/ Class of in the Total
Capacity/ Underlying Shares Shares
Name of Shareholders Class of Shares Nature of Interest Shares Held Total (Note 1) (Note 1)
HEBRGER ERBEER
FBERTRE / RESNEI L BEABAY
RRER R ER 5%/ BEME HERAHE ay (Hit1) (Hi1)
SSF H Shares Interests of beneficial owner/ 81,352,000 81,352,000 8.96% 1.97%
Personal interests (Long position)
HRESEEE Hik Eals NER / EAER 81,352,000
(4£8)
Valug Partners Group Limited H Shares Interests of controlled 63,132,000 63,132,000 6.95% 1.53%
corporation/ (Note 3)
Corporate interests (Long position)
FEEEERAT Hi RiEEEs /tEER 63,132,000
(Hit3)
(4#£8)
LSV Asset Management H Shares Investment manager/ 40,670,000
Other interests (Long position)
Hik REEE / Ehiks 40,670,000
(4#8)
Interests of controlled 14,004,000 [~ 54,674,000 6.02% 1.32%
corporation/ (Note 4)
Corporate interests (Long position)
REEEEE / tEER 14,004,000
(Wit4)
(4#8)
Valug Partners High-Dividend  H Shares Beneficial owner/ 47,390,000 47,390,000 5.21% 1.15%
Stocks Fund Personal interests (Long position)
FEEEREES Hi% AN/ AAER 47,390,000
(48)

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE



Report of Directors

EEEWRE

Approximate
Percentage of Approximate
Shareholding  Percentage of

Number of Issued in the Relevant Shareholding
Shares/ Class of in the Total
Capacity/ Underlying Shares Shares
Name of Shareholders Class of Shares Nature of Interest Shares Held Total (Note 1) (Note 1)
HEBRGER ERBEER
FEERTRE/ REBOEL L 1R
RRER RHER 5%/ BEMHE HERAHE ay (Hit1) (Hit1)
Wellington Management H Shares Investment manager/ 46,348,835 46,348,835 5.10% 1.12%
Group LLP Other interest (Long position)
(Note 5)
Hik REER /A 46,348,835
(4#8)
(Hits)
Grantham, Mayo, Van H Shares Investment manager/ 45,578,300 45,578,300 5.01% 1.10%
Otterloo & Co. LLC Other interest (Long position)
Hi& REER /AiEs 45,578,300
(4#8)
GIC Private Limited H Shares Investment manager/ 45,454,000 45,454,000 5.00% 1.10%
Other interest (Long position)
B ATRE AT Hik REER /AitEs 45,454,000
(4#8)
Notes: Kt

(1) This percentage is calculated on the basis of the number of (1) ZBDLLTIUAKRAFEHZE2018F12A31H
underlying Shares/total Shares that had been issued by the BEITHEBROEE ROEEETE -
Company as of December 31, 2018.

(2) SINOMACH was beneficially interested in 3,185,260,000 Domestic (2) EH#73,185,260,0001k N E P ERER
Shares, representing approximately 77.21% of our total share s AERMBAIRALT77.21% - REEES
capital. China United was beneficially interested in 32,170,000 732,170,000 N E R R BB
Domestic Shares, representing approximately 0.78% of our total 1 AMIARIEA490.78% - AR BB A A
share capital. Since China United is a wholly-owned subsidiary of E#HEENB AR - Al - B#EKE A
SINOMACH, SINOMACH s, therefore, deemed to be interested in MBS PIRAERP RS R -

the Domestic Shares held by China United.
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The following shares which are referred to in the notes above
represent the same block of shares in which all the relevant parties
are deemed under the SFO to be interested.

(3) The 63,132,000 Shares as referred to in note 3 above.

Value Partners Group Limited has 100% interest over Value Partners
Hong Kong Limited. Value Partners Hong Kong Limited has 100%
interest over Value Partners Limited.

(4)  The 14,004,000 Shares as referred in note 4 above.

Among these 14,004,000 Shares, 11,972,000 Shares were held by
LSV Emerging Markets Equity Fund, LP and 2,032,000 Shares were
held by LSV Emerging Markets Small Cap Equity Fund, LP, both are
a general partner of LSV Asset Management. Accordingly, LSV Asset
Management is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which
LSV Emerging Markets Equity Fund, LP and LSV Emerging Markets
Small Cap Equity Fund, LP are interested.

(5) The 46,348,835 Shares are referred in note 5 above.

Among these 46,348,835 Shares, 15,281,630 Shares were held
by Wellington Management International Ltd., an indirect non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of Wellington Management Group LLP and
31,067,205 Shares were held by Wellington Management Company
LLP, an indirect non-wholly-owned subsidiary of Wellington
Management Group LLP. Accordingly, Wellington Management
Group LLP is deemed to be interested in 46,348,835 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, and as at December 31, 2018, the
Directors were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors,
Supervisors or the chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed under divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to section 336 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company did not
redeem any of its H Shares listed on the Stock Exchange nor did
the Company or any of its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of
such shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the Companies Law, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

SINOMACH entered into a non-competition agreement dated
July 12, 2011 as supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated December 10, 2012 (together as “Non-competition
Agreement”) with the Company. Pursuant to the agreement,
SINOMACH provided certain non-competition undertakings to
the Company and granted the option to acquire certain retained
business which overlaps with the Company’s International
Engineering Contracting Business in the Core Sectors (the
“Relevant Sectors”) and right of first refusal for any new
business opportunities in relation to the Relevant Sectors.
Pursuant to the Non-competition Agreement, the INEDs are
responsible for reviewing the implementation of the undertakings
under the agreement on an annual basis. During the year, the
INEDs have reviewed the implementation of the Non-competition
Agreement and confirmed that SINOMACH has been in full
compliance with the agreement and there was no breach by
SINOMACH.
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SINOMACH has confirmed in writing to the Company of its
compliance with the Non-competition Agreement for disclosure
in this annual report during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Furthermore, as contemplated in the Non-competition Agreement,
SINOMACH shall transfer all its equity interest in CNCEC, CNEEC
and China National Automation Control System Corporation
(“CACS”) to the Company within three years after the Listing.
The acquisition of the entire equity interests of CNCEC by the
Company was completed on May 23, 2016. The Company and
SINOMACH entered into an agreement on November 24, 2017
to acquire the entire equity interests of CNEEC by the Company.
The acquisition of the entire equity interests of CNEEC by the
Company was completed on April 4, 2018.The acquisition of the
equity interest in CACS by the Company is currently expected to
be delayed. Please refer to the announcement and circular both
published on February 5, 2016 and November 24, 2017 and
the announcements published on May 23, 2016, January 12,
2018 and April 9, 2018 on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company for further details.

DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTEREST IN
COMPETING BUSINESS

As at December 31, 2018, none of the Directors, the Supervisors
or their respective close associates had engaged in or had any
interest in any business which competes or may compete with
the businesses of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the
ordinary course of business by the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2018 are set out in note 39 to the financial
statements in this annual report. Save as disclosed in aforesaid
note 39 and in the paragraph headed “Connected Transactions”
below, none of the related party transactions as disclosed
constituted disclosable non-exempted connected transaction
or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under the
Listing Rules and the Company had complied with the relevant
requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
ended December 31, 2018.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS HERS
I. Connected Transactions . BEXRS

1.

Acquisition of 100% equity interest in CNEEC

On November 24, 2017, the Company and SINOMACH,
our controlling shareholder, entered into an acquisition
agreement, pursuant to which the Company has agreed
to acquire, and SINOMACH has agreed to dispose of,
the entire equity interest in CNEEC for an aggregate
consideration of RMB1,980,031,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,349,766,807), subject to the
terms and conditions of the acquisition agreement (the
“Acquisition”). The acquisition of the entire equity
interests of CNEEC by the Company was completed on
April 4, 2018.The Acquisition is a key and timely step
for SINOMACH Group to honor its non-competition
undertakings, which would enable the Company to
better utilize such business integration to strengthen the
competitiveness of its core business. The Acquisition
enable the Company to rapidly expand its assets and
scale of business by external merger and acquisition,
and to further enhance the Company’s capabilities
in design, supervision, operation and maintenance
of engineering projects, and further improve the
Company’s service capabilities in a complete project
cycle. The Acquisition also reinforced market position
of the Company’s engineering contracting business in
traditional areas by consolidating concerted efforts,
and developed business in a larger scale and with
stepped up efforts to enter new markets and areas. It
also helped to expand the Company’s talent pool for
the International Engineering Contracting Business,
and improve its talent team structure. Details for
the transaction are set out on the Company’s
announcements made on November 24, 2017, January
12, 2018 and April 9, 2018, respectively, on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

W BB E T100% IR HE

R2017411 8248 » K R 7 &
B (BIAREZERRARR) 7]
W - Bt - RGN
REHHHERT - ARFERE
LA A R #1,980,031,0007T #) 42
8 (HHE R 42,349,766,807/5
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A A A2018F4 848 = ik Uk B
FEIZHRE KEFEER
HWEBIRTEB BRI ERF AR
W—EEEHRENEE  Hi
FEARNTR RN A B AERE
BURAEBZLESRHBRF N -
WIEEES AR RBAINBHE
WM RBEBRNAR RN EE R
BHRE  E—PREARRFTRE
B BEREETIRIER
FERRES - EWRARQFR
BEBEBARPHORBEE S - I
BEHEITAREESERHBR
FZEARDAEESRERTIRAS
EBR OB BIRE A
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Investment in relation to the Formation of Henan
Pingmei Shenma Far East Chemical Co., Ltd.
(“Henan Pingmei”)

On November 26, 2018, the Company, China
Pingmei Shenma Energy Chemical Group Limited
Liability Company (“Pingmei”) and China Machinery
Industry International Cooperation Co., Ltd., who was
indirectly wholly owned by our controlling shareholder,
SINOMACH, entered into an investment agreement for
the establishment of Henan Pingmei. Henan Pingmei
had a total registered capital of RMB450,000,000.
The Company made a capital contribution of
RMB67,500,000 and held 15% of the equity interest of
Henan Pingmei. The establishment of Henan Pingmei
aims to jointly promote technical exchanges in the
early stage of chemical projects of “the Belt and Road”
areas. This cooperation arrangement is consistent with
the strategic layout of the “Belt and Road”, is consistent
with the core principal business and development
strategies of the Company, is the first cooperation of
the Company with a large state-owned enterprise in
coal chemicals for joint development of an overseas
chemical project. Being the largest local state-owned
enterprise in Henan Province, Pingmei has technological
and capital advantages in the chemical industry, which
are helpful in the development of chemical industry
projects by the Company, it is favourable for inducing
complementary advantages. Details for the transaction
are set out on the Company’s announcements made
on December 21, 2018 and December 27, 2018,
respectively, on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

The connected transactions of the Company are also
related party transactions, which are disclosed in note 39
to the financial statements in accordance with International
Accounting Standard 24 “Related Party Disclosure”.

The table below set out the annual caps and the actual
transaction amount of such connected transactions for
2018:
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TREIIZEFEZXHN2018F M F
ELREEBERZFEH

Actual
Transaction
Annual cap Amount for
Connected Transactions Connected Person for 2018 2018
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million)
(Note (i)
20185 H 201858
BERS BEAL EELR ERRALE
(AR¥EER) (ARKEEET)
(Hit)
1. Provision of engineering services and products China National Machinery Industry Corporation 3,900.0 1,263.8

by our Group to SINOMACH Group PEBHIXEEAR AR

AEERERERREIERERER

China Machinery Engineering & Construction Corporation

PEERIIERIRARDA

China Machinery Industry International Cooperation Co., Ltd.

PEERIXERAFAERDA

China Erzhong Group (Deyang) Heavy Industries Co., Ltd.
“BEE (25) EREERAERAT

The First Construction of China Mechanical Industry Co., Ltd
PEERIZE-2RARAR

First Tractor Company Limited
E-HARRHERAR

CMEC International Exhibition Co., Ltd.
AERERRESRERAA

SINOMACH Intelligence Technology Co., Ltd
BREERRARAA
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap Amount for
Connected Transactions Connected Person for 2018 2018
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million)
(Note (i)
20185 H 201854
BERS BEAL EELR EBRRALE
(AE¥EER) (AE¥EET)
(W)
Jiangsu SUMEC Machinery & Electric Technology Co., Ltd
IHEGZERENRERAR
China Engineering and Agriculture Machinery Import and
Export Co., Ltd
PR TRAREREENIERAT
Tianjin Tianchuan New Energy & Electric Co., Ltd
RERBHERERERAA
2. Receipt of engineering services and products China Machinery Industry Construction Group INC. 2,500.0 1411

from SINOMACH Group by our Group PEERTIEREEEARAR
REBRTERERNTRRERER

Harbin Power System Engineering and Research Institute
Co., Ltd.
R ERURERERAEAERAT

China Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.
PITERHREARAH
Changzhou Jiangnan Environmental Engineering Co., Ltd.

EMNIEREIRARAR

CMCU Engineering Construction General Bureau

PEPRIEERLA

China Ocean Aviation Group Limited
PEEEREEIERAE

China Machinery TIDI Geotechnical Engineering Co., Ltd
PE-EE L TRARARA

Tianjin Wuyue Construction Supervision Co., Ltd
REAEIRERERERAA

Tianjin Research Institute of Electric Science Co., Ltd
REERNERER AR A

1 40 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Connected Transactions

BERS
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap Amount for
Connected Person for 2018 2018
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million)
(Note (i)
20185 H 201854
BEAL EELR EBERRALE
(AE¥EER) (AEEEET)
(W)

CMEC International Exhibition Co., Ltd.
EERERREABEMLT

China National General Machinery Engineering Corporation
MEEAREIEERLE

Shanghai Sino-Perfect Co., Ltd.
HERRtHEER AT

Zhejiang Xin'an Engineering Consultation Co., Ltd
MIEZIRAAERARA

China Erzhong Group (Deyang) Precision Transmission
Equipment Co., Ltd
_EEE (£5) BEEDRRERAT

China Machine-Building International Corporation

DERREMIERTA FERLT

Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd.
BEBARRALR

China Erzhong Group (Chengdu) Engineering Technology
Co. Ltd.
ZEEE (H) IRENERALAT

Guangzhou Kinte Industrial Co., Ltd.
BNEREXERAT

China SINOMACH Heavy Industry Corporation
PHAKETEEARAR

CACS Automation Engineering Limited
HEEREBIRIERLR

Shenyang Academy of Instrumentation Science Co., Ltd.
ERERNERARERAR
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap Amount for
Connected Transactions Connected Person for 2018 2018
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million)
(Note (i)
20181 20185
BERS BEAL FELR ERRALE
(ARBEET) (ARKEET)
(Wit
Beijing Materials Handling Research Institute Co., Ltd
tRREEREAR T ARRERAR
China Sea International Travel Service Co., Ltd.
PRI THARAR
China Engineering and Agriculture Machinery Import and
Export Co., Ltd
TEIREREENELDERAR
Tianjin Tianchuan New Energy & Electric Co., Ltd
REREHGRERERAR
3. Trading procurement by our Group from N/A 800.0 -
SINOMACH Group TER
AREREREEETESNE
4. Sales of trading products by our Group to N/A 200.0 -
SINOMACH Group TER
AEEMAREEHEE P
5. Receipt of integrated services by the Group N/A 500.0 -
to SINOMAGH Group TER
AREEREREEGARE
6. Provision of integrated services by our Group to China SINOMACH Heavy Industry Corporation 500.0 125.0

SINOMACH Group hEAKETEIARAT
AEENEREERIGARE

China Machinery Industry Construction Group INC.
TERAIRERERERAA

China United Engineering Corporation

TEBAIRERLA

China IPPR International Engineering Co., Ltd.
HER TR TRARAR

Cambodia Tatay Hydropower Co., Ltd.
RERENKERRAT

1 42 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
TERMRBIERDERAE



Report of Directors

EEEWRE

Actual
Transaction
Annual cap Amount for
Connected Transactions Connected Person for 2018 2018
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million)
(Note (i)
20185 H 201854
BERS BEAL FELR EBR52E
(AE¥EER) (AEEEET)
(W)

China Machine-Building International Corporation

EBRISMEERA AR DA

CMCU Engineering Construction General Bureau

PEPRIEERLA

SIPPR Engineering Group Co., Ltd.
BRIZE RAHERERAA

Zhgjiang Tianyun Construction and Design Co., Ltd
MIRBRERTARAA

China National Machinery Industry International Co., Ltd

ERRERAFARAE

Automotive Engineering Corporation
TEAEIXTIRARAA

CMEC International Exhibition Co., Ltd.
EERERREABEMLT

Shanxi Hualong Construction Group Co., Ltd
Sk AN

China CAMC Enginegring Co., Ltd.
PIBRIRRNERAR

China Construction Machinery Co., Ltd.
hIIRBAREARAT

The Fourth Construction of China Machinery Industry Co., Ltd
TERRIXENERIRARLA

Changsha Qidian Automotive Products Co., Ltd

RYMEAETHMNAERLA
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Actual
Transaction
Annual cap Amount for
Connected Transactions Connected Person for 2018 2018
(RMB million) ~ (RMB million)
(Note (i)
20185 H 201854
BERS BEAL FELR ERRALE
(ARBEET) (ARKEET)
(Wit
China Machinery Industry Fifth Construction Corp
BRI SN REERAR
China Ocean Aviation Group Limited
HE BT EEARAR
Machinery & Electrical Industry Shanghai Joint-Sales Corp.
EIX LBBHERAR
7. Financing services to our Group from Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd
SINOMACH Group ARHEARAEAA
BREERASERH SRR
(1) deposit services 3,900.0 3,881.5
Bk
(2)  Generalloan services No annual cap -
—REFRH B
(8)  General financial services 25.0 -
—HRERRH

1 44 China Machinery Engineering Corporation
TERMRBIERDERAE



Notes:

(0

(i)

The annual cap is disclosed in the announcement and circular
of the Company dated October 19, 2017 and November 8,
2017, respectively and such new annual cap was approved by
Shareholders at the 2017 first extraordinary general meeting of
the Company on December 5, 2017 (the “2017 First EGM”)

The actual transaction amount represents the highest daily
deposit balance plus accrued interest.

Provision of engineering services and products by
our Group to SINOMACH Group

2018 provision of engineering services and products
agreement (the “2018 Provision of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement”) was entered into
on October 19, 2017 by and between the Company
and SINOMACH to provide engineering services and
products, including but not limited to, undertaking
turnkey project and provision of general contracting
services in the power sector and procurement services
and products to SINOMACH Group for the engineering
contracting projects undertaken by SINOMACH Group,
in particular those engineering contracting projects
subcontracted to our Group by SINOMACH Group,
details of which were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement and circular published on October 19
and November 8, 2017, respectively. 2018 Provision of
Engineering Services and Products Agreement and the
proposed annual caps for the years ended December
31, 2018, 2019 and 2020 for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated thereunder have been
approved by the 2017 First EGM.
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2018 Provision of Engineering Services and Products
Agreement is able to increase the revenue and profits of
the International Engineering Contracting Business and
to expand the Group’s market share in the international
engineering contracting market. In particular, it is able to
allow us to participate in certain large-scale engineering
contracting projects undertaken by SINOMACH
Group. Most of the engineering contracting projects
subcontracted to the Group by SINOMACH Group are
large-scale projects which last for a few years. The
relationship between the Group and SINOMACH Group
has been mutually beneficial, fair and reasonable and in
the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of 2018 Provision of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2018 was
RMB3,900.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB1,263.8 million.
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Receipt of engineering services and products from
SINOMACH Group by our Group

2018 receipt of engineering services and products
agreement (the “2018 Receipt of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement”) was entered into
on October 19, 2017 by and between the Company
and SINOMACH to receive engineering services and
products from SINOMACH Group, including but not
limited to, design, installation, construction, building,
subcontracting and procurement services and products
relating to its engineering contracting projects, details of
which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
and circular published on October 19 and November
8, 2017, respectively. 2018 Receipt of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement and the proposed
annual caps for the years ending December 31,
2018, 2019 and 2020 for the continuing connected
transactions contemplated thereunder have been
approved by the 2017 First EGM.

The 2018 Receipt of Engineering Services and
Products Agreement is able to allow the Group to
subcontract part of our construction works in line with
the common practice of participants in the international
engineering contracting market. In view of the fact that
SINOMACH Group is a well-established participant with
good reputation within the international engineering
contracting market which possesses strong capacity
and experience in the manufacturing, design, research
and development of various engineering products, the
Group has preference in sourcing relevant engineering
services and products from SINOMACH Group to gain
benefits from such technical strengths of them.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the 2018 Receipt of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement.
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SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2018 was
RMB2,500.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB141.1 million.

Trading procurement by our Group from
SINOMACH Group

2018 trading procurement agreement (the “2018
Trading Procurement Agreement”) was entered into
on October 19, 2017 by and between the Company and
SINOMACH to source various trading products from
SINOMACH Group to support our Trading Business,
which consist of, but not limited to, agriculture
machinery and equipment, agriculture transportation
vehicles, logging equipment and mining equipment,
details of which were disclosed in the Company’s
announcement published on October 19, 2017.

In the view of the strong manufacturing capacity of
SINOMACH Group, the 2018 Trading Procurement
Agreement is able to facilitate the Trading Business.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the 2018 Trading Procurement
Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2018 was
RMB800.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB nil.
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Sales of trading products by our Group to
SINOMACH Group

2018 trading sales agreement (the “2018 Trading Sales
Agreement”’) was entered into on October 19, 2017
by and between the Company and SINOMACH to sell
various trading products to SINOMACH Group under
the Trading Business, details of which were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement published on October 19
2017.

The 2018 Trading Sales Agreement is able to increase
the revenue and profits of the Trading Business and to
expand the market share in the international trading
market.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the 2018 Trading Sales
Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2018 was
RMB200.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB nil.

Report of Directors

EEEWRE

FEEOEREEEEEZER

20188 S H EE L W= (2018
BEZHEERBR]) 2EBAR
7] B B # H2017F10A8198 5]
Soo Bt AEERBIEERED
EESEBNLZEEIER E
B 5 1B AR R R 2017410 A
198 FIBH A ERIEKEE -

2018 5 iH & 1Z 28 1 &% RE 15 M0
BPBEZEBORARGEN - &
REMEBRE ZHEHTSH
B

BH2018E S EERBHDE
SRR R ELE - B2 R TR
9 -

B AAREEBRARR - Eitt
Rz EmARA - HEREKHBR
BAIRARFMEEAL -

RBEHRA AFEBERS
R201BFNFR LR BARE
20008 BT MEBRZEH
AIBAREZT -

Annual Report 2018
2018F F 3}

149



150

Report of Directors

EEEWRE

Receipt of integrated services by the Group to
SINOMACH Group

The Receipt of Integrated Services Agreement (the
“Receipt of Integrated Services Agreement”) was
entered into on October 19, 2017 by and between
the Company and SINOMACH to receive integrated
services, including but not limited to exhibition
and conference services, technological research
and development service, management consulting
services, design consulting services, property leasing
and management services in respect of the services
business from SINOMACH Group, details of which were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement published
on October 19, 2017.

SINOMACH Group is a well-established industry
player with good reputation within the services
business market, which possesses strong capacity
and experience in the design consulting, research
and development of various services, the Group has
preference in sourcing relevant integrated services
from SINOMACH Group to benefit from such technical
strengths of SINOMACH Group. The Receipt of
Integrated Services Agreement is able to enhance
completion of the services business undertaken by the
Group at efficient timing and with better quality.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the Receipt of Integrated
Services Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2018 was
RMB500.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB nil.
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Provision of integrated services by our Group to
SINOMACH Group

2018 integrated services agreement (the “2018
Integrated Services Agreement’) was entered into
on October 19, 2017 by and between the Company
and SINOMACH to provide integrated services such
as legal services, exhibition and conference services,
storage and transportation services, tendering services,
agency services, property management services and
design services to SINOMACH Group in respect of the
business undertaken by SINOMACH Group, details of
which were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
published on October 19, 2017.

SINOMACH Group has engaged the Group to provide
them with certain integrated services which the Group
is qualified in providing. The 2018 Integrated Services
Agreement is able to increase the revenue and profits of
the Group.

Please refer to relevant disclosure below for principal
terms and conditions of the 2018 Integrated Services
Agreement.

SINOMACH is the controlling shareholder of the
Company and is, together with its subsidiaries, a
connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

During the reporting period, the annual cap of this
continuing connected transaction for 2018 was
RMB500.0 million and the actual transaction amount
was RMB125.0 million.
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Principal terms of the agreements

Each of the Renewed Provision of Engineering Services
and Products Agreement, Renewed Receipt of Engineering
Services and Products Agreement, Renewed Trading
Procurement Agreement, Renewed Trading Sales Agreement
and Renewal Integrated Services Agreement (collectively the
“Renewed Agreements”) and the Receipt of Integrated
Services Agreement are framework agreements that
comprises the general terms and conditions upon which the
Group and SINOMACH Group shall carry out the particular
type of transactions contemplated thereunder. Members of
SINOMACH Group and members of the Group may from
time to time enter into detailed agreements in respect of the
specific services and/or products to be provided or received
by the Group, provided that the terms of such detailed
agreements shall not be inconsistent with the terms of the
respective framework agreement. The actual services and/or
products to be provided or received by our Group shall be
subject to such detailed agreements entered into between
the relevant member of SINOMACH Group and the relevant
member of the Group from time to time.

Each of the 2018 Provision of Engineering Services and
Products Agreement, 2018 Receipt of Engineering Services
and Products Agreement, 2018 Trading Procurement
Agreement, 2018 Trading Sales Agreement and 2018
Integrated Services Agreement (collectively “2018
Agreements”) is to extend the terms to another 3 years,
and the Receipt of Integrated Services Agreement is also
for a term of 3 years, all commencing from January 1, 2018
and ending on December 31, 2020 and may be renewed on
terms to be agreed upon by SINOMACH and the Company.
Each of such framework agreements (i) may be terminated
by a non-defaulting party by serving a written default notice
to the defaulting party stipulating the relevant breach and the
defaulting party having failed to remedy such breach within a
reasonable period after its receipt of the default notice; and
(i) shall be terminated automatically if the performance of
the transactions contemplated thereunder will be in breach
of the requirements under the Listing Rules or the necessary
approvals required under the Listing Rules or relevant
waivers from the Stock Exchange cannot be obtained.
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The pricing policy, payment terms and all other material
terms and conditions of the Renewed Agreements
remained unchanged. The Receipt of Integrated
Services Agreement adopts new pricing policies and
new payment terms, pursuant to which the price
payable for the subject services and/or products
thereunder shall be determined in accordance with,
among others, price prescribed by the government,
price range guided by the government, price guided
by the industry, price negotiated between the parties.
Pursuant to the new payment terms, the Payment
and settlement for transactions shall be subject to the
specific terms on timing and method of payment and
settlement under the separate agreements. Details for
the terms and conditions of the Renewed Agreements,
2018 Agreements and the Receipt of Integrated
Services Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements and circulars published on November
14 and 17, 2014, October 19 and November 8, 2017,
respectively.

Financing services to our Group from SINOMACH
Group

2018 Financial Service Agreement (the “2018 Financial
Services Agreement”) entered into by and between
the Company and Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd. (the
“Finance Company”), a subsidiary of SINOMACH
Group, on October 19, 2017. The New Financial
Services Agreement dated November 14, 2014 (the
“New Financial Services Agreement”) will be expired
on December 31, 2017. The 2018 Financial Services
Agreement has become effective upon approved by
the 2017 First EGM for a term for 3 years from January
1, 2018 to December 31, 2020. The proposed annual
caps for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2019
and 2020 for the continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the 2018 Financial Services
Agreement have been approved by the 2017 First EGM.
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Financial services and major terms

The pricing policy, payment terms and all other material
terms and conditions of the New Financial Services
Agreement remain unchanged. Pursuant to the 2018
Financial Services Agreement, the Finance Company
agrees to provide to the Group the following financial
services:

Type 1 — Deposit Services

The Finance Company will provide deposit taking
services for current deposits, call deposits, deposits
with maturity of 1-day and 7-day respectively and time
deposits (3-month, 6-month, 1-year, 3-years and other
deposit periods as required by the regulatory policies).

Type 2 — General Loan Services

The Finance Company will provide various types of
loans to the Group (including working capital loans,
fixed assets loans, finance leases, purchaser’s credit
business and domestic factoring).

Type 3 — General Financial Services

The general financial services to be provided by the
Finance Company to the Group include collection,
payment and settlement services, provision of
entrusted loans, issuance of letters of guarantee
and bank guarantee, issuance of bank letters of
credit, handling of bank acceptance, handling of bill
acceptance and discounting, financial and financing
consultation, arrangement of credit certification and
related consultation and agency services, underwriting
of corporate bonds designated investment business,
acceptance bill custody business, trans-bank cash
management platform service and other businesses
which are approved by CBRC (former CBIRC) to
carry out. The Finance Company would charge the
corresponding fees.
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In relation to the Entrusted Loans, the Finance
Company shall complete the release of the Entrusted
Loans on the date of receipts of the Entrusted Deposits
of the Group and its subsidiaries, and commit that the
Group and its subsidiaries would repay the loans by
their own, without provision of any guarantee by the
Group and its subsidiaries, provided that the Group will
require guarantee for the Entrusted Loans business of
its subsidiaries, the Finance Company shall cooperate
to complete the relevant procedures according to the
instruction from the Group.

The pricing policy of the Finance Company is
subject to the guidelines set by the CBRC or PBOC
(as applicable). Therefore, the fees charged by the
Finance Company for its services to be provided to
the Company are comparable to those charged by the
financial institutions in the PRC for similar services.
Furthermore, the Finance Company is subject to
various rules and regulations issued by the CBRC in
relation to its provision of deposit services, including
the mandatory requirements on its asset-liability ratios,
and has established comprehensive internal control and
risk management systems, and implemented corporate
governance guidelines in accordance with the relevant
regulatory requirements.

For details for the 2018 Financial Services Agreement,
please refer to the Company’s announcement and
circular published on October 19 and November 8,
2017, respectively, on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Finance Company is a subsidiary of SINOMACH
which is the controlling shareholder of the Company
and is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.
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During the reporting period, the cap for the maximum
daily deposit balance (including any interest accrued
thereon) with the Finance Company was RMB3,900.0
million and the actual amount was RMB3,881.5 million.
No annual cap has been set for the general loan
services with the Finance Company and the actual
amount was RMB nil. The annual caps for the total
fees to be charged by the Finance Company for the
provision of general financial services are RMB25.0
million, and the actual amount was RMB nil.

The INEDs have reviewed each of the above mentioned
continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the
transactions have been conducted:

(1)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Company;

on normal commercial terms or, if there are no sufficient
comparable transactions to determine whether they are
on normal commercial terms, from the perspective of
the Company, on terms no less favorable than the terms
available to or from independent third parties; and

in accordance with relevant agreements governing
the relevant transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a
whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board
engaged the auditor of the Company to conduct a
limited assurance engagement on the above continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditors’ Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under Listing Rules” issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
The auditor has reported their conclusion to the Board
stating that:
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a. nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the non-exempt
continuing connected transactions have not been
approved by the Board;

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods
or services by the Group, nothing has come to
the auditors’ attention that causes the auditor
to believe that the transactions were not, in all
material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group;

c. nothing has come to the auditors’ attention that
causes the auditor to believe that the transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions; and

d. with respect to the aggregate amount of each of
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions
set out above, nothing has come to the auditors’
attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the non-exempt continuing connected transactions
have exceeded the maximum aggregate annual
value disclosed above.

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the abovementioned
transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. The Company has provided a copy of the said letter
to the Stock Exchange.

In respect of the above-mentioned non-exempt connected
transactions, the Directors also confirmed that they
are connected transactions under Chapter 14A, and
the Company was in compliance with the disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

The material post balance sheet events are disclosed in note 42
to the financial statements in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed together with the
management and external auditor of the Company the accounting
principles and policies adopted by the Group and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December
31, 2018.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING EMPLOYEES’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance
by its relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive or inside information of the Company
in respect of their dealings in the Company’s securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of the
Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.
The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of
corporate governance. The Company has complied with the
code provisions as set out in the CG Code during the year ended
December 31, 2018 and up to the date of this report except
for deviations disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.

The Company will continue to review and enhance its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stock Exchange granted to the Company a waiver (the
“Public Float Waiver”) from strict compliance with Rule 8.08(1)
of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the Public Float Waiver, the
Company’s prescribed minimum percentage of Shares which
must be in public hands must not be less than 22.01% of the
total issued share capital of the Company. Based on information
publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the
Directors, at least 22.01% of the Company’s total issued share
capital, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the waiver and permitted under the Listing Rules,
are held by the public at all times as of the date of this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

At the 2014 second extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on October 20, 2014, Ernst & Young (&K & =tEl
E#5F7) was appointed as the Company’s external international
auditor in place of KPMG (5B &A1 E#4F1) and Ernst &
Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General Partnership) (ZkZE8A
S BT R L RA %) was appointed as the Company’s
domestic auditor. The 2018 consolidated financial statements
of the Company prepared in accordance with IFRS have been
audited by Ernst & Young.

Save as disclosed above, there were no changes of independent
auditors in the past 3 years.

A resolution for the reappointment of Ernst & Young and Ernst
& Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General Partnership) as the
independent auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.
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COMPLIANCE WITH SANCTIONS
UNDERTAKINGS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the Company and the Directors
have covenanted to the Stock Exchange that they will not, directly
or indirectly, (1) use any of the proceeds from the Global Offering,
or make such proceeds available to any individual or entity, to
fund any activities in or business of or with (i) any individual or
entity or (ii) in any country or territory, that at the time of such
funding, is the target of any sanctions administered by OFAC, or
(2) engage in any activity that is sanctionable under the ISA (as
amended by the Comprehensive Iran Sanctions, Accountability,
and Divestment Act of 2010) or the Executive Order 13590 (the
“Executive Order”) for so long as the ISA and Executive Order
remain in effect (the “Sanctions Undertakings”). The Directors
confirmed that both the Company and the Directors were in
compliance with the Sanctions Undertakings as at the date of
this report. In particular, the Company has taken the following
measures to ensure compliance with the Sanctions Undertakings:

1. Proceeds Account — The Company has opened and
maintained separate designated bank accounts for the
proceeds from the Listing in Hong Kong as at the date
of this report (the “Proceeds Accounts”). The Proceeds
Accounts are segregated from other normal bank accounts
of our Company and designated for the sole use of deposit
and deployment of the proceeds from Listing. With such
segregation and designation, the Proceeds Accounts record
all transactions and activities within these bank accounts
and trace the flow of funds in and out of the Proceeds
Accounts. As at December 31, 2015, the proceeds from the
Company’s Listing in Hong Kong has been fully utilized for
the intended purposes. For details, please refer to page 145
of the 2015 annual report of the Company dated April 27,
2016.

2. Accounting measures — The Company has ensured that
separate books and records are in place to monitor the
activities, including deposits and disbursements, of the
Proceeds Accounts.
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3. Internal control policies — We have formulated a dedicated
set of internal control policies particularly in respect of the
Proceeds Accounts to regulate various aspects of operating
the Proceeds Accounts, such as the designated use, record
keeping (e.g. the underlying documents for projects or
transactions towards which the proceeds will be applied),
regular review, responsible personnel to be appointed,
accountability and reporting line and other necessary
operational procedures.

4. Internal compliance program on export control (the “ICP”)
— With the Company’s existing ICP platform, the export
control office has continued to be responsible for project
screening, evaluation and approval from an export control
perspective to ensure the nature and location of the activities
or business, as well as the identity of the counterparties
and products involved, etc., would not violate the Sanctions
Undertakings.

In recent years the US sanctions landscape has evolved
substantially, especially those targeted at Iran. January 16,
2016 marked the “Implementation Day”, which marked the full
execution of sanctions relief promised to Iran as part of the Joint
Comprehensive Plan of Action (JCPOA) as negotiated by Iran,
the P5+1 (United States, Russia, China, France, United Kingdom,
Germany) and the EU and endorsed by the UN. In exchange for
curtailing certain nuclear-related activities, Iran was granted relief
from certain U.S., EU, and UN sanctions.

For further details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company on March 23, 2016. However, the United
States announced on May 8, 2018 that it will withdraw from
the Iran Nuclear Deal and restore sanctions against Iran. So the
Company decided to terminate all business ties in Iran thereafter
from a prudent perspective and the Company has no existing or
implemented project in Iran.
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In addition, given the new development in the sanctions
landscape on Cuba, Holland & Knight LLP has advised the
Company that, despite the remaining U.S. embargo on Cuba,
the Company (and its shareholders and investors) would face
very limited risks in engaging in Cuba activities if done from
outside of U.S., and similarly limited risks if done under U.S.
authorization from or through a U.S. subsidiary of the Company.
With Cuba having been removed from the U.S. Department of
State’s State Sponsors of Terrorism (“SST”) list, the reputational
risks and heightened due diligence (especially for non-U.S.
financial institutions) associated with transactions involving
countries placed on SST list has been reduced significantly, even
though the U.S. embargo remains in place. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement published on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on
December 19, 2016.

By Order of the Board
ZHANG Chun

Chairman

Beijing, the PRC, March 26, 2019

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

o ZEINETEFRHEROTER
Holland & Knight LLPERA QR : BE
FREHHEEETE  BHMEXBIRNIE
HEEEY  AAR (RERREREE)
HEENERIEFTER - WIEERAAFAE
ERELERARNTN—RERMB QAR
SEGTEEY  TEEBRACUNERR - =
BEBRE S HERBEREMERFE
([BHhERIZIFE]) BEPMHER  EEx
BZENAFE  BESREYRMHER
IRERENERETRINEERR K
SEERAT (LEREEZHESAEE) 2
HERE - E—FHEFLHARTH A
BN EE P R AN A A uh 92016412 519
BHERN RS -

EEEGWm
EELR
R’

FREHE R - 201993 A26H



Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report
in the annual report of the Company for year ended December
31, 2018 (the “Year”). In addition, certain information regarding
the Directors and the Board committees has been updated as at
the date of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The CG Code
has been adopted as the Company’s own code of corporate
governance. Except for the code provisions A.4.2 and F.1.2 of
the CG Code in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Company
complied with the code provisions required in the CG Code
during the Year.

Pursuant to the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code that every
director should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years, the second session of the Board which was
elected on February 20, 2014 shall retire the office by rotation
on February 20, 2017. As it concerns the entire Board, various
factors shall be considered to ensure the senior management
of the Company well continues, therefore the second session of
the Board continued to perform their duty until the election of
the third session of the Board which were elected at the 2018
second extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on
March 5, 2018 (the “Second EGM”). Since then, the Company
has rectified its compliance with the code provision A.4.2 of the
CG Code.
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Pursuant to the code provision F.1.2 of the CG Code that the
appointment of the company secretary should be dealt with by
a physical board meeting rather than a written resolution. The
appointment of the current joint company secretaries of the
Company (the “Joint Company Secretaries”) was dealt with
by a written resolution in February 2018. The Board considers
that, prior to the execution of the written resolution to appoint the
current Joint Company Secretaries, all Directors were individually
consulted on the matter without any dissenting opinion and there
was no need to approve the matter by a physical board meeting
instead of a written resolution.

Chairman and President

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the current organization
structure of the Company, Mr. ZHANG Chun is the chairman of
the Board (the “Chairman”) and Mr. HAN Xiaojun is the president
of the Company (the “President”). The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management
and the Board, which comprise experienced and high caliber
individuals. Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the primary
duties and responsibilities of the Chairman include:

a) presiding over the shareholders’ general meetings; and
convening and presiding over meetings of the Board,
examining the implementation of the resolutions of the
Board;

b) organizing the formulation of regulations on the operation of
the Board, and coordinating the operation of the Board;

c) hearing regular or non-regular performance reports on the
Company’s senior management; and

d) giving opinions guiding the execution of board resolutions,
signing the Company’s share certificates, debentures and
other important documents, and representing the Company
in signing important legally binding documents with third
parties.
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The major responsibilities of the President include:

a)

leading the production, operation and management of the
Company, and reporting his works to the Board;

organizing the implementation of the resolutions of the
Board, the Company’s annual business plans and investment
plans;

preparing the Company’s annual budgets and final accounts,
and providing recommendations to the Board;

formulating the plans for merger, division or reorganization of
the wholly-owned subsidiaries and controlled subsidiaries of
the Company;

preparing plans for the establishment of the Company’s
basic management system and the internal management
structure, preparing plans for the establishment of domestic
and overseas branches of the Company, formulating specific
rules and regulations of the Company;

appointing or removing the management personnel, except
for those that shall be appointed or removed by the Board;

formulating the remunerations, benefits and incentive
programs, as well as the appointment and removal of the
Company’s employees;

proposing to convene an extraordinary board meeting when
emergency arises; and
determining on investment, financing, contracts and
transactions of the Company within the scope of
authorization of the Board.

The Chairman held a meeting with the non-executive Directors

(including the INEDs) without the presence of the executive

Directors during the Year.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
AND SUPERVISORS

The Company adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Upon
specific enquiry of all the Directors and Supervisors, all the
Directors and Supervisors confirmed that they had complied with
the Model Code during the Year.

The Company also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting
than the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance
by its relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information or inside information
of the Company in respect of their dealings in the Company’s
securities.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising
the management of the business affairs and the overall
performance of the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values
and standards and ensures that the requisite financial and human
resources support are in place for the Group to achieve its
objectives. The functions performed by the Board include but not
limited to formulating the Group’s business plans and strategies,
reviewing the Company’s financial results and performance and
approving its interim and annual results; approving appointment,
removal or re-appointment of the Board members upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee; approving the
remuneration package of directors and senior management of
the Company upon the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, deciding all significant financial (including major
capital expenditure) and operational issues, formulating,
monitoring and reviewing the Group’s corporate governance,
and all other functions reserved to the Board under the Articles
of Association. The Board may from time to time delegate
certain functions to senior management of the Group if and
when considered appropriate. The senior management is mainly
responsible for the execution of the business plans, strategies
and policies adopted by the Board and assigned to it from time
to time.
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All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good
faith, in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

Currently, the Board comprises the following eight Directors:

Executive Directors
ZHANG Chun (Chairman)
HAN Xiaojun (President)

Non-Executive Directors
YU Benli
ZHANG Fusheng

INEDs

LIU Li

LIU Hongyu
FANG Yongzhong
WU Tak Lung

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and
Employees” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no financial,
business, family or other material relationship among the
Directors.

The two Executive Directors are responsible for the leadership
and control of the Company and overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performances and are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs.

The four INEDs are responsible for ensuring a high standard of
financial and other mandatory reporting of the Board as well as
providing a balance in the Board in order to effectively exercise
independent judgment on the corporate actions of the Company
so as to protect Shareholders’ interest and overall interest of the
Group.
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Throughout the Year, the Company had at all times met the
requirement of the Listing Rules that the number of INEDs must
represent at least one-third of the Board members and at least
one of the INEDs shall have appropriate professional qualifications
of accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has four INEDs currently representing half of the Board
and therefore the Company has complied with the Listing Rules.

All Directors, including the INEDs, have brought a wide spectrum
of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
INEDs were invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Strategy and Development Committee and the Operation and
Risk Management Committee.

As regards the CG Code provision requiring directors to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments as well as
their identity and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors
agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company in a timely
manner.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
the liabilities of the Directors and senior management in respect
of any legal actions taken against them arising out of performing
their duties. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual
basis.

Confirmation of Independence

Each of the INEDs has made an annual confirmation of
independence by reference to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
the Board is satisfied that all INEDs were independent and met
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, up to the date of this annual report.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PERMREIRROERATE

RAEE  ARBRERERT S CEMR
) WRE - REBILIFRITETHARA
HEFEEXNBEL=D2z— BEL—F
BIUFNTESHEEENEESHER
SHEBEYHEEEX - ARAHEEEHE
BUFATES H2REFENENF
2 A AREE &S CEMRAD -

2REF (BRBYIFNTES) CEFS

BREZLEZEBER MBERBER
BE MBS EFSEITHEL I RBE MK

c BYIFMITEFTEBMARRRE
E"‘e‘? ¥FHZEg RAHAZEE B
REZBEULKZHRAKREEZES -

,ED” W BX

HEBERBZRRABTARBRRENRAR
NARABEBEBRNORBME - AR
HhERAE  ERKEEZ HHRKRAR
MehEERTABRXXMNE  EFRAER
RrmARBRERSE 2 AHE -

ARAREREELRERERAERBEE

BT AE IR B - (R0 5 0AF T 5 T
TRBROFARA - ZIRBBEIRE R
it o

By MRS

BRFIFRTEZDRBC(LETRR) B
BIBRIEHFEBLERRE - EF2E
MERBIUFATESTHR/BYL  URNE
ERFHRABTA (EMRA) F3.131&H
R IEIES] -



Corporate Governance Report

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

Each newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

The Company has from time to time provided briefings to all
Directors to develop and refresh the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development
for Directors will be arranged whenever necessary. The
Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge his or her duties. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training courses
at the Company’s expense. They have been required to provide
the Company with their training records.

During the Year, all Directors had participated in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills by reading materials and/or attending
briefings by legal counsels or seminars organised by professional
bodies on corporate governance or updates on laws, rules and
regulations relating to the roles, functions and duties of a director.
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e M\Aiﬁﬂ:

Individual record of each Director who received training for the RFEEEXFINSESOEALESL

Year is summarised as follows: N
Directors Types of CPD
== BESXRRENESR
(Notes)
(Kiaz)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. SUN Bai (resigned on January 12, 2018) BIAS A (7201841 A128 BHT) A
A
Mr. ZHANG Chun RIZHAE A and B
AKB
Mr. HAN Xiaojun (appointed on March 5, 2018) 82EEE 44 (N2018F3ASHEZRT) A and B
AKB
Mr. ZHOU Yamin (appointed on March 5, 2018 FEgz R4 (7R2018F3 A5 HEZR(T Aand B
and resigned on December 12, 2018) W R2018F12 A12HEHT) AKB
Non-executive Directors 3F$M‘T§$
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) AT AE (R2018F3 A5HET) A
A
Mr. YU Benli RABLE Aand B
AKB
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng RABAESLE Aand B
AKB
INEDs BYEHITES
Mr. LIU Li 2 hkE A and B
AKB
Ms. LIU Hongyu B Fz L Aand B
AKB
Mr. FANG Yongzhong Tk B A A and B
AKB
Mr. WU Tak Lung RIERESLE Aand B
AKB
Notes: Hiat -

A: attending seminars/forums/workshops/conferences relevant to the A HEEBEBIETHRIEOWTE S

business or directors’ duties

B TS g

B: studying regulatory updates on laws, rules and regulations relating B: Z2XRAHEFTACKEBENER  RAR

to directors’ roles and functions
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All Directors had provided the Company with their training records
for the Year.

Meetings of Board and Board Committees and Directors’
Attendance Records

The Company adopts the practice of holding board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year. Notices of not less than
fourteen days are given for all regular board meetings to provide
all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
committee members at least fourteen days before the regular
meetings and at least five days before the extraordinary meetings
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and
be adequately prepared for the meetings. When the Directors or
committee members are unable to attend a meeting, he or she
may appoint in writing another Director to attend the meeting on
his or her behalf. The power of attorney shall specify the scope of
authorization. The proxy shall exercise the rights of the Director
within the scope of the authorization. A Director failing to attend
the board meeting in person or by proxy shall be deemed as
having waived his or her voting rights at such meeting.

The company secretary or his delegate is responsible for keeping
all minutes of the Board meetings and the Board committees.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comments
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version
is open for Directors’ inspection. According to the Listing Rules,
any directors and their close associates with a material interest
in the transactions to be discussed at the Board meetings will
abstain from voting on resolutions approving such transactions
and will not be counted in the quorum at meetings.

Any Director wishing to do so in the furtherance of his or
her duties may take independent professional advice at the
Company’s expense. Directors get familiar with the Group’s
principal activities through initial induction, ongoing participation
at the Board and committee meetings, and meeting with key
members of management. The Directors are encouraged to
update their skills and knowledge.
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A FE Kk B E2019F3H26H + 2 A
BRIt RE=ggx (BEEER
two extraordinary general meetings, one annual general meeting #) MABREREREZ —ARRESF
AekmrErRRERe (FEIRREKX
g  EFHEFBERINGOT ¢

During the Year and up to the date of March 26, 2019, the
Company held 21 Board meetings (including written resolutions),

and two class meetings (collectively, the “Shareholders’
Meetings”). Details of attendance of the Directors are as follows:

Board Shareholders’

Directors meetings Meetings
BE EEEeE BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. SUN Bai e yi=h e

(resigned on January 12, 2018) (7A2018F1 A12B8 &E) 1/1 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Chun RIZEAE 21/21 5/5
Mr. HAN Xiaojun EEREEEL

(appointed on March 5, 2018) (PA2018F3H5HEZ 1) 18/18 3/3
Mr. ZHOU Yamin ALER%E

(appointed on March 5, 2018 (R2018F3A5HEELF

and resigned on December 12, 2018) WHR2018F 12 A12H & {E) 12/12 3/3
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. WANG Zhian FRaREE

(retired on March 5, 2018) (FA2018F3 A5HEE) 3/3 1/1
Mr. YU Benli RABEE 21/21 5/5
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng RIBA ST A 21/21 5/5
INEDs BYkHTES
Mr. LIU Li B hkE 21/21 5/5
Ms. LIU Hongyu R F 4+ 21/21 5/5
Mr. FANG Yongzhong F KB 21/21 5/5
Mr. WU Tak Lung RIERELE 21/21 5/5
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all
measurable objectives set for implementing the policy.

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All
the appointments of the Board members will continue to be made
on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of
the Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on
a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established, with written terms of reference,
five Board committees, namely the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Strategy and Development Committee and the Operation
and Risk Management Committee (together, the “Board
Committees”), to oversee particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties.

The written terms of reference for each Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are in line
with the Listing Rules and they are posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Audit Committee

The Board established the Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises two INEDs and one non-executive Director, namely Mr.
LIU Li, Ms. LIU Hongyu and Mr. ZHANG Fusheng, the majority
of them are INEDs. Mr. LIU Li is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include, among
others:

a) To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the internal audit
division or external auditor before submission to the Board;

b) To review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees
and terms of engagement, and make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal
of external auditor; and

c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and
internal audit system and associated procedures, including
the adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programs and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function.

During the Year and up to the date of March 26, 2019, the Audit
Committee held 6 meetings to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control review. It had in conjunction
with Ernst & Young, the existing external auditor of the Company,
reviewed the Group’s the unaudited interim results for 2018
and audited annual results for the Year and recommended the
same to the Board for their consideration and approval. The
Audit Committee was of the opinion that the preparation of such
results complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosures have been made.
The Audit Committee also carried out and discharged its other
duties as set out in the CG Code.
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Details of attendance of the Audit Committee meetings are as

e M\Aiﬁﬂ:

ERBRERNLEFBLT

follows:

Directors Attendance
- HIERE
Mr. LIU Li (Chairman) 2Nk E (£FE) 6/6
Ms. LIU Hongyu I F L+ 6/6
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) Trakdd (FP2018FE3HA5HIEMT) 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng (appointed on March 5, 2018) 3Rig4 o4 (20183 A5 EE(E) 5/5

Remuneration Committee

The Board established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs and one
non-executive Director, namely Mr. FANG Yongzhong, Mr.
ZHANG Fusheng and Mr. LIU Li, the majority of them are INEDs.
Mr. FANG Yongzhong is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others:

a) To make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for remuneration of the Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing the remuneration
policy;

b) To review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and
objectives; and

c) To determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, or to make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management.
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During the Year and up to the date of March 26, 2019,
the Remuneration Committee held 5 meetings to review

RAEE REE201963H268 © HFME
EEgRTANEH  USHEZELNSRE

the remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior BAENFHEEURRAREMH - ERUE
management and relevant remuneration, performance systems of HIE o

the Company.

Details of attendance of the Remuneration Committee meetings FHEZEegEMEREFBOT

are as follows:

Directors Attendance
B= HERE
Mr. FANG Yongzhong (Chairman) KB AE (FEFE) 5/5
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) FraZe ket (R2018FE3A5HERMT) 1/1
Mr. ZHANG Fusheng (appointed on March 5, 2018) 3RiEA4 %4 (FA20185E3 A5 HEEF) 4/4
Mr. LIU Li & kit 5/5
Remuneration Policy of Directors EEHMBCR

Each Director has entered into service contract or letter of
appointment with the Company. Each executive Director is
entitled to an annual fixed fee (tax included) pursuant to the
service contract entered into with the Company. The fee includes,
among others, salaries, benefits, duty subsidies and pension
contribution as determined in accordance with the laws and
regulations of the PRC and the policy guidance issued by the
senior regulatory authorities as well as the duties, performance
and working experience of the executive Director. Meanwhile,
the executive Director is also entitled to management bonus as
determined by the Board or the Remuneration Committee with
reference to the overall operating results and performance of
the Company. The decision to grant such management bonus
was made by the general meeting or the Board under the
authorization of the general meeting. Each non-executive Director
and each INED is entitled to fixed subsidy, which is determined
with reference to the prevailing market price, pursuant to the
service contract or letter of appointment entered into with the
Company. Reasonable fees incurred by the Directors during their
services in the Company shall be borne by the Company.
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Nomination Committee

The Board established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
Nomination Committee comprises two INEDs and one Executive
Director, namely Ms. LIU Hongyu, Mr. FANG Yongzhong and Mr.
ZHANG Chun, the majority of them are INEDs. Mr. ZHANG Chun
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include, among
others:

a) To review the structure, size and composition of the Board
on a regular basis according to the operating activities,
asset size and equity structure of the Company and make
recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

b) To make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
re-appointment of and succession planning for Directors;

c) To identify candidates who are qualified/suitable to join the
Board and to select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of candidates nominated for directorships;

d) To assess the candidates for the senior management of the
Company and its wholly-owned and controlled subsidiaries,
and provide appraisal opinions to the Board; and

e) To assess the independence of the INEDs.

During the Year and up to the date of March 26, 2019, the
Nomination Committee meeting held 4 meetings to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board, to discuss and
assess the independence of the INEDs and review and make
recommendation on the appointment and re-election of the
third session of the Board members; and recommend the senior
management of the Company.

While the Nomination Committee dealt with matters by
participating in the Board meetings, among others, to discuss
and assess the independence of the INEDs.

"#ﬁvﬁiﬁth

REEES

EFEeRBECEXERATANIREREZE
g WAEHHITHEBESR - EREE
EHMEBBLIERNTEER —BRTES
HER BB FLZ L« HRkERENKE
S REAKERBBILIENITES - K
EREERRREZESER ©

RAZEBEZIEREBE (APEHE)

o MEAAFZEBED AERER
BERBERRTEEE RS B
R - RTEARRRBR LR
%

by REFZEAEHZERETHEM
EFEQRNER

o MEAER/BEAMAERSNHA
& WIFHEZEIBEREIRREL
ETAEREFRRLER

d FEARRREZERZEZENEBEA

Z%WEEAEA#'EW%%@&
HAEER &
e) FHEBYUIERITERZIBIIE -
NAREE RE E201963A260 » 124 %
BeRTNRes UEHEEaNR
%~ﬁﬁ&A;mﬁvﬁﬁ&¥%ﬁj#

HITEENBEUM  BHUREEE=E
EeRENZIRER M&L%QT%&
BEEAE -

REZBEENEBZ2HEEZECIRES
B EREE Aetwm S B IERTT
= S VA

A
ufﬁil

Annual Report 2018
2018F F 3}

177



178

Corporate Governance Report
=== ﬁﬁhb‘iﬁﬂ:

Details of attendance of the Nomination Committee meetings
are as follows:

REZBEERNLFEFBLT -

Directors Attendance
= HERE
Mr. SUN Bai (Chairman) BREE (FE) N/A

(resigned on January 12, 2018) (FA2018F1 A128 &) T EA
Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) RESE ()

(appointed on January 12, 2018) (7A2018F1 A12BEET) 4/4
Ms. LIU Hongyu R F 2+ 4/4
Mr. FANG Yongzhong FXBEE 4/4
Nomination Policy RABE

The key objective of the Nomination Policy shall include, among
others:

Selection Criteria

° Effect on the Board’s composition and diversity, including
but not limited to the candidate’s gender, age, cultural and
educational background, geographical location, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, etc.

° Commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to
effectively carry out his/her duties.

e Independence of the candidate.

° Potential or actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the
candidate is selected.

e Length of service of the independent non-executive Director
to be re-appointed.

e Provide consent in relation to their standing for election as
a non-executive Director and the public disclosure of their
personal data on any documents or the relevant website.
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° Nomination Committee may request candidates to provide
additional information and documents, if considered
necessary.

e give advice to the Board in relation to the succession plans
for directors.

Nomination Procedures

° Nomination Committee shall identify or select candidates
according to the selection criteria.

° Nomination Committee shall conduct assessment on
candidates, including but not limited to interviews and
background search, if necessary.

° Nomination Committee shall hold Nomination Committee
meeting to consider and resolve the matter on the
nomination.

° Nomination Committee shall recommend the holding of
general meeting and board meeting to consider and resolve
the matter on the nomination.

e Appointment of directors shall be made according to the
decision made during the general meeting and board
meeting.

Supervision and Review

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the supervision of
execution of this nomination policy, reviewing this nomination
policy and discussing on whether amendments shall be made
in due course, and giving advice to the Board in this regard.
Amendments shall be implemented only after the approval of the
Board.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Directors
has entered into a service contract with the Company on March
5, 2018 for a term commencing from the date of the general
meeting at which the respective executive Directors or non-
executive Directors were appointed, until the end of the term
of the third session of the Board and may be terminated in
accordance with the respective terms of the service agreements.

Each of the INEDs has signed a letter of appointment with the
Company on March 5, 2018 for a term commencing from the
date of the general meeting at which the respective INEDs were
appointed until the end of the term of the third session of the
Board.

None of the Directors has a service agreement which is not
terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors shall
be elected or replaced at the Shareholders’ general meetings
with a term of office of three years. Upon expiry of the term of
office, a director shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election
and re-appointment. Any person appointed by the Board to fill a
casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office
until the Company’s next AGM and that person shall then be
eligible for re-election and re-appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association and
the Nomination Policy. The Nominee Committee is responsible for
reviewing the Board composition, monitoring the appointment,
re-election and succession planning of Directors.

Strategy and Development Committee

The Strategy and Development Committee comprises two
Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director and one INED,
namely Mr. ZHANG Chun, Mr. HAN Xiaojun, Mr. YU Benli and
Mr. LIU LI. Mr. ZHANG Chun is the chairman of Strategy and
Development Committee.
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The primary duties of the Strategy and Development Committee
include, among others:

a) To conduct research in respect of, and formulating the
strategy and business development of our Company,
including the medium to long term plans, and supervising
the implementation of our Company’s strategic planning;

b) To present assessment reports on the implementation of our
Company’s strategic planning, management and business
development; and

c) To research and analyze major issues encountered by our
Company in the course of its development.

During the Year and up to the date of March 26, 2019, the
Strategy and Development Committee held 2 meetings to study
the business segments and future work plan of the Company.

Details of attendance of the Strategy and Development
Committee meetings are as follows:

e M\Aiﬁﬂ:

BREZXREZEGCIERERE (K1 E

&)

a) MARAMREEERERE (BT
RHIFTED BETMERSIEREE - I
EBANGREHAE B

b) BARRKRERE BELEBKER
Em2dHE®RE &

c) MERSMARBRER
MEKREIR -

BEFE

RAREE REE201943H268 » B s8R
BRLZEBERIT DR MEARF
TR M AR T 1ETE -

BREZERZESEENHFEFBOT

Directors Attendance
B=E HERE
Mr. SUN Bai (Chairman) RiagkE (£E) N/A

(resigned on January 12, 2018) (FA2018%1 128 &HL) TEA
Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) SEFERE (LE)

(appointed on January 12, 2018) (R2018F1 H12BEZE ) 2/2
Mr. HAN Xiaojun (appointed on March 5, 2018) BIET LA (A2018F3A5REZT) 2/2
Mr. YU Benli RABEE 2/2
Mr. LIU LI £kt 2/2

Operation and Risk Management Committee

The Operation and Risk Management Committee comprises one
Executive Director, one Non-Executive Directors and two INEDs,
namely Mr. HAN Xiaojun, Mr. YU Benli, Mr. FANG Yongzhong and
Mr. WU Tak Lung. Mr. YU Benli is the chairman of Operation and
Risk Management Committee.
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The primary duties of the Operation and Risk Management KEEBEERES
Committee include, among others: FEE)

a) To review and evaluate the progress of significant a) TWHRIFHERKE -
investments, operating activities, and significant business

operation;

ZEFIBIE

EEENE

b) To review and evaluate the decision making standards and b) Mﬁ&uﬂéﬁf’ﬁiﬁ BRI

mechanisms as regards significant operating decisions,
significant risks, significant events, and significant business

procedures; and

Bz ~ EK?IE&IE%%&VZJ&
%ZEE'J&T%%U P &

c) To establish sound and comprehensive risk management, c) BEREERANDEZERFEILBN

strategies and solutions in respect of the risk management
and internal control system with a view to ensuring the
effective and efficient operation of such system.

During the Year and up to the date of March 26, 2019, the
Operation and Risk Management Committee held 3 meetings
to discuss and consider the “Overall Risk Management Report

for 2018 and 2019 (2018X%2019F 2 AR & E k)" of the & o

&iﬁﬂﬁﬁ/\ E:EE N EXW&%L}:,}&E%S ’
LAHEIR RG0S A B RUELE -

NAREE RE E20199F3F260 » &4 8
BEBEREEE SR
FEH AN R BI20184F K2019F 2 M & [ & 12

//\Elu#k‘ J/\/{éq?ﬁ%&

Company.
Details of attendance of the Operation and Risk Management KEEEREREZESEENHFEFBEN
Committee meetings are as follows: N
Directors Attendance
= HERE
Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) KRS (/) N/A

(ceased on March 5, 2018) (A2018F3 A5HZILHEE) TEA
Mr. YU Benli (Chairman) RAREE (FF)

(appointed on March 5, 2018) (%2018@3)5]55?%%{3) 3/3
Mr. WANG Zhian (retired on March 5, 2018) B A (R2018F3A5HRM) N/A

N iE A

Mr. ZHOU Yamin FAEREE

(appointed on March 5, 2018 (FA2018F3ASAEZ T

and resigned on December 12, 2018) WH2018F 12 H12H & {E) 2/2
Mr. HAN Xiaojun BEESEE N/A

(appointed on December 21, 2018) (FA2018F 12 A21 HE R L) TEA
Mr. FANG Yongzhong TIKBEAE 1/1
Mr. WU Tak Lung (appointed on March 5, 2018) REERAE (R2018FE3A5BEET) 3/3
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves its decision-making right over all major
matters of the Company, including approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
system, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse
to seek independent professional advice in performing their duties
at the Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to
consult with the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to significant
transactions entered into by the management as defined under
the relevant Working Rules for the General Manager ({8432 T
TERRRID).

Corporate Governance Functions of the Board

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors which include:

a. To develop, review and implement the Company’s policy and
practices on corporate governance;

b. To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development to the Directors and senior
management;

c. To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

d. To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors;
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e. To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and e.

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

f.  To develop, review and monitor the implementation of f.
the Shareholders’ communication policy to ensure its
effectiveness, and make recommendation to the Board
where appropriate to enhance Shareholders’ relationship
with the Company.

WA REET (RRERTRD ki
XERMENBENGRBR &

HIE - R RERERBABRKNE
e ARER LR - W REE B T A
E=SRHMES  MMARRREARR
AIRYRAR -

Remuneration of Directors, Supervisors and Senior EE EERSNEEABNEHMH

Management

Particulars of the Directors’ and Supervisors’ remuneration for RFEEMEEREEFFBEHR TR
the Year are set out in note 8 to the financial statements in this A TSR R M RES -

annual report.

There were 7 employees being classified as senior management REFE HBE7TZREERHEERSREE
during the Year. Pursuant to code provision of B.1.5 of the CG AB o REBEGEERTREBASETFEIE
Code, the annual remuneration of the members of the senior X mREEAE (EERESRIN BF

management (other than the Directors and Supervisors) for the %

Year by band is set out below:

EFMEHNWT

Number of
Remuneration bands (RMB) individuals
FMER (ARW¥T) A
0 to 1,000,000 0%1,000,000 -
1,000,001 to 1,500,000 (Note 1) 1,000,001% 1,500,000 (#/7%1) 7
1,500,001 to 2,000,000 1,500,00122,000,000 -
2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,001 £2,500,000 -

Note 1: One of Senior Management was appointed in February 2018 and Wizt - B —(umAEE A BR2018F2A4

her remuneration has been paid by CMEC from February 2018.
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During the Year, no Directors, Supervisors or chief executives
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments, and no emoluments
were paid by the Group to the Directors, Supervisors, chief
executives or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for the Year, which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group’s results and cash flows for the year then ended and are
properly prepared on a going concern basis in accordance with
the applicable statutory requirements and accounting standards.

Pursuant to code provision C.1.1 of the CG Code, the
management provides such explanation and information to
the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other information put before the Board for approval.
The Company also provides the members of the Board with
monthly updates on the Company’s performance, financial
positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which
may affect the Company’s business or cast significant doubt
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Ernst & Young has also stated its reporting responsibility in
the independent auditor’s report of the consolidated financial
statements for the Year.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall and ongoing responsibility to maintain
sound and effective risk management and internal control systems
of the Company in order to manage rather than eliminate risk of
failure to achieve business objective, and to provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board executes the decision-making right over operation. It
endeavors to establish and improve the internal control policies
and plans and supervise the implementation of the internal
control system to safeguard shareholder investments and
Company assets, thus being responsible for the establishment
and supervision of the internal control system of the Company. It
is the responsibility of the Board to establish, improve, review and
effectively implement the internal control system.

In terms of management structure, the Company has optimized
the organizational structure and implemented a flat management.
The relevant functional departments are sufficiently staffed,
taking charge of financial operations and monitoring, internal
control, risk management, internal audit, anti-corruption and
production safety. In addition, the Company arranges reasonable
budgets to provide regular trainings for the staff of the Company
and its subsidiaries performing functions such as finance, risk
management and internal audit so as to ensure that they are fully
qualified and experienced.
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All departments are under direct leadership of the President and
management of the Company, who is thereby enable to report
instantly to the Board on the operations of each department
and problems received. Accordingly, any significant matter
(if subject to disclosure to the market) identified by the staff
could be reported to the management in a timely, accurate and
effective manner. The management of the Company assessed
such significant matter in accordance with internal management
requirements and procedures in a timely manner and made
corresponding decisions. The decisions of the management of
the Company could be implemented accurately and timely under
supervision.

In respect of legal compliance, in 2018, the Company established
a compliance steering group and general office for the
improvement of the Company's regulatory compliance matters.
We adhered to the integrated management and control of legal
risk prevention, compliance management and legal supervision.
We finished the amendments to several legal contract templates
and continued the enhancement of legal function.
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In 2018, the Company continued to strengthen the financial
management and kept on emphasizing the importance of budget
control. We advanced the overseas on-site financial management,
continuously improved the financial management and controlling
system of the local branches and encouraged geographical and
localized financial management. We continuously deepened our
frontline management and proactively engaged in preliminary
research and decision-making for the investment business.
Innovative financial management policies were implemented,
the centralized financial management standard was therefore
enhanced. The Company continued to strengthen the financial
foundation, upgrade our financial tools and implement efficient
management and control of various financial risks arose from the
Company's overseas capital payables and receivables and invoice
management through online overseas accounting and invoice
module, resulting in an advancement of the informatization of the
Company's financial management.

In 2018, the Company established a production safety
department and a production safety responsibility system. We
strengthened the monitoring and management of sources of
potential dangerous, the elimination of potential hazard and
the level of emergency aid, and enhanced our capability in
risk control and production safety assurance. We focused on
education and training in production safety, conducted 2 sessions
of safety training and made amendments to 13 relevant policies,
which led to a pass in the external supervision and review by
“Quality, Environment and Occupational health” systems.

In respect of export control, in 2018, the Company coped with
the risk arose from export control resulting from international
environment and Sino-US relationship proactively, and kept
track on the change in export control regulations. We completed
the first round of export control external assessment, and
incorporated the investment business into the scope of export
control management and assessment.
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong)
and the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside
information should be announced immediately when it is the
subject of a decision. The procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information are as follows:

e the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the
disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong in
June 2012;

e the Group has implemented and disclosed its policy on fair
disclosure by pursuing broad, non-exclusive distribution of
information to the public through channels such as financial
reporting, public announcements and its website;

e the Group has strictly prohibited unauthorized use of
confidential or inside information; and

e the Group has established and implemented procedures for
responding to external enquiries about the Group’s affairs,
so that only the Executive Directors, the Joint Company
Secretaries and investor relations officers are authorized to
communicate with parties outside the Group.

During the Year, the Board assessed the risk management and
internal control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries such
as financial control, operation control, compliance control and
risk management systems and was not aware of any material
problems or any material mistakes. The Board believes that
the current monitoring system of the Company is effective and
that the qualifications and experience of the staff performing
accounting and financial reporting functions and the training
programs of the Company as well as the experiences and
resources for setting the budget of the Company are adequate.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems will
be reviewed and assessed on an on-going basis by the Audit
Committee and Operation and Risk Management Committee,
respectively, which will report the same to the Board, and will be
further reviewed and assessed at least once each year by the
Board.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The audit department of the Company (the “Audit Department”)
adhered to risk-oriented strategy, strictly complied with the
auditing procedures, enhanced the auditing quality and ensured
the accomplishment of the audit target. Rectification was
furthered, therefore the internal auditing result could be obtained
efficiently and effectively. Audit information platform was improved
so as to raise the auditing efficiency.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, the remunerations (pre-tax) paid or payable to the
external auditors in respect of audit services and review service
amounted to RMB7.18 million and RMB2.40 million, respectively.
The amount for 2018 review service comprised the service fee
on review of interim financial statements. The Audit Committee
was satisfied that the review service in 2018 did not affect the
independence of the auditor.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

On February 12, 2018, Ms. WANG Weiling (“Ms. WANG”)
was appointed by the Board to succeed Mr. ZHOU, who
was resigned as the company secretary of the Company (the
“Company Secretary”) on February 12, 2018, act as one of
the joint Company Secretary, the secretary to the Board and the
authorised representative of the Company. She is responsible
for advising the Board on corporate governance matters and
ensuring that the Board policies and procedures, and the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. In order to
uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with
the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
has appointed Mr. KWOK Siu Man (“Mr. Kwok”), as its joint
Company Secretary to assist Ms. WANG to discharge her duties
as the Company Secretary. Details for the above change are set
out in the Company’s announcement published on February 12,
2018.

For the purpose of code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code, Mr.
Kwok keeps close contact with Ms. WANG, being the person
with sufficient seniority at the Company.

For the Year under review, Ms. WANG and Mr. Kwok has
undertaken 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In order to enhance transparency of the Company and facilitate
the Shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions relating to the Company, the Board adopted a dividend
policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”).

According to the Dividend Policy, when determining whether to
declare any dividend in the future and the amount of dividend to
be declared, the Company shall consider a number of factors,
including but not limited to:
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° results of operation;
° cash flows and financial condition;
e  operation and capital requirement;

e amount of distributable profit based on the generally
accepted accounting principles in the PRC or International
Financial Reporting Standards, whichever is lower; and

e statutory and contractual restrictions on the payment of
dividends by the Company.

In addition to the above, the Company can only distribute
dividends out of the after-tax profit after the following allocations
have been made: (i) recovery of accumulated losses, if any; (i)
mandatory allocations to the statutory common reserve fund
equivalent to 10% of the after-tax profit, unless the common
reserve fund reaches 50% of our registered capital or above; and
(i) allocations to discretionary common reserve fund, subject to
the Shareholders’ approval at the Shareholders meeting.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution proportion or distribution ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends will be subject to the PRC
laws, the Articles of Association and the Board’s discretion. The
Board will review the Dividend Policy on a regular basis.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, when the
Company convenes an AGM, Shareholders holding 3% or more
of the total voting shares of the Company shall be entitled to
propose new resolutions to the Company in writing which should
be submitted to the convener 10 days prior to the convening
of the general meeting. The convener of the general meeting
shall issue a supplemental notice of general meeting to other
Shareholders within 2 days of the receipt of such proposal and
incorporate such newly proposed matters falling within the scope
of duties of the general meeting into the agenda of such meeting.
The new agenda shall be tabled to the general meeting for
consideration.
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Shareholders can submit their written recommendations through
the following facsimile, e-mail or postal address:

Facsimile: 86 10 6332 1086

E-mail: ir@mail.cmec.com

Postal address: No. 178 Guang’anmenwai Street, Xicheng District,
Beijing, the PRC (Postal Code: 100055)

Pursuant to article 57 of the Articles of Association, general
meetings shall be convened where Shareholders who individually
or jointly hold 10% or more of the Shares make a request to
convene an extraordinary general meeting in writing. The matter
for consideration proposed by the party requesting the holding of
the extraordinary general meeting shall be included in the agenda
of such meeting.

As for proposing a person for election as a director, the
procedures are set out in the Articles of Association which is
available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted
on by poll based on shareholding pursuant to the Listing Rules
and poll results will be posted on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to Room 804,
8/F, Tower 1, South Sea Centre, 75 Mody Road, Tsimshatsui
East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, and provide sufficient contact
information for the timely and proper handling and record keeping
of the relevant enquiries.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

In 2012, the Company successfully completed its Listing in
Hong Kong. Through roadshow presentations around the globe,
its investor relations website, investor enquiry hotline, investor
mailbox and other communication channels, the Company
maintains close liaisons with investors worldwide in a timely
and efficient manner. Moreover, through investment forums,
corporate visits, teleconferences and various other channels, the
Company maintains proactive and frank exchanges with investors
and analysts. The Company has attached great importance to
listening to Shareholders and investors and accepting reasonable
suggestions and opinions from them. It strives to continuously
enhance its operating results, present a true picture of the
Company’s financial and operational status to Shareholders and
investors, actively facilitate the internal communications in respect
of the feedback from the capital market, and continuously perfect
and enrich the system aiming to canvass information in relation
to investor relations. The management over investor relations
involves an all-faceted interactive communication process.

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will
enable shareholders and investors to make informed investment
decisions. In 2018, the Company will gradually develop a
systematic structure of investor relations featured by its own
characteristics. The Company aims at actively participating in all
kinds of summits in capital market and strengthen communication
with investors, as well as strive to achieve timely and transparent
information disclosures.

The AGM provides opportunity for shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The Chairman, the President, the
chairman of each of the Board Committees and the external
auditor of the Company, Ernst & Young, will attend the AGM to
answer Shareholders’ questions.
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To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and its Shareholders and maintains a website at www.cmec.
com, where up-to-date information on the Company’s business
operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for
public access. The Company also maintained frequent contacts
with Shareholders and investors through various channels such
as meetings, telephone and emails. For example, we will convene
telephone meetings to answer enquiries from Shareholders and
investors, as well as arrange one-on-one conversation with
investors. In addition, we arranged on-site visits to the Group’s
projects and non-deal roadshows for investors and research
analysts.

The Company has adopted a shareholders’ communication
policy with the objective of ensuring that the Shareholders,
both individual and institutional shareholders (collectively, the
“Shareholder(s)”) and, in appropriate circumstances, the
investment community at large, are provided with ready, equal,
balanced and understandable information about the Company
(including its financial performance, strategic goals and plans,
material developments and governance) in a timely manner, for
the purpose of enabling the Shareholders to exercise their rights
in an informed manner, and allowing them and the investment
community to engage actively with the Company.

Information about the Company will be communicated to the
Shareholders and the investment community mainly through
the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports),
annual general meetings and other general meetings that
may be convened, as well as by making available all the
disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and its corporate
communications on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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INFORMATION DISCLOSURE

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing
Rules, and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the
public in accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. The
primary focus of the Company is to ensure information disclosure
is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and complete, thereby enabling
Shareholders, investors as well as the public to make rational and
informed decisions regarding the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

At the Second EGM, the amendments to the Articles of
Association were approved by the Shareholders. There is no
material change in the amendments to the Articles of Association.
An updated version of the Articles and Association is available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend the forthcoming AGM
and exercise their right to vote. Further details of business to be
conducted at the general meeting will be set out in the circular
and notice to the Shareholders to be sent and posted on the
respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in
due course.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board is pleased to present this report of the
Supervisory Board in the annual report of the Company for the
year ended December 31, 2018.

In 2018, all members of the Supervisory Board have practically
performed their supervisory functions to safeguard the rights and
interests of the Group and the Shareholders in accordance with
the Companies Law, the Articles of Associations, the Rules of
Procedures of the Supervisory Board and the relevant provisions
in the Listing Rules. Members of the Supervisory Board carried
out examination of the Company’s financial accounts and
supervision of the management of the Company, compliance in
operation, implementation of resolutions of the general meetings,
internal control, the Directors, the president and other senior
management for their compliance with the laws, administrative
regulations and the Articles of Association, etc in executing their
respective duties.

I. MEMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD AND
CHANGES IN MEMBERS DURING THE REPORTING
PERIOD

The third session of the Supervisory Board of the Company
comprises Mr. QUAN Huagiang, Mr. QIAN Xiangdong and
Ms. LIU Ting. Their term of service commenced on March 5,
2018 until the expiration of the term of third session of the
Supervisory Board.

As announced by the Company on January 12, 2018,
Ms. LIU Ting has been elected as the staff representative
Supervisor for the third session of the Supervisory Board at
the employees’ general meeting. And at the extraordinary
general meeting held on March 5, 2018, Mr. QUAN Huagiang
and Mr. QIAN Xiangdong have been re-elected as the
Shareholder representative Supervisors for the third session
of the Supervisory Board. At the first meeting of the third
session of the Supervisory Board held on March 5, 2018, Mr.
QUAN Huagiang has been re-elected as the chairman for the
third session of the Supervisory Board. Mr. QUAN Huagiang,
Mr. QIAN Xiangdong and Ms. LIU Ting have formed the
third session of the Supervisory Board. Their term of service
commenced on March 5, 2018 until the expiration of the
term of third session of the Supervisory Board.
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EEg®RE

MEETINGS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

During the year of 2018 and up to the date of this annual
report (being March 26), five meetings of the Supervisory
Board were held.

On January 12, 2018, the Company held the tenth meeting
of the second session of the Supervisory Board to consider
and recommend the candidates for the third session of the
Supervisory Board of the Company.

On March 5, 2018, the Company held the first meeting of the
third session of the Supervisory Board to elect chairman for
the third session of the Supervisory Board of the Company.

On March 26, 2018, the Company held the second meeting
of the third session of the Supervisory Board to consider
the 2017 audited financial report and the 2017 results
announcement of the Company and the 2017 report of the
Supervisory Board of the Company.

On August 29, 2018, the Company held the third meeting of
the third session of the Supervisory Board to consider the
2018 unaudited interim financial report and the 2018 interim
results announcement of the Company.

On March 26, 2019, the Company held the fourth meeting
of the third session of the Supervisory Board to consider
the 2018 audited financial report and the 2018 results
announcement of the Company and the 2018 report of the
Supervisory Board of the Company.
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Report of the Supervisory Board
EEERE

v

Ill. INDEPENDENT OPINION ISSUED BY THE = EEeRnEREERRNEY
SUPERVISORY BOARD ON RELEVANT =R
MATTERS

Management of the Company

The Board of the Company, both collectively and
individually, have earnestly performed their duties
with integrity and diligence, and each Director has
earnestly understood the operation of the Company
and thoroughly discussed the Company’s affairs before
making decisions. The management of the Company
faithfully fulfilled their duties and responsibilities as
stipulated in the laws, regulations and the Articles of
Association, and earnestly implemented the resolutions
approved by the Board. Facing with the harsh and
complicated market environment, the management
has actively taken challenges and earnestly performed
their duties according to their terms of reference and
implemented the decisions of the Board in a scientific
way. Till now, the Supervisory Board did not discover
that the Board and senior management had abused
their rights and functions or any of their actions that
were prejudicial to the interests of the Company,
Shareholders and staff of the Company, or in any
way violated the laws, regulations and the Articles of
Association.
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Operation of the Company

In 2018, the Company strictly complied with the laws
and regulations, operated in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The Company managed to achieve satisfying
results in areas of operation, cost control, project
origination, implementation and management, internal
management, work safety and market expansion,
resulting in a strong and excellent company which laid a
solid foundation for the smooth and faster development.
The Company further improved the systems of internal
controls, and enhanced, in particular, the system of
business processes and responsibility assignment of all
functional departments of the Company, making further
progress in corporate governance.

Implementation of the resolutions of General
Meetings

In 2018 and up to the date of this annual report, the
members of the Supervisory Board attended five general
meetings and sit in on twenty meetings of the Board,
exercising supervision in respect of the lawfulness and
compliance of the procedures of the matters considered
by the Board meetings.

The Supervisory Board made no objection to the
reports and motions tabled at the general meetings and
considered that the Board earnestly implemented the
resolutions approved by the general meetings.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Financial matters of the Company

Members of the Supervisory Board monitored and
examined the financial management system and the
financial condition and reviewed relevant financial
information of the Company. Upon examination, the
Supervisory Board concluded that the Company
had strictly complied with the relevant financial laws,
regulations and financial policies, and that the financial
system has an integrated structure; the financial
management system was sound and implemented
effectively; the accounting treatment was in line with
the consistency principles; and the Company’s financial
reports gave an objective and fair view of the financial
position and operating results of the Company.

The Supervisory Board reviewed the unqualified audit
opinions issued by Ernst & Young (& 7k & &t fifl & 7%
FT) and Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP (Special General
Partnership) (ZkERR S EEHT (IFHREEAHE)) in
respect of the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018
prepared in accordance with IFRS and Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises of the PRC
respectively, and raised no objection to such reports.

Internal control of the Company

Members of the Supervisory Board monitored and
examined the internal control of the Company and
reviewed relevant internal control information of
the Company. Upon review, the Supervisory Board
concluded that the Company was under the effective
management of the Board and the management during
the reporting period, and the Company continued to
improve the internal control system and improve the
risk management and control capabilities, ensuring
the regulated and stable operation of the Company.
The Supervisory Board considered that the evaluation
report of the internal control of the Company was
comprehensive and objective and in line with the actual
situation of the Company.
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Information disclosure system

Members of the Supervisory Board monitored and
examined the Company’s information disclosure system
and reviewed relevant documents of the Company
for public disclosure. Upon review, the Supervisory
Board concluded that, during the reporting period,
the Company’s information disclosure and other
management processes strictly abided by the Listing
Rules and the rules of the Company’s information
disclosure system, and disclosed relevant information
in a lawful, timely and comprehensive manner, and no
false information was found. The Supervisory Board
also did not discover that the Directors, Supervisors
and senior management, as well as relevant inside
information insiders, had used inside information to buy
and sell stocks and harm the interests of the Company
and Shareholders.

Connected transactions

The Supervisory Board reviewed the connected
transactions between the Group and connected persons
during the reporting period, and was of the opinion
that all the connected transactions complied with the
relevant requirements of the Stock Exchange, and that
the pricing and terms of the connected transactions
was reasonable, open and fair and there was not any
matter prejudicial to the interests of the Company or
Shareholders.
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Report of the Supervisory Board

Others

Members of the Supervisory Board participated in
the review of the annual performance appraisal of the
Company’s management. Upon review, the Supervisory
Board of the Company concluded that the annual
performance appraisal of the Board on the management
was conducted strictly in accordance with the appraisal
procedures approved by the Company’s Articles of
Association and the general meeting. The Supervisory
Board made no objection to the appraisal results.

In 2019, the Supervisory Board will continue to
carry out its fiduciary duties to implement effective
supervision on the Company, its Directors and senior
management in accordance with the relevant provisions
of the Companies Law, the Articles of Association, the
Rules of Procedures of the Supervisory Board and the
Listing Rules and pay close attention to the operation
and management status of the Company as well as
any significant development of the Company, so as
to facilitate the profit growth of the Company and to
dutifully protect the interests of all Shareholders and the
Company. In addition, the Supervisory Board will further
consolidate resources for supervision so as to enhance
our management, helping and ensuring the realization of
the Company’s targets for all works in 2019.

By Order of the Supervisory Board
QUAN Huaqgiang
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Beijing, the PRC, March 26, 2019
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. ZHANG Chun ((RZE L %)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 50, is currently the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director and the Secretary of the Party
Committee of the Company. Mr. ZHANG was appointed as
executive Director and the president of the Company on
March 16, 2012. Following his appointment as the chairman
of the Board on January 12, 2018, he has ceased to serve
as the president of the Company same date. He has more
than 20 years of management experience. In July 1991, he
joined China National Electric Equipment Corporation (4
HEILRELANT]), the predecessor of CNEEC, as a sales
representative and worked in that company until August
1993. Mr. ZHANG then joined our Company, and held various
positions from August 1993 to May 2002, including sales
representative, project manager, representative and chief
representative of the Representative Office of our Company
in Bangladesh. After returning to China, Mr. ZHANG joined
China National Machinery & Equipment Corporation Group
(PR (£E) A7), the predecessor of SINOMACH,
in May 2002 as the director of the department of operational
management. Mr. ZHANG later became the director of the
department of engineering and served at that position until
August 2011. Mr. ZHANG was the vice president of our
Company from August 2011 until March 2012. From March
2014 to January 2019, Mr. ZHANG has been acting as
chairman of CNEEC. From February 21, 2012 to December
6, 2018, Mr. ZHANG served as the Deputy Secretary of the
Party Committee of the Company; and has been serving as
the Secretary of the Party Committee of the Company from
December 6, 2018.

In 1991, Mr. ZHANG graduated from Tsinghua University (/&
#= K2 with a bachelor’s degree in thermal engineering. Mr.
ZHANG is a professorate senior engineer.
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Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and

Employees

EE B eRXEEAEREER

Mr. HAN Xiaojun (BREEE £t &)

Mr. HAN, aged 50, he is currently the executive Director,
President and Deputy Secretary of the Party Committee
of the Company. Mr. HAN was appointed as an executive
Director and Vice Chairman on March 5, 2018 and the
President on December 21, 2018, and no longer as Vice
Chairman on the same day. He has more than 20 years of
management experience. From July 1990 to June 1995, he
served as an officer at Beijing Silk Plant (1t #4448 425%). From
June 1995 to July 2002, he worked at Chinese Academy
of Agricultural Mechanization Sciences as an engineer. Mr.
HAN joined China National Machinery and Equipment (Group)
Company* (4 Bl # # %< & (% [B) 2 7l), the predecessor
of SINOMACH, in July 2002 and successively held the
positions of an officer at the business coordination office
of the operational management department, an officer
(director-level) at the general management office of the
general management department, chief of the cadres
management office of the human resources department
(cadres division of the Party Committee), deputy director
of the human resources department (cadres division of
the Party Committee), the director of the human resources
department (organization division of the Party Committee),
the director of the work department of the Party Committee,
and from October 2008 to September 2011, he also
concurrently served as the secretary of General Party Branch
of the headquarters of SINOMACH. In April 2015, Mr. HAN
was transferred to China National Automotive Industry
International Cooperation* (F B9 E TEFHEAEER A
A]), which was subsequently renamed as China National
Machinery Industry International Co., Ltd.* (F B# % B B
B1ERADBBR AR, to serve as the secretary of the Party
Committee, a director and general manager until January
2018. From December 2017 to December 6, 2018, he
has served as the secretary of the Party Committee of the
Company, and from December 6, 2018, he served as the
deputy secretary of the Party Committee of the Company.
Since February 2010, Mr. HAN has also served as a member
of the Party Committee of SINOMACH.

From January 2009 to January 2011, Mr. HAN had served as
a director of China National Machinery & Equipment Import
& Export Corporation, the predecessor of the Company.
From September 2010 to July 2013, he had served as the
chairman of the supervisory board of China Foma (Group)

Co., Ltd* (PR F#MEE AR A).
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In 1990, Mr. HAN graduated from Tianjin Polytechnic
University with a bachelor’s degree in textile machinery of the
department of mechanical engineering. He is a professorate
senior engineer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. YU Benli (R4 % 4)

Mr. YU, aged 66, is currently a non-executive Director of the
Company, and was appointed on February 20, 2014. He
has more than 30 years of experience in machinery industry.
From June 1977 to December 1979, Mr. YU served at The
People’s Bank of China, Nanjing Branch. From December
1979 to October 1983, he served at Jiangsu Machinery
Equipment Import & Export Corporation (T %k i 5% 15 i
i O 2 &), a subsidiary of the Company. From October
1983 to January 1988, Mr. YU served at Sino American
Machinery Corporation (3B ZEE# %GR A 7)), a subsidiary
of the Company and was stationed in the United States.
From January 1988 to April 2013, he served at SUMEC
Group Corporation (TEi&EZLE /A F]), a subsidiary of
SINOMACH and the predecessors of which are Jiangsu
Machinery Equipment Import & Export Corporation (I ##i#
W% A3 H 072 7)) and China Jiangsu Machinery Equipment
Import & Export Corporation (FF %L &k M =8 5 B O &=
&~ F]). He held a number of positions including assistant
general manager, deputy general manager, general manager
and chairman. From May 2012 to December 2018, Mr. YU
served as the chairman of China Perfect Machinery Industry
Corp., Ltd. (FEUEE#M TR M BRAR]), a subsidiary
of SINOMACH. Currently, Mr. YU is also a director of China
National Machinery Industry International Co., Ltd. (FF BI#4
Bl & ERR (D B R A F)), a subsidiary of SINOMACH. Mr. YU
has resigned as the chairman of China Machine Tool Sales
and Technology Services Co., Ltd. (F EI# K 4 & B = 1T AR 75
BBR A7), a subsidiary of SINOMACH, in February 2014,

Mr. YU graduated from Nanjing Jinling Vocational University
(PR EPEREAE) with a degree in business operation.
He is a senior international business specialist.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Mr. ZHANG Fusheng (3RB4 5t &)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 67, is currently a non-executive Director
of the Company, and was appointed on February 20, 2014.
He has more than 30 years of experience in equipment
manufacturing industry. He began his career with Zhejiang
Automotive Industrial Corporation (47L& /38 I % A 7))
in July 1980 and was promoted to assistant manager in
August 1986. In April 1988, Mr. ZHANG was appointed
as deputy county magistrate of Zhejiang Province Yongjia
County People’s Government (/T & 7k 22 %% A R ). From
May 1990 to August 1998, he held the positions of deputy
general manager and general manager of China Automotive
Industrial Import & Export Zhejiang Branch (I RE T2
# W OWTTAR]), a subsidiary of SINOMACH. From August
1998 to February 2012, he was the general manager of
China Automotive Import & Export Corporation (FF ;7 i
H O 422 7)), a subsidiary of SINOMACH.

Mr. ZHANG was the chairman of China National Machinery
Industry International Co., Ltd. (FEI#HBEBEEERHN B
[R/27]), a subsidiary of SINOMACH from February 2012
to December 2018. Mr. ZHANG was a director of CNEEC,
a subsidiary of SINOMACH from November 2, 2011 to
January 2016, and a director of CNCEC from December 29,
2011 to November 25, 2016. Mr. ZHANG was a director of
Beijing Xianglong Assets Management Co., Ltd (1t FFERE
BEKLSHBEELQT) from February 2015 to December
2018. Since June 2016, Mr. ZHANG was a director of China
CAMC Engineering Co., Ltd. (FTEETERMHABMRAFA), a
company listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
002051).

In 2000, Mr. ZHANG graduated from Wuhan University
of Technology (2 T X&) with a master’s degree in
business administration. Mr. ZHANG is a professorate senior
engineer.

REBELESLE

R HE - RF6ETER - RAEXRRQAIE
MITESE - WHR2014F2[20HEZL
foREERBBBIOFHREBRE
TR B o SRS HEPA19804F7 A 3t Bk
AT EABIE AR - WH1986%F
SAEF ABIKIE - 1988F4 7 » 3R
ERERANIE XEBRARBNE
% & 2 199045H E199848H » &
EEDRBNPETETEEL M
IRR (BB AR) - BRI
438 N 4R 4838 0 19988 A 20124
2R REAGEERETEENDA
NE (BEAREBAT) R -

20122 A E2018F 127 » REAEE
EAPBEWERSERNDBRAF
(BB AR) EER - B20114F
11820 £2016F18 > R&E A& B
FHREL (BB AR) EF - I
#2011F12 5290 £20169F 11 A25
H EEPKEES - H20155F2H
Z2018F 127 » kA EEFIL R
BELEHRETRARES - 52016
FOAES  REABRFERIESLR
SR ETOPTIERTERMERA
A) (JRERTE : 002051) MES -

2000F » RALEBENHRERTK
2 EEINEERETSEM - REE
R B2 HIIZM -

Annual Report 2018
2018F F 3}

207



208

Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and
Employees
55 -ES - sAEBEABKEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. LIU Li (21 4)

Mr. LIU, aged 63, is currently an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, and was appointed on January
13, 2011. He was a teacher at the department of physics,
the Beijing Institute of Iron and Steel (tF$M#EZT) from
September 1984 to January 1986. From January 1986 to
date, Mr. LIU has been holding various teaching positions
at the Guanghua School of Management (J¢#E & I £7),
and its predecessor, the department of economics of the
school of economics and management (4575 &2 f 48 75 & 18
%), Peking University, including lecturer, associate professor,
professor, supervisor for doctoral students, the director of
the finance department and a director of the MBA program
at the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University.
Mr. LIU is also a deputy director of the Research Center of
Finance & Securities at Peking University.

Currently, Mr. LIU is also an independent non-executive
director of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (3@EETTHZ
HABEMR AT, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3328) and an independent
non-executive director of China International Capital
Corporation Limited (B B[ < 5 % 1D B R 2 7)) (stock
code: 3908). Besides, he is nominated as the chairman of
Corporate Governance Committee and the members of both
Audit Committee and Risk Control Committee. He is also
an independent director of Success Electronics Ltd (FJE
BETRMHBER AR (stock code: 002289) and Cnpc Capital
Company Limited (FEABEEERRKRDERADF) (stock
code: 000617), both of which were listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange.

In addition, Mr. LIU had been an independent director of
Langfang Development Co., Ltd. (EE¥i3REHD AR A7),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600149), and Beijing Oil HBP Group (EH=EBE &
R AR AR, a company listed on Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002554) during the past three years.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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In 1982 and 1984, Mr. LIU graduated from Peking University
with a bachelor’'s degree and a master’s degree in physics,
respectively. Mr. LIU is also a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (non-practicing).

Ms. LIU Hongyu (B4 £ £)

Ms. LIU, aged 55, is currently an independent non-executive
Director of the Company and was appointed on January
13, 2011. From July 1985 to May 1988, she served as an
officer at the financial management office of the People’s
Bank of China Sichuan branch (I8)11%& A R$R17). From May
1988 to April 1993, Ms. LIU served as a legal counsel for
the Agricultural Bank of China (Beijing Branch) and from
April 1993 to April 2004, she was the managing partner at
Beijing Tongda Law Firm (bR REEZEENEBA). In 2004,
Beijing Tongda Law Firm and Jincheng Law Firm (&3 @2A0 =
7% FT) merged and the merged firm was renamed as Beijing
Jincheng & Tongda Law Firm (b = & & 7 & 2 8 = % A1)
where Ms. LIU became one of its founding partners. From
April 2005 to June 2011, Ms. LIU served as an independent
director of Founder Technology Group Corporation (5 IE
B EERHB AR AT), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600601). From June 2006 to
June 2012, Ms. LIU served as an independent director of
Chongaging Three Gorges Water Conservancy and Electric
Power Co., Ltd (EE =B /KFE N (£E) BRHBR A
A]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600116). From June 2009 to September
10, 2015, Ms. LIU served as an independent director of
CCCG Real Estate Corporation Limited (Ff %2 i 2 B% 1 A
R 7)) (previously named as CRED-Chongshi Real Estate
Corporation Limited (FFE#E 1D B R A 7)), a company
listed on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000736).
From August 2010 to August 2016, Ms. LIU served as an
external supervisor of the Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. (It =ik
TR AR A A)), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
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Exchange (stock code: 601169). Currently, Ms. LIU is an
independent director of Lanpec Technologies Limited (H
BRENALESFHEEKRMDBERRQF]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601798), and
the Bank of Beijing Co., Ltd. (At REEITRMHBR A R]), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 601169), and an independent non-executive director
of Gome Electrical Appliances Holding Limited (352 8542 %
BRAT]), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 00493).

In 1985, Ms. LIU graduated from Southwest University of
Political Science and Law (FRBUEAEZ) with a bachelor’s
degree in law. She graduated from the Graduate School of
the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences (¥ Bt & &l £ i
FLAERT) in economic law in 1998. Ms. LIU also obtained an
EMBA degree from the Guanghua School of Management,
Peking University in 2003.

Mr. FANG Yongzhong (7 K 5% )

Mr. FANG, aged 67, is currently an independent
non-executive Director of the Company, and was appointed
on July 29, 2011. In September 1971, he joined the
construction machinery factory of the Shenyang Railway
Bureau (B[5iE 08 B THMIR). Mr. FANG then joined the
engineering department of the Shenyang Railway Bureau (&
[ i3858 % T2 ) and held a number of positions within
the bureau including technician, assistant engineer, engineer,
vice section chief, section chief, vice departmental director
and departmental director between February 1977 and
August 1994,

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Mr. FANG was appointed as a vice director of the Shenyang
sub-bureau of the Shenyang Railway Bureau in August 1994
and between August 1994 and December 1999, he was
also general manager of Shenyang Engineering Corporation
of the Shenyang Railway Bureau. From December 1999 to
December 2003, Mr. FANG served at Shenyang Railway
Engineering Construction Group Co., Ltd. (EFZEK T2
EREER AR as the chairman of the board and general
manager. From December 2003 to March 2008, Mr. FANG
held various positions at China Railway No.9 Group Co., Ltd.
(P L BEBEAER AR including director, deputy general
manager and vice chairman of the board of directors.
From March 2008 to December 2012, Mr. FANG was also
an external director of China Railway Science & Industry
Group (FEIRITEEHER QA (“CRSIG”), China Railway
No. 5 Engineering Group Co., Ltd. (F# A R(EE)A R
A 7)) (“China Railway No.5 Bureau”), China Overseas
Engineering Group Co., Ltd. (FEENTREREML R A)
(“COVEC”) and China Railway & Airport Construction Group
Corporation (FEF#Hz=EEREEERAF) (“CACCC”)
and is a supervisor and the chairman of the supervisory
board of China Railway Construction and Engineering Group
(P#HETEBEARAR) (“CRCEG’). These five companies
are subsidiaries of China Railway Group Limited (FF 2 8
{7 EBR A &]), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 00390) and the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 601390).

As an external director, Mr. FANG participates in board
meetings of CRSIG, China Railway No.5 Bureau, COVEC
and CACCC, representing the interests of the respective
shareholder, China Railway Group Limited. However, Mr.
FANG is not involved in the day to day management of
CRSIG, China Railway No.5 Bureau, COVEC and CACCC.
As a supervisor and the chairman of the supervisory board of
CRCEG, Mr. Fang participates in meetings of the supervisory
board and the board of directors of CRCEG, representing
the interests of the shareholder, China Railway Group
Limited. However, Mr. FANG is not involved in the day to day
management of CRCEG.

7 R19944F8 A AT AIEG #1%
BEESRBRIBEK - WMN199448A
£1999F 12 AN EG K BHER T
BB NRETLRLLIE - 719999128
F2003F12A M HAEENMAERE
HRIEEREEERARELES
R IR - £2003%F12 7 £2008
FAME  FRERTPHENBREEREA
RAREETRBRE  2FEF &
BwIgBREIZEE RS - 7120085 3A
F2012F 128 FRENRZFEHF
TEEERAE ((FERNIEHR]) -
RELE (EE) BRAR (THER
B -+ BEENTEAERITTRF
([FEEHNIRLF]) RPBEFEMR
EEEREEERAA ([PETEM
ERERAT] WINEES - KFE
BEISEABRAF ([FEEISEH])
MEEREERXE EARAAAE
EBRFERE EBBEHFZ ST LT
B R B AR ( B IR A F) (B 22 FTAR
B 00390 LIFBEHER ST
ZRH - 601390) WIMEAA] -

ERINBESE - FEEDRIRERRE
PREFERDBRARNEZ 28
FEBMTER - RERB - PRGN
IRARRPEPHEHMEBERZAQR
WEEEGR - A FRETRHE
FEBTE® - REARF - PRGN
IRARRPEPEHMESERZDR
WERER ERTEHEISEMNE
EREFEER  FEERKRRES
BEAHEROERARMNER - 28Ep
BETEBNESTERESTTEH -
A FEETL2EFEEIEER
AEERE -

Annual Report 2018
2018F F 3}

211



212

Mr. FANG completed his studies in railway engineering (L2
REE TR EE) and graduated from the Shanghai Railway
Institute (F /& & & 2 %) in 1977, and also obtained an
EMBA in decision-making management from International
East-West University (3= BERAIAXERKERSD)
in December 1995. Mr FANG is a senior engineer and a
registered national first class architect.

Mr. WU Tak Lung (REE £ 4)

Mr. WU, aged 53, is currently an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, and was appointed on February
20, 2014. He is a member of Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of Hong
Kong Securities and Investment Institute, the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute
of Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered
Secretaries. Mr. WU was awarded the bachelor’s degree of
Accounting by the Hong Kong Baptist University and the
master’s degree of business administration (MBA) jointly by
the University of Manchester and the University of Wales.

Mr. WU had worked in an international accounting firm,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, for five years, and was then
employed by several listed and private companies in Hong
Kong as head of corporate finance and executive director.
Mr. WU currently served as an independent non-executive
director of Kam Hing International Holdings Limited (&%
BRI AR A R]), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2307), Beijing Media
Corporation Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1000), Sinomax Group
Limited (% EBR A7), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1418), Olympic
Circuit Technology Co., Ltd (ER B ERK B K BR A
Al), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 603920) and Henan Jinma Energy Company
Limited (A2 HaEIRRMDBIRAF), a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6885).
Moreover, he was an independent non-executive director of
Aupu Group Holding Company (BZ£EZERERAR]), a

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0477), which was delisted on September 30,
2016, Huarong Investment Stock Corporation Limited (3
IR ER M ERAF), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2277) and First Tractor
Company Limited (5 —# R # XD B R 2 7)), a company
listed on both the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 00038), and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 601038), Sinotrans Shipping Limited (F4MNEMER
R /A7R]), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 368) in the last three years.

Mr. WU is currently a member of Jiangsu People’s Political
Consultative Committee, member of the Council and the
Court of Hong Kong Baptist University, an adjunct professor
of the School of Business of Hong Kong Baptist University,
the honorary chairman of the North Kwai Chung Scout and
the vice chairman of Hongkong-Guangdong Youth Exchange
Promotion Association.

SUPERVISORS
Mr. QUAN Huagiang (& %58 5 4)

Mr. QUAN, aged 48,
appointed on January 13, 2011.

is currently a Supervisor, and was
He worked in the finance
department of Beijing Yanshan Petrochemical Corporation
Jb R Am L T A ) from August 1991 to July 1994.
From July 1994 to October 1997, Mr. QUAN was initially
employed as an accountant and then in May 1995, he
became manager of the finance department of Universal
Import and Export Company (F # 38 F ¥t O 2 &) 81 7% 56)
until October 1997. Mr. QUAN was appointed by China
National Machinery Import & Export Corporation (“CMC”)
(Fp B # 4 3 & O £ B) as finance manager for the CMC
Ukraine Office in October 1997 and worked there until
January 1999, and then was appointed as manager of the
finance department of CMC General Electrical Parts Import
and Export Company (F ## % i 4F# 1 0 A 7)) by CMC
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until May 2001. In May 2001, Mr. QUAN was appointed
by China General Technology Group (#F B 3& A 1l & &)
as general manager of the finance department of China
International Advertising Corporation (& RES R A
817536 and subsequently was appointed as manager of
the funds management department of the general finance
department of China General Technology Group in May
2004. From March 2005 to December 2006, Mr. QUAN
served at Sinomach Finance Co., Ltd. (B # Bt #% B R &
ff A &) as a deputy general manager. From September
2010 to August 2011, Mr. QUAN was the chairman of the
Supervisory Board of China Automobile Trading Co., Ltd.
(PR OREZ S ER2DA). Mr. QUAN had worked as
the head of the internal audit inspection department of
SINOMACH from December 2006 to May 2015. From May
2015 to the present, Mr. QUAN has been working as the
head of Property and Finance Department of SINOMACH.
From April 2016 to the present, Mr. QUAN has been working
as a member of the Standing Committee of the CPC of
China National Erzhong Group Co. (FE 5 — S8 &
E /7)) and the chief accountant of China Erzhong Group
(Deyang) Heavy Industries Co., Ltd. (ZE%£E ({£k5) 8%
EWR DB R A 7). Since October 2018, Mr. QUAN has been
working as vice chief accountant of SINOMACH. Mr. QUAN
has also been serving as the chairman of the Supervisory
Board of the Company since November 2008. Since August
2011, Mr. QUAN is a chairman of the Supervisory Committee
of Sinomach Automobile Co., Ltd. (B#SERMNER A F),
a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600335).

In 1991, Mr. QUAN graduated from the Jiangxi Institute of
Finance and Economics (T7FAE/4£E367) with a bachelor’s
degree in accounting. Mr. QUAN is a senior accountant.
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Mr. QIAN Xiangdong (#2653 % &)

Mr. QIAN, aged 50, a senior accountant, is a Supervisor,
and was appointed on January 13, 2011. He joined the
Education Department of the Ministry of Machinery Industry
in June 1997. From September 1998 to August 2006, Mr.
QIAN held various positions, including the Financial and
Audit Department officer, vice manager, vice chief accountant
and deputy general manager at China National Harvester
Machinery Corporation (1 Bl # % 482 7]), a subsidiary of
SINOMACH. From September 2006 to September 2008, Mr.
QIAN served as a financial controller of the Tianjin Design
& Research Institute of Electric Drive (X2 REShRTHF
ZTFT), a subsidiary of SINOMACH. From 2008 to October
2016, Mr. QIAN served as a deputy general manager and
chief financial officer of China United. From October 2016 to
February 2019, Mr. QIAN served as a director, vice chairman
and chief financial officer of this company and since February
2019, Mr. QIAN has been serving as a director and the
deputy secretary of the Party Committee of Hi-Tech Group
Corporation (FEI1EXEEH R A A).

Ms. LIU Ting (25 Z 1)

Ms. LIU, aged 37, was appointed as a Supervisor on January
12, 2018. She is the deputy general manager of the audit
department of the Company. She served as a staff member
of the project auditing division of the Company from August
2006 to September 2009. In September 2009, she started
as a staff member of the audit department of the Company,
and was subsequently promoted to deputy general manager
of the audit department. Ms. LIU has over 10 years of
experience in accounting and auditing. Ms. LIU graduated
from School of Business, Renmin University of China (4 El
ARKEZRER) with a bachelor’s degree in management
in 2004, majoring in accounting, and obtained a master’s
degree in management from Renmin University of China
(FFE AR KE) in 2006. Ms. LIU is a senior accountant, a
Chinese certified public accountant, a Certified Practising
Accountant (Australia) and an international certified internal
auditor.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. ZHANG Jianguo (RZE 5t 4%)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 58, is a vice president of our Company
and is in charge of our Company’s trade and other business.
Prior to joining our Company, Mr. ZHANG was a lecturer at
Peking University (It FXAZ2) from July 1987 to May 1991.
In May 1991, Mr. ZHANG joined our Company and he was
appointed as a deputy general manager of the department
of human resources and education of our Company in June
1993. Mr. ZHANG was subsequently promoted as a vice
director of the general office of our Company and held that
position from December 1993 to January 1998. In 1998,
Mr. ZHANG was appointed as a deputy general manager of
CMEC Tendering, and was promoted to the general manager
thereof in July 2001 and held that position until June 2007.
In March 2005, Mr. ZHANG was also appointed as an
assistant general manager of our Company. Mr. ZHANG has
been a vice president of our Company since May 2006. Mr.
ZHANG is a senior economist and graduated from Peking
University with a master’s degree in history in 1987.
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Mr. WANG Tianyi (EF XE % 4)

Mr. WANG, aged 58, is currently secretary of the discipline
inspection committee (appointed in December 2013). He
is responsible for discipline inspection and supervision. Mr.
WANG has over 30 years of experience in corporate and
financial management. Mr. WANG joined our Company
in January 2014. Before joining our Company, during the
period from October 1980 to August 1988, Mr. WANG
served at the business division of the finance department
under the Ministry of First Machinery Industry and the
auditing division directly under the auditing bureau of the
National Machinery Industry Committee. From August 1988
to April 1993, Mr. WANG served as the deputy director of
the office of the auditing bureau of National Audit Office in
the Ministry of Mechanical and Electronic Industry and the
chief of the general division of such auditing bureau. From
April 1993 to May 1998, Mr. WANG served as the chief of
the auditing division directly under the auditing bureau of
National Audit Office in MMI. Thereafter, Mr. WANG served
as the deputy general manager of the auditing department,
the deputy general manager of the financial department and
the chief of the first financial division, the general manager
of the financial department and the director of asset financial
department in China National Machinery and Equipment
(Group) Company (F B # ik ##& (5 E) 2 &) during the
period from May 1998 to October 2003. During the period
from October 2003 to December 2010, Mr. WANG served as
deputy general manager, financial controller and secretary of
the discipline inspection committee of China National Electric
Equipment Corporation. During the period from December
2010 to January 2014, Mr. WANG served as deputy general
manager, financial controller and secretary of the discipline
inspection committee of China National Electric Engineering
Co., Ltd.. From January 2014 to December 2018, Mr. Wang
served as Secretary of the Discipline Commission and Vice
President of the Company. Mr. WANG graduated from the
Correspondence Teaching College of Renmin University
of China (Bl A B K2 % 2 Ft) majoring in industrial
accounting in 1987. Mr. WANG is a senior accountant.
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Ms. Al Wei (X E Z 1)

Ms. Al, aged 49, is currently a vice president of our
Company (appointed in November 2014) and is in charge of
the import and export trading businesses of our Company.
Ms. Al has over 20 years of experience in the management
of trading businesses. Ms. Al joined our Company in July
1991. During the period from January 1992 to January 1998,
Ms. Al served at CMEC Machine Tool Co., Ltd. (7 z&# K L
B AR EEAR). From January 1998 to August 2005, Ms. Al
served as manager of the third division of CMEC International
Trading Co., Ltd., and she was promoted and worked as
deputy general manager from September 2005 to May 2007.
Thereafter, Ms. Al was appointed as general manager of
CMEC General Machinery Import & Export Co., Ltd. in May
2007 and served at that position until October 2013. Ms. Al
was promoted and worked as an assistant general manager
of our Company in May 2010 and was appointed as deputy
general manager of China Perfect Machinery Industry Corp.,
Ltd. (P EBEE T8 H AR A F]) from October 2013 to
November 2014.. Ms. Al graduated from Peking University
majoring in economics and management in 1991. Ms. Al is a
senior international business specialist.
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Mr. ZHANG Wei (3RJ& %)

Mr. ZHANG, aged 57, is currently a vice president of
our Company (appointed in September 2015). He is
responsible for our Company’s design and consultancy
services. Mr. ZHANG has over 30 years of experience in
engineering survey, design, technology and administrative
management. From July 1983 to January 1989, he taught
at Hefei University of Technology (& JE L% KXE2). Prior to his
joining our Company, he held a number of positions within
laboratory of investigation & research institute of Ministry of
Machinery including director and chief engineer, vice section
chief of Geotechnical Engineering Section and president
assistant from January 1989 to March 1996. From April 1996
to December 2014, he successively held the posts of chief
engineer, vice president, president and CPC Committee of
China Jikan Research Institute of Engineering Investigations
and Design, Co., Ltd., and has been a chairman from
December 2014 to January 2019. Mr. ZHANG obtained a
master’s degree from Hefei University of Technology (& fET
K2 in 1988, majoring in hydrogeology and engineering
geology, and obtained a master’'s degree in business
administration (MBA) from Xi’an Jiaotong University (F8
L XA E) in 2004. Currently, Mr. ZHANG is professor
of engineering. He was awarded the title of National
Engineering Survey and Design Master in 2006.
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Mr. FANG Yanshui (5 B 7k % 4)

Mr. FANG, aged 48, is currently the vice president of our
Company (appointed in February 2017), and is in charge
of our Company’s international engineering contracting
business. He has over 20 years of experience in engineering
contracting. Mr. FANG joined our Company in August 1993.
Mr. FANG successively served as a sales representative,
the deputy general manager of the Third International
Engineering Department under No.4 Complete Engineering
Department, the deputy general manager of No.4
Department and the general manager and the Secretary of
General Party Branch of the Third International Engineering
Department and the general manager of No.4 Complete
Engineering Department. Mr. FANG was promoted to the
assistant to the general manager of our Company and the
general manager of No.4 Department in September 2015.
Mr. FANG graduated from Hunan University in 1993, majoring
in industrial foreign trade. Mr. FANG is a senior engineer.
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Mr. TONG Zigang (Z B Bl % 4£)

Mr. TONG, aged 48, is currently the vice president of our
Company (appointed in February 2017) and is in charge
of our Company’s International Engineering Contracting
Business. He has over 20 years of experience in engineering
contracting business. Mr. TONG joined our Company in
June 2006. Prior to his joining our Company, Mr. TONG
successively served as a sales representative of the
Second Engineering Department and the deputy general
manager of the Fourth Engineering Department of China
Machinery-building International Corporation (47 B0 # # %t
IMETER T A B4R A F)) from August 1994 to June 20086.
During the period from June 2006 to September 2015,
Mr. TONG successively served as the general manager
of the Second International Engineering Department and
the Sixth International Engineering Department under
No.3 Complete Engineering Department of the Company,
the deputy general manager and the general manager of
No.3 Complete Engineering Department. Mr. TONG was
promoted to the assistant to the general manager of our
Company and the general manager of the Third Department
in September 2015. Mr. TONG graduated from Beijing
University of Technology in 1994, majoring in mechanical
engineering and manufacturing, and obtained a bachelor’s
degree in engineering, Mr. TONG graduated from the School
of Economics at Renmin University of China (FFEIARK
E) majoring in global economy as an incumbency graduate
student, and obtained a master’s degree in economics
in 2000. Mr. TONG is a senior engineer. Mr. TONG also
obtained the International Premium Project Manager (IPMP
Class A, BIB %478 B £ 38) which was awarded by the
International Project Management Association (IPMA, BRI

BERpS).
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Ms. WANG Weiling (EE® & T)

Ms. WANG, aged 53, is currently the chief financial
officer, Board Secretary, a Joint Company Secretary of
the Company. She joined the Company in July 1988 and
successively held various positions including accountant of
the storage and transportation department and accountant
of the finance department. From April 1998 to July 2005,
Ms. WANG served as the deputy general manager and
the general manager of the finance department at CMEC
International Engineering Co., Ltd. (FRERTEERSIT
x7]), a subsidiary of the Company, and the chief of the
finance department of the Company’s 1st complete plants
division. Ms. WANG served as the deputy general manager
of the general department of finance of the Company from
July 2005 to September 2006. From September 2006 to
June 2007, she served as the chief accountant of China
Machinery-building International Corporation (F Bl #4 %f 40
KER M A VEA A T]). From June 2007 to February 2018,
she has been serving as the general manager of the general
department of finance of the Company. From January
2016 to March 2018, she has been concurrently serving
as the chief financial officer of CNEEC. From August 2016
to February 2018, she has been serving as an assistant
to the general manager and general Manager of Finance
department of the Company. On February 12, 2018. Ms.
WANG was appointed as the chief financial officer, Board
Secretary and a Joint Company Secretary. She has about 30
years of experience in finance and accounting.

Ms. WANG graduated with a bachelor’s degree in economics
from Beijing Institute of Business (it R & £ Fx) in July
1988 where she majored in finance and accounting in the
accounting department. She obtained a master’s degree in
economics from Renmin University of China (B A R KE2)
in July 1999 where she majored in business economics in
the trade department. Ms. WANG is a senior accountant in
the PRC.
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VI. EMPLOYEES VI. E&
As at December 31, 2018, the Group had 5,311 employees M2018%12A831H KA &£ & # &
in total. The following table sets forth the number of 5311%ES - Ti’%ﬁﬁ\JﬁzTHH&ﬁ £l
employees according to different job functions: SHEEHE -
Number of
employees
EE®A
Business Staff ES Y- 4,946
International Engineering Contracting Business EIff Ti2& 6 %75 4,267
Trading Business SR 508
Services Business PR 75 75 171
Management, finance and administration &I - BT 331
Others Hit 34
Total a% 5,311
The following tables set forth the Group’s staff structure by TEDRERDIRHIBEMNE - 2BF - B
geographical location, academic qualification, designation BN FRE D AREE B T44E -
and age, respectively:
Analysis of the Group’s staff by geographical location O FE (T & 2 77 1) A 5 T4
Number of
No. Geographical location staff Percentage
wiE HENE BIgH Aok
1 China Y 4,990 94.0%
2 Asia (excluding China and Turkey) — ZEMl (TBIEFBEI R LHEE) 133 2.5%
3 Africa FEM 128 2.4%
4 Europe (including Turkey) BoM (BELEHE) 32 0.6%
5 South America EEFI 28 0.5%
Total A&t 5,311 100%

Annual Report 2018
2018F F 3} 223



Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and

Employees

ES - EE s EEAERES

Analysis of the Group’s staff by academic qualification 1ZBFEE 5 a9 K EE S T 57
Number of
No. Academic qualification staff Percentage
wma BE BIgH Aot
1 Postgraduate or above A s A 1,362 26.0%
2 Undergraduate == = -1iv2 3,023 57.0%
3 College diploma or below HRISUBSHAT 926 17.0%
Total &t 5,311 100%
Analysis of the Group’s staff by designation LB E) 5 a9 KB B T 247
No. Designation Number of staff Percentage
wme B BIgH Aok
1 Senior Grade B 1,246 23.5%
2 Intermediate Grade F 4R 1,753 33.0%
3 Junior Grade and below DWERUAT 2,312 43.5%
Total &% 5,311 100%
Analysis of the Group’s staff by age IEFEZ 7R EES T AT
Number of
No. Age staff Percentage
wme  FR BI¥H Aot
1 56 years old and above 565 M A 497 9.4%
2 46-55 years old 46 E555% 882 16.6%
3 36-45 years old 36E455% 1,217 23.0%
4 35 years old and below 35 M AT 2,715 51.0%
Total &% 5,311 100%
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Staff Development and Incentives

In 2018, the Company further improved performance
management system and formulated overall reform plan
for optimization of business department’s positions,
performance and salary. The Company implemented
new regulations on management selection and finished
the election process of the subsidiaries and subordinate
party committees, so as to perfect the organization
and structure of the Company. Management members
were appointed for relevant positions, age structure
of the management team was improved and back up
management team was established.

In terms of staff cultivating, the Company formulates the
construction plans for talent teams and continuously
enhanced the establishment of the Company’s six talent
teams, including “senior management personnel, project
management personnel, engineering and technical
personnel, professional management personnel,
marketing personnel, investment and capital operation
personnel”, which reinforces the base of key talent
reserve.

The Company will establish diversified career
development channels in the future, especially continue
to focus on building development channels for core
business staff, further improve the retirement schemes,
and therefore ensure both the development channels
and retirement schemes are in place, in order for
employees to share development opportunities and
reform results. The Company will further establish and
perfect a more rational, open and scientific employment
system by constantly consolidating the fruits of talents
introduction and enhancing the exchanges between the
cadre and the talents.
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Staff Remuneration

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group
incurred staff costs of approximately RMB1,554.4
million. Staff’s remuneration comprises basic salary
and performance salary. The performance salary
is determined according to the assessment of
performance of the whole staff. In 2018, remuneration
policy committee, remuneration supervision committee
and remuneration performance appraisal committee
of the Board focus on promoting the reform of
remuneration system and re-establishing the structure
of remuneration system.

Staff Training

In respect of staff training, in 2018, the Company made
use of innovative training method and intensified the
training, and built a two level training system with the
headquarters, each department office and subsidiary as
main body, innovated in training methods and devoted
greater efforts to training in-service cadres at all levels
and new recruits.

We provide systematic and effective training for our
employees. We provide sustainable and specific
education training for our senior management, middle
management as well as technical and operational staff
with a view to improving the quality and ability of our
staff at different levels.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Directors, Supervisors, Senior Management and

Employees

EE B eRXEEAEREER

To regulate the management of staff training, the
Company has formulated comprehensive measures for
administering employees’ education and training, which
effectively promote the establishment of the Company’s
education training system. The Company focuses
on the training needs of the senior management,
middle management, technical and operational staff
as well as the development needs of the Company
when formulating and implementing education training
programmes. The Company aims to implement
a diversified training system for the staff so as to
encourage the staff to participate in training.

The Company will further strengthen to train young
cadre in the future and establish different levels of
cadre, which lays the foundation for the sustainable
development of the Company. The Company will also
improve three-level talents training system among
overseas, domestic institutions and the Company
to ensure the comprehensive coverage of senior
management, middle management and every ordinary
staff of the Company in the training system.

Guarantee of Staff Rights

The Group strictly complies with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations and makes contributions to various
pension contribution plans, medical insurance plans,
unemployment insurance plans, maternity insurance
plans and personal injury insurance plans.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYZBARE

Ernst & Young ke EIE T Tel E5%: +852 2846 9888
22/F, CITIC Tower = rhIs Fax {SE: +852 2868 4432
ﬁ i 1 Tim Mei Avenue P ESERE ey.com
7. Central, Hong Kong = K E2218

To the shareholders of China Machinery Engineering Corporation
(Established in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Machinery
Engineering Corporation (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 236 to 434, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
December 31, 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BYZBARE

Key audit matter

AREZER

Revenue recognition for construction contracts

EE FIRATER

The Company derives a significant portion of its
revenues from construction-type contracts that
are accounted for by applying the percentage-of-
completion (POC) method.
SERFAIBMATEZEREREERER  ZEAAKETIAS
FEVENER ©

The POC method involves the use of significant
management judgement and estimates including
estimates of the progress towards completion,
the scope of deliveries and services required, total
contract costs, remaining costs to completion, total
contract revenues and contract risks. In addition,
revenue, cost and gross profit realised on such
contracts can vary (sometimes significantly) from the
Company’s original estimates because of changes in
conditions.
EATIAD AL REXNEREHE MG - 2FH
BT HEENMGE  INBEEAERYE - &RKALE
B RIHFEENKER SRBAERERERRERE -
BEAN - BEARBRBEARNRA - KARENEREHS
S MiRR (BREERE) SRR -

The disclosures about construction contracts are
included in note 2.4, note 3, note 5 and note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.
FRRESRNBEBEHNE M BERERWMT2.4 - W&
3 fEEs K M2 o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RRBELEREFRTNERD R

We tested the internal controls of the Company over
its processes to record contract costs and contract
revenues under the percentage-of-completion (POC)
method.

BMEEL AR TIAD ERHARKARRE RIA
HIRIEETT T AR -

We evaluated the judgements and estimates of
management in determining the estimated total
contract costs through the review of contract cost
budget and other relevant project documentation,
and the discussion of the status of projects under
construction with management, finance and technical
staff of the Company.
HPEBREARKATEE MEEER X REERT]
EIRRE - BB TammERME B 6kEE - AT E
B BT 5 & RN B R AT VeI B R A& 5T -

We performed tests of details, including the vouching
to invoices or other source documents, for the costs
incurred, and to assess the status of the projects
under sample basis.

ERHERER - RIETARAIG - BEREEEED
PR 2 RS CH M RIa XK - RATHIA B AR o

We retested the calculation of the percentage-of-
completion for certain key projects.

BPHETEREEENIATTIAD LIS -

We also assessed the adequacy of the relevant
disclosure.

BT EERERBENTRE



Key audit matter

HREZER

Impairment of trade and other receivables

B 5 RAEMBERA TR ER

The Group has significant trade and other receivables
from customers and other stakeholders. Allowances
for the impairment of these balances are estimated
by management through the application of significant
judgement and use of subjective assumptions.
Expected credit losses ("ECLs") allowances for
trade and other receivables are made based on the
assessment of the recoverability of such receivables
as appropriate. When determine whether a trade
or other receivable is collectable, significant
management judgement is involved. Management
ascertain the ECLs of trade and other receivables
based on various factors including amongst others,
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment, the extent of collateral or
credit enhancements available, and other information
concerning the creditworthiness of the debtors.
EEBEERETP REMFHHENANEE H KHMERK
TIE - ZERBENRERGHREREERERAE K
BR{ETHT - B REMEBRFIERBEEER
(TR EE1E) BEDHIRBEZ S RYGRIER K E E
ETHRE (ER) MiEL - REEE S HMmEYK
HIERGEMB BRI RENEIREFEH - BEEERE
SHARWTEE HRAMEKFIBERBEERHE - 815
(K e AEEERELR SMEBAREARG
AEREHHABRREERE  AHAERRIIGEEHE
Wi - LREHEKAGRENEMER -

The disclosures about impairment of trade and other
receivables are included in note 2.4, note 3 and note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.

B 5 & HoAh FE WK IR RUE A B B E & O B TS IR BT 5
2.4 - M3 MtzE22 -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RRBELSEREFRTNERLE

We tested key internal controls over the Group's
impairment allowance assessment procedures
as appropriate. We obtained direct external
confirmations for trade and other receivable balances
on a sample basis, and performed alternative audit
procedures for unreturned confirmations.
HAAAEERERERBFTGEREF (WER) NEER
EPEE ] o HAPIE BN R EGE 5 & H e YRIE
AN BRI ERRER K - WRLAA [ FERERR T T EAth
BERRERF -

We evaluated the basis and assumptions of the ECLs
model used by management in calculation of the
ECLs. Our procedures to assess the recoverability
of trade and other receivables included, among
others, inquiry of management's judgements, testing
of historical payment patterns, assessment of the
relevant forward-looking factors, and verification
of the extent of collateral and credit enhancement
available.
BAFEEREN T ERREEERRAERNTERGE
EEBEENRR - BT EE 5 R E MR R IR
WEEmETHNRFEE (KT eE) SRERENH
i RIBUEENFERI - FHEEERR TR E - A RZ
Er S RERRRIEEHENIEE -

In addition, we evaluated the adequacy of the
disclosures regarding the ECL allowances of trade
and other receivables.
ESN - B PIRT G EE 5 K E A FE W R IR TR HAE B s 1E
BHEHBARENTEE -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstaterment when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yim Chi Hung Henry.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

March 26, 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

BOHREER

Year ended December 31, 2018 ¢ & ZE2018F 12 A31H L FEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
Kz ARMTFT ARKFor
(Restated)
(Et)
REVENUE WA 5 28,862,688 27,375,112
Cost of sales SHE AR 6 (24,166,735) (22,086,067)
Gross profit EF 4,695,953 5,289,045
Other revenue HA WA - 5 106,938 212,281
Other (expenses)/income, net it (F%), WA FE 5 (84,556) 193,635
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R X (1,254,072) (1,082,591)
Administrative expenses ﬁgﬁz&ﬁsﬁ \ - (1,283,522) (1,163,616)
Impairment losses on financial and @@/ﬂ&é\@“ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬂé
contract assets,net HRE (625,666) -
Other operating expenses HE Mgy (3,137) (425,230)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS R 1,551,938 3,023,524
Finance income B A 6 1,314,914 394,126
Finance expenses g 173 6 (208,318) (1,162,253)
Net finance income/(expenses) MR A (Fx) F8 6 1,106,596 (768,127)
Share of profits and losses of: FEAE A T 7 2 518
Joint ventures EENT] 34,167 23,507
Associates /N 133,066 82,021
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRF% AT s A 6 2,825,767 2,360,925
Income tax PS5 10 (689,926) (584,298)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 2,135,841 1,776,627
Attributable to: SEEBR N
Owners of the parent (SYNCIEZZEPN 2,131,540 1,774,959
Non-controlling interests e I i 4,301 1,668
2,135,841 1,776,627
EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BRAREEEREEA
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT EB{EERER
Basic and diluted (RMB) EAXR#E (ARY) 13 52 cents (2) 43 cents (9)

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

BHEERER

Year ended December 31, 2018 ¢ & ZE2018F12 A31 B ILFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt AR#FT AREFT
(Restated)
(&)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FriaF 2,135,841 1,776,627
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  HftiZR& W
Other comprehensive income that will 1‘5/\1§i=HHFEJH1T§$%ﬁ;}¥,E
not to be reclassified to profit or loss ZEGZMEMERS K
in subsequent periods:
Remeasurement of defined benefit EFNAERTEXRES
obligations 28 (19,360) 9,360
Equity investments designated at UAREBEAZEEZSH
fair value through other FTAE AR S WS
comprehensive income friEie & (24,851) -
Share of other comprehensive income o1& 3%@.—‘.*2\ Al A ARG
of associates Wz (25,622) -
Net other comprehensive income that RBEBHREETSEF D
will not be reclassified to profit or EHEZMNEMERE K
loss in subsequent periods HER (69,833) 9,360
Other comprehensive income that may A2 EHARKI Al aeE 3 5 48
be reclassified into profit or loss in EERMEMEE W
subsequent periods:
Changes in fair value of available-for- AfHEREAREE
sale investments e = (436)
Share of other comprehensive income %fﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬂ RIE AR S
of associates Uz - (21,648)
Exchange differences on translation BREGHNI B R BB S
of financial statements of overseas MR EAERE N ERE
subsidiaries (563,376) (64,587)
Net other comprehensive income that B BRI ReEF D AR
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BRAOHMGEE W FEE
subsequent periods (53,376) (86,671)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME SR HE&ZRE IS
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (HNBRFIE) (123,209) (77,311)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME S R4&AEE%E
FOR THE YEAR 2,012,632 1,699,316
Attributable to: E?:‘BE‘\“ :
Owners of the parent ﬂ%*ﬁ_/\ 2,008,234 1,697,723
Non-controlling interests 3FT et = 4,398 1,593
2,012,632 1,699,316
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B O B E55iR R 3R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

December 31,

December 31,

2018 2017
20184 20174
12H831H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
st ANR¥F T ARMEFr
(Restated)
(Eat)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - REMERE 14 2,293,698 1,995,823
Investment properties AW 15 640,115 631,662
Prepaid land lease payments A TR E R IE 16 1,755,868 1,808,241
Intangible assets & E 17 464,816 465,879
Investments in joint ventures HELNAMIKRE 18 380,590 346,423
Investments in associates HEHENTNRE 19 1,102,433 1,050,268
Trade and other receivables 25 R EMEWFIE 22 3,905,768 847,059
Amounts due from contract customers  JEWE & 5 1E 21 = 1,928,798
Deferred tax assets RIETHIBEE 27 561,201 348,186
Other non-current assets HMIEmE & E 29 897,782 376,678
Equity investments designated at fair AR EEF=BZ
value through other comprehensive SAHMEES WEHA
income MEHEIL & 30 425,890 =
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 12,428,161 9,794,017
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 20 578,900 670,468
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H b fE Y IR 22 11,520,437 10,884,327
Amounts due from contract customers  FEWEREF RIAE 21 - 5,374,496
Contract assets aREE 21 3,977,833 =
Restricted deposits 2R FITFE R 23 1,211,805 1,363,525
Time deposits with original maturity BT H R B:A=1EA
over three months ) %E AR 17 3K 23 5,013,871 6,784,311
Cash and cash equivalents HeERRELEEY 23 21,383,610 21,479,315
Total current assets REEEMEE 43,686,456 46,556,442
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Borrowings BE 26 878,403 754,847
Receipts in advance TE W SR IE - 15,796,358
Contract liabilities aRAE 25 14,941,065 -
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk EMEMFIR 24 21,811,779 21,017,404
Defined benefit obligations BETHET 28 33,114 33,775
Tax payable e IE 527,133 122,035
Total current liabilities nEBEEAE 38,191,494 37,724,419
Continued/...
&/ ..
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B Ot IR R 3R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

December 31, December 31,

2018 2017
20184 20174
12H831H 12H31H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
it AR¥ T ARET T
(Restated)
(ZFut)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 5,494,962 8,832,023
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERAERABERE
LIABILITIES 17,923,123 18,626,040
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Borrowings BE 26 106,356 161,522
Trade and other payables B 5 K H Ath fET /I8 24 746,769 541,326
Defined benefit obligations BER BT 28 462,384 451,801
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIAEE 27 94,360 90,642
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEERE 1,409,869 1,245,291
Net assets BEE 16,513,254 17,380,749
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITIRA 31 4,125,700 4,125,700
Reserves (E= 32 12,301,708 13,174,786
Total equity attributable to owners of &2 T#EHE AE(L
the parent R 16,427,408 17,300,486
Non-controlling interests Bl 85,846 80,263
Total equity R 16,513,254 17,380,749

Director Zhang Chun Director Han Xiaojun

BEE ®E EE BRE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

B REE R

Year ended December 31, 2018 o #ZE2018FE12 A31 A IFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent Non-  Total
A controlling  equity
SERBLAREA interests
FEhEs ERAE
Available-
for-sale
investment Statutory  Exchange
Issued  Capital revaluation Fairvalue  surplus fluctuation  Retained Sub-
capital  reserve  reserve  reserve reserve  reserve profits total
=
REH REE(E QAEE  iEER E
Bx  EAERE i e MEe  RBGRE  RERA It
Notes  AMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  AMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000 RMB'000
bt N\RETT AREFT AREFT ARETr ARETT AREFr ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT
(ote 31)  (note 32)
(1) (hE)
At 31 December 2017 RO1TE12831R 4125700 3,479,828 (7,208) - 1,198,687 16,925 8,486,646 17,300,486 80,263 17,380,749
Eifect of adoption of [FRS 9 FERE RS
ERZosme 22 - - 7205 26,697 - - (85,790 (51,798) - (51,799)
At January 1, 2018 (restated) B018E1R1E (i) 4125700 3,479,828 - 26697 1198687 16925 840085 17,248,688 80,263 17,328,951
Profit for the year iyl = = - - - - 2,131,540 2,131,540 4301 2,135,841
Other comprehensive income EmEfgals:
for the year:
Exchange differences on SR e
franslation of foreign operations - - - - - (33413 - (33473) 97 (53,376)
Re-measurement losses on defined ~~ REREEIER
benefit plans, net of tax HEBE Mk - - - - - - (19360)  (19,360) - (19,360)
Changes n fair value of equity BAnERTEALE
investments at fair value through P ALfsAhE
other comprehensive incorne, HRERENAL
Nt of tax BEZY) Thk - - - (489) - - - (485 - (g
Share of other comprehensive AMBEATR
incore of associates BAhg - - - (2562 - - - (2562 - (%562
Total comprehensive income for the year  EREzANAEE - - - (50419) - (63473 2,112,180 2,008,234 4,398 2,012,632
Business combination under A-BETHERAR
common control 3 - (1,980,081) - - - - - (1,980,031) - (1,980,031)
Capital contribution fiom 2 — R ERRRY
non-controling shareholder BEEA - - - - - - - - 3366 3,366
Dividends declared to sharehalders BRAREREE
of the Company RS - - - - - - (349,483 (849,483) - (649,483)
Proft appropriaton to reserves BRERREMRT - 285,000 - - {7849 - (46439) - - -
Dividends declared to non-controling AT 2
shareholders of subsiclaries RhENRS - - - - - - - - ) 18)
At December 31, 2018 H2018E12R31R 4,125,700  1,785,692* - (876 131779+ (36,548) 9,199,161 16,427,408 85,846 16,513,254

China Machinery Engineering Corporation

PEIEHMRE T RRBERA
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

EOtREEE X

Year ended December 31, 2018 o E ZE2018F 12 A31H ILFEE

Attributable to owners of the parent Non- Total
BATERAEE controlling equity
Available- ) N
for-sale FRREE  BRAE
investment  Statutory  Exchange
Issued Capital  revaluation surplus  fluctuation Retained
capital reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total
e EERS Ej
BRRAE  EARE REEGRE MEE  RBEE  REER gt
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ANREFT ARETT ARETT ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETr ARETr  ARETr
(note 31) (note 32)
(hdst)  (Wis)
At January 1, 2017 R2017F151A 4,125,700 2,838,229 2,705 1,070,754 81,205 7,209862 15,328,515 47,038 15,375,553
Business combination under -2 TAERAK
common control - 722,643 12,084 = 172 479,003 1,213,952 8,991 1,222,943
At January 1, 2017 (Restated) ~ #201741A18 (Eit) 4,125,700 3,560,872 14,789 1,070,754 81,437 7,688915 16,542,467 56,029 16,598,496
Profit for the year ERgT - = - - - 1774959 1,774,959 1668 1,776,627
Other comprehensive income for £RE&HANKE :
the year:
Exchange differences on MRRITEEE
translation of foreign
operations - - - - (64,512) - (64,512) (79) (64,587)
Re-measurement losses on ~ REX A EEHE(E
defined benefit plans, net BR - M5k
of tax - - - - - 9,360 9,360 - 9,360
Changes in fair value of A ERENLBE
available-for-sale 28 Mk
investments, net of tax - - (436) - - - (436) - (436)
Share of other comprehensive  PHEFEAFI
income of associates 8 Hﬁli - - (1,648) - - - (21,648) - (1,649
Total comprehensive income for  ER&A ki@
the year - - (22,084) - (64,512) 1,784,319 1,697,723 1,593 1,699,316
Distrioution to then shareholder AIEEHEIRRHE!
of CNEEC* - (81,049 - - - (16,187) (97,236) - (97,236)
Capital contribution from a —EFBRBRE
non-controlling shareholder ~ EZ&RA - - - - - - - 24,500 24,500
Dividends paid to shareholders ~ fFALFRRERS
of the Company - - - - - (842,468 (842,468 - (842,468)
Profit appropriation to reserves  EAZEER &R = - - 121,938 - (127933 - - -
Dividends declared to non- BRMB AR ERRR
controling shareholders of ERHRE
subsidiaries - - - - - - - (1,859) (1,859)
At December 31, 2017 20175126318 4,125,700 3,479,823 (7,295)  1,198,687" 16,925  8,486,646" 17,300,486 80,263 17,380,749

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves * %5 H R IE B A2018F12A31H
of RMB12,301,708,000 (December 31, 2017(Restated): WaBRARTNEHEREREARE
RMB13,174,786,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 12,301,708,0007T (2017412HA31H (&
position as at December 31, 2018. i) - AR%13,174,786,0007T) °

# Defined in note 2.1 #

EE R MEE2.1
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHBETRER

Year ended December 31, 2018 o EZ2018FE12 A31 A ILFE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HteE AREFT AREFT
(Restated)
(Eat)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING XRHEKZEIHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: A AR A 2,825,767 2,360,925
Adjustments for: FEIER :
Finance costs BATE R 6(a),7 171,218 68,744
Foreign exchange differences, net & =555 (764,314) 999,965
Share of profits and losses of associates & {5 B & N aliam ) K 518 (133,066) (82,021)
Share of profits and losses of joint
ventures FEfh& & N ala s kEE (34,167) (23,507)
Interest income B YA 6(a) (267,881) (289,421)
Net gains on disposal of items of BEEWE  BERXEEER
property, plant and equipment 9 F U 5 (14,020) (1,026)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary TENBE R AU E 5 - (58,861)
Dividend income from
equity securities IR FEHAR EMA 5 (3,868) (197,551)
Investment income on financial assets € @& EHE Nz 5 (93,111) =
Net losses/(gains) on foreign currency i HISNE & 49 1 A1 2= 4 HY
forward exchange contracts and Bk (Wzs) F5
interest rate swaps 9 85,648 (567,424)
Depreciation e 6(c) 116,675 106,680
Amortisation By 6(c) 83,062 81,473
Impairment and foreseeable contract  EEF AITEET & EERE
losses 6(c) 627,203 424,520
2,599,146 3,332,496
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FE Em, wmb 90,031 (159,542)
Decrease in amounts due from FEU A R = RIER
contract customers - 716,322
Decrease in contract assets SERIEBERLD 2,651,060 -
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 K H fib & U sx 18 3% A1 (4,198,322) (2,800,142)
Decrease in contract liabilities aREERD (855,293) =
Decrease in receipts in advance SEU GO = (282,646)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R EH b & ZIRE AN 796,459 269,325
Decrease in defined benefit obligations 3% & 5 5 2= 75 5, 4> (9,438) (5,990)
Cash generated from operations KETEBIRERA 1,073,643 1,069,823
Income tax paid BEATETSH (468,959) (917,860)
Net cash flows from operating activities &2 FFHELNIESRE
R 604,684 151,963
Continued/...
B ..
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BEHRETRER

Year ended December 31, 2018 o E ZE2018F 12 A31H ILFEE

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR¥FT AREFT
(Restated)
(&)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREZHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B U F 8 6(a) 267,881 289,421
Dividends received 2 WA B 5 3,868 197,551
Investment income received B W 5 93,111 -
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYWE  BMEIZHEER
and equipment 14 (431,406) (685,110
Purchases of equity investments at fair BEEZEAREBEFE=AH
value through other comprehensive FB) T AEMARE WK
income/available-for-sale investments AXHERRE Al H ERE (36,640) (4,970)
Proceeds from disposal of items of BEEWXE  BEIEKEEER
property, plant and equipment B P15 58 26,155 29,550
Proceed from disposal of other BEEEMELEENMS
intangible assets FRIE 449 =
Disposal of a subsidiary BE—RMEBAFR 34 - (109,679)
Proceeds from settlement of forward 4B R HRINE & 49 I Fl 2=
exchange contracts and interest = BIE) P15 I8
rate swaps (43,885) (51,301)
Proceeds from disposal of lease BEHEEENFIEN S
prepayments IR 12,362 -
Proceeds from disposal of available-for- BB HEERENS
sale investments KIA = 113,100
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets & &S A ENMEHRIE 150,000 =
Additions of prepaid land lease payments B TEN + A S RE 16 (11,580) (42,258)
Additions of other intangible assets RNEEMEREE 17 (24,228) (17,975)
Additions of other long-term assets AEEMRAEE (36,652) (19,040)
Dividends received from associates EEE=INSILE o) ES) 8,737 =
Interest on financial instruments A FE Y SR IE LA Y <2
included in other receivables TEAE (79,408) -
Acquisition of a subsidiary under W R — =5 A M B A A
common control 33 (1,980,031) -
Investments in associates HHE N RN E (173,481) (138,646)
Investments in joint ventures HEZNRINKE = (25,000)
Placing of restricted deposits 7 U PR il 77 3K (21,652) (884,462)
Proceeds from redemption of restricted HE 3] 52 PR 117 5K PT1S 508
deposits 173,372 171,490

Placing of non-pledged time deposits
with original maturity of over three
months when acquired

Proceeds from redemption of non-pledged
time deposits with original maturity of
over three months when acquired

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing
activities

Tr RS [R A6 B HA H B8
=& A ey BB E K

i O BN RS R 46 B B B 858
=& A &y BB E BT K
PSR I8

KEEHEE (FFA)

MRS REFER

(29,640,548)

(28,964,047)

31,410,988 30,895,513
(332,588) 754,137
Continued/...
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHBETRER

Year ended December 31, 2018 o EZ2018FE12 A31 A ILFE

2018 2017
201845 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 AR¥FiT AREFT
(Restated)
(&)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMEZTDHHRSRE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings BEFS /T/\IE\ 1,332,248 888,515
Repayment of borrowings BEEE (1,253,277) (928,569)
Capital contribution from a
non-controlling shareholder —ZIEERR RO EARIZA 3,366 24,500
Proceeds from disposal of debt
investments EEERENASRIE 205,070 -
Dividends paid BERRE (849,483) (858,655)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders BT IR AR SR A AR B 249 (4,428)
Interest paid BEFE (170,416) (68,231)
Net cash flows used in financing B EEANR S RE
activities HEE (732,243) (946,868)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERBREEEYRIDFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (460,147) (40,768)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year FHNRE LIRS FEY 23 21,479,315 22,127,397
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net P 3R A B ) 22 VR RE 364,442 (607,314)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNASRASEEY
AT END OF YEAR 23 21,383,610 21,479,315
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF REeRESEEYRBEIN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be RR1TH 23 27,609,286 29,627,151
Restricted deposits PR & 1FE K 23 (1,211,805) (1,363,525)
Time deposits with original maturity FAEHA A BB =1E A &
of over three months TEHTER 23 (5,013,871) (6,784,311)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated RenERMINEE MRS
in the statement of cash flows FEY 23 21,383,610 21,479,315

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

China Machinery Engineering Corporation (the “Company”) is
a joint stock company with limited liability established in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The registered office
of the Company is located at No. 178 Guang’anmenwai Street,
Beijing, PRC.

The Company was established on January 18, 2011 as part
of the reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) of China National
Machinery & Equipment Import & Export Corporation (the
“Predecessor”), a state-owned enterprise. The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are mainly engaged in
the international construction business and trading business.

Prior to the Reorganisation and establishment of the Company,
the core business of the Group was controlled and operated by
the Predecessor. The Predecessor was wholly owned by China
National Machinery Industry Corporation (“SINOMACH?”, H
i T2 EE AR AF). Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the
Predecessor transferred its core business together with related
assets and liabilities to the Company. Upon establishment, the
Company had a total of 3,300 million issued ordinary shares,
with a par value of RMB1.00 each. The Company issued to
SINOMACH 3,267 million shares, or 99% of the total issued
shares, in exchange for the above transfer of business and
assets and liabilities from the Predecessor. The Company also
issued 33 million shares, or 1% of the total issued shares,
to China United Engineering Corporation Limited (“China
United”, FEIB%E T BRAF]), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of SINOMACH for a cash consolidation of RMB46,930,900.

On December 21, 2012, the Company became listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“HKSE”). The Company issued 718,000,000 H shares at
HK$5.40 per share by initial public offering (“IPO”) to investors
in Hong Kong and overseas. Pursuant to the IPO, a total of
71,800,000 domestic state-owned shares of RMB1.00 each
owned by SINOMACH and China United in aggregate were
converted into H shares on a one-for-one basis and transferred
to the National Council for Social Security Fund of the PRC
(“SSF”).

1.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

RFAREEER

hEEREEIRRROERAR ([F
RNAE) RTEFREARZEFE ([HE])
M HRDBR AR o ARAEH
PR AL A B R EZPISN
AH1785F o

ERBIA b5 Bl R H D 48
~R) ([aT&])) E48 ([EA]D /—
5 AR AER2011F1 B18H KL °
KRR RENBAR (GifEA[ARE
) TERERBIRREENESE
jﬂ%o

FEERRKIADRAR - AEEK
B ERH B S S R AEE - BT & A
PR ISR BRAR ([E#])
2EMHER - BEEH AIHBEZL
¥GERAEEERBEEETAR
Al e 18 ANARHEAE A 8,300
BEREREMEARE.COTTHE
TERIT - AR A R 2 173,267

BEREMD X BHTROEED
99% - MARHFY & B A Ll R

BERBE - ARATAEHKNEE
MEBARMEEES TIRARAR ([
Bita ) #IT38AB MR - KB H#H
TR EEN1%  REHE/ARE
46,930,9007T °

R2012F12H821H * X R Al R BB
ERSHMERRAR ([BHABHRA])
FRET - NRAGBEBERAREE
((BRARBE])  RERKRMDS5.40
IR ER R BB RGINEE BT
718,000,000 08 H% © F & X AR
B BERERPEEEERAEFNE K
71,800,000/% & A I & A K #1.007T
WEEANERER B —WEEHS
HiR - WERTHREEBE4SRER
cEEe ((HRESESE]) -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RRAIREBER (&)
(CONTINUED)
On January 2, 2013, the over-allotment option granted M2013F1 A28 « AR AR KB
by the Company was fully exercised, and the Company B e B AR EAT(E - ALt - ARF]
issued and allotted an aggregate of 107,700,000 H shares B F R 75.408 L BT REEES
at HK$5.40 per share. Accordingly, a total of 10,770,000 #£107,700,000/%HA% - F L - BI# &
domestic state-owned shares of RMB1.00 each owned by PR BB A A #910,770,0000% & % &
SINOMACH and China United were converted into H shares BEARK1.00THBEAEARERE IR —
on a one-for-one basis and transferred to the SSF. As at T E R E SHAR - WEE T HR
December 31, 2017, a total of 908,270,000 H shares were ESEEE- - R2017F12A311 -
listed on the HKSE. & 3£908,270,000 A& HAR 1 7 74 Bt 32 Bt
ke
In the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”), RIBEARREE ([EF]) MER -
the holding company and the ultimate holding company of the # (R BIRKL) BAR AR A A
Company was SINOMACH, which was established in the PRC. REEIER AT o
Information about subsidiaries Bt 8 1 B & K
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: ARAGRIMBARMNFAERMT
Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC

of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company

ERERL/ BRTEAR/ KRR
£ HEMLER A EREAEE READM TTER PEEREIATME

Direct Indirect
E# B
1 OMEC International Engineering ~ The PRC RMB50,000,000  100% - Construction contracting  Limited liability company
Co., Ltd. September 9, 1997 and trading
hRERIREREELA i ARH50,000,0007 BIABRES EREELE

1997£9A9H

2 China Everbest Development Hong Kong SAR HKD980,651,741 100% - Trading and security -
International Limited August 12, 1988 investment
EREERARAA BERAITHE 980,651, 74187 BARESR =
19888 A 128

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREBEHR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEAER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ ERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ HEMLER A EREAEE READML ITER HEERRIARME
Direct Indirect
ER A&
3 China Machinery & Equipment  Hong Kong SAR HKD25,115,970  100% - Trading -
(HK) Company Limited September 20, 1983
HEIRAREE A ERAR Bk ATHE 25,115, 970387 g5
1983F9/208
4 CMEC Engingering Machinery The PRC RMB80,000,000 100% - Trading Limited liability company
Import & Export Co., Ltd. January 9, 1995
PRIREHELNEREEAR HE AR %80,000,0007 g5 ARELRA
19955 1A9H
5  CMEC Comtrans International ~ The PRC RMB20,000,000  100% - Transportation agency Limited liability company
Co., Ltd. March 5, 1997
hREREREGRE HE AK%20,000,0007 LT ARAERH
BREAAR 199743758
6 Ausino Pty. Ltd. Australia AUD3 974,486  100% - Trading -
September 13, 1984
RANERERAARAA RARE 3,974,486 2T g5
1984597138
7 CMEC Group The PRC RMB10,820,000  100% - Transportation agency Limited liability company
Shanghai International January 30, 1996
Forwarding Co., Ltd.
FEEEEREREE t ARH10,820,0007T EHRE AREEAR
BRAT 199641 A30H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEEHR (#F)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ AMb%R A EREAEE EEADML IZXH PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
E# 3
8  Shenzhen CMEC Industry The PRC RMB9,200,000  100% - Storage and property Limited liability company
Corporation Limited March 18, 1992 service
AT PRERERAT hE AR #9,200,0007C BRRNZRE AREEAR
19923/ 18H
9  CMEC International Trading Co.,  The PRC RMB8,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Ltd. January 16, 1995
hRERESAREEAT HE AR 8,000,000 g5 AREERA
19955 1R16H
10 CMEC Machinery & Electric The PRC RMB20,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export January 16, 1995
Co., Ltd.
hREEELOARAR Gilei AR 20,000,000 g% BRREAT
19955 1R16H
11 CMEC Beiling Property The PRC RMB5,000,000  100% - Property management and  Limited liability company
Development Co., Ltd. January 15, 1985 rental
mERAREELOLRNFER AK5,000,0007C YWEERRAE AREEAR
ARELERA 198551 A15H
12 CMEC General Machinery Import  The PRC RMB6,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
& Export Co., Ltd. January 9, 1995
hRERRMELNEREAAR TE AR %6,000,0007C ] FREELE

19951 A9H

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEAER (&)

Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/  Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
AREL/ BERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ EMLER A ERBEAEE BEADL IERH PERRRIATME
Direct Indirect
ER A&
18 China Machinery and Equipment ~ The PRC RMB5,000,000  100% - Tendering for construction  Limited liability company
International Tendering Co., April 29, 1996 contracts
Ltd.
AR RREREAAA hE AR 5,000,000 BEARRR BRELRH
199654298
14 China Machinery Industrial The PRC RMB75,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Products Co., Ltd. February 6, 2002
REEXBHEAREAAR & AR%75,000,0007 g% AREEAR
20022 A6H
15 CMEC Petrochemical-General  The PRC RMB5,000,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Machinery Co., Ltd. January 16, 1995
MRANEHAR AT el AR H5,000,0007T g5 BAREFAT
19951168
16 China Machinery International The PRC RMB300,000,000  100% - Engineering design, Limited liability company
Engineering Design & Research  October 5, 1993 contracting and
Institute Co., Ltd. supervision
hEER TR Rk G AR 300,000,000 IRSH ABRER  ARERAR
ERERAR 199310454
17 China-East Resources Import &  The PRC RMB20,000,000  100% - Trading and construction  Limited liability company
Export Co., Ltd. July 22, 1993 contracting
PR REL D AREAAR # A& 20,000,000 B RBIAR BRELRA
19937 A22H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEEHR (#F)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ AMb%R A EREAEE EEADML IZXH PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
E# 3
18 China National Machinery & The PRC RMB19,562,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export February 20, 1987
(Suzhou) Co., Ltd.
hR (BM) BHREIE HE AR%19,562,0007 g% ARAERH
ARAH 1987424208
19 Shanghai Zhong Jing Import &~ The PRC RMB4,580,000  100% - Trading Limited liability company
Export Corporation December 21, 1995
LRREEROAREEAT HEl AR H4,580,0007C g5 AREALT
1995% 123218
20  China Machinery Engineering The PRC RMB38,000,000 100% - Trading Limited liability company
Wuxi Co., Ltd. April 9, 1987
FESEERIRERAR  F AR %38,000,00070 g5 AREERA
198754 R9H
21 Sino American Machinery United States of USD1,918,476 100% - Trading -
Corporation America (‘USA”)
August 22, 1983
REEXRAARAT FH2ARE (X8  1,918476%T 25
19838 A 228
22 Euro M.E.C. Import & Export Germany DEM100,000  100% - Trading -
GmbH March 9, 1990
BERELOIARAT {28 100,000 &5 5 g5
19903798

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREBEER (&)

(CONTINUED)
MWEARESR (&)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ ERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ HEMLER A EREAEE READML ITER HEERRIARME
Direct Indirect
ER A&
23  CMEC Japan Co., Ltd. Japan JPY50,000,000 80% - Trading -
April 2, 1986
CMECE A &t A% 50,000,000A 7 g%
198654 A2H
24 China Machinery Engineering The PRC RMB4,180,000 67% - Trading Limited liability company
Henan Co., Ltd. April 17, 1997
e m R E T (/) el AR 4,180,000 g5 ARELRR
RRAT 199744178
25 CMIC Enmei Co., Ltd. Japan JPY26,000,000  76.92% - Trading -
May 13, 1994
CMICK#R= &t AR 26,000,000E 7T g5
199457 13H
26 CMEC (Beijing) International The PRC RMB500,000  100% - Legal consultancy Limited liability company
Economic & Legal Advisors Inc. ~ September 24, 1993
BER (IR) BREELERA T8 AR 500,0007C LR AREEAR
ARELERTA 1993494248
27 China National Machinery & The PRC RMB5,460,000 55% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export February 21, 2001
(Fujian) Co., Ltd.
BROSEAREELOERAR HE AR H5,460,0007C g5 AREEAR
2001£2A21H
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Notes to the Financial Statements

Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREBER (&)

(CONTINUED)

MWEARER (F)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ AMb%R A EREAEE EEADML IZXH PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
E# 3
28  China National Machinery & The PRC RMBS5,000,000 51% - Trading Limited liability company
Equipment Import & Export November 30, 2007
(Hubei) Co., Ltd.
R (i) BHRETR HE AR 5,000,000 g5 ARAERH
ARAH 2007%11A308
29 CMEC Senegal S.A. Senegal XOF10,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
April 20, 2009
hEERREEL D AAT ERME 10,000,000 3£ %8 AN
ERNBRHABAF 200954 A20R
30 CMEC Engineering C.A. Venezuela VEF200,000 99.90%  0.10%  Construction contracting -
March 11, 2011
BERENRRIERAR ZMNintl 200,000 2 KA AR BIRE
201153A11R
31 CMEC Nigeria Development Nigeria NGN20,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Limited March 25, 2011
CMECERHNTEREERAR i =pi 20,000,000 LB
2011£3A250
32 China Machinery Engineering Argentina ARS429,000 90% 10%  Construction contracting -
Argentina S.A. July 80, 2012
hEERREIEMRERD  WRE 429,000 % AN
BRAT 2012%7A308
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEAER (&)

Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ ERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ HEMLER A EREAEE READML ITER HEERRIARME
Direct Indirect
ER A&
33 China Power Construction The PRC RMBS5,000,000 50% - Engineering design Limited liability company

Engineering Consulting Central  January 11,1993
Southern Corporation

MEE NERIREATAE e AR 5,000,000 Tkt ARAERH
BRAT 1993514118
34 China Machinery Engineering Namibia NAD20,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Corporation Namibia June 11, 2013
(Proprietary) Limited
HERAREIRRAERAE  AKLE 20,0008 0BT BIAE
WAL ERRELRR 201356118
35 China Machinery Engineering Papua New Guinea USD50,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Corporation (PNG) Limited January 22, 2014
HEMARELE (E5) RYE - 50,000%7 AN
BRAT 2014%1A228
36 Sinland Development PTE, Ltd. ~ Singapore USD7,150,000  100% - Construction contracting -
July 22, 2014
RHERARARA il 7,150,000%7 i ANEL)
2014%7A22R
37 China JiKan Research Institute of  The PRC RMB105,000,000  100% - Construction research and  Limited liability company
Engineering Investigations and ~ February 23, 1989 design
Design, Co., Ltd.
BRIZBERHERERAR BE AK#105,000,0007C AR E ARELRA
198952 R23A
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. AEIREBEEHR (#F)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MELRER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ AMb%R A EREAEE EEADML IZXH PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
E# 3
38 CMEC Lanka (Private) Limited ~ Sri Lanka USD1,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
February 12, 2015
hREREREAAA LS 1,000,000%7 AN
201552128
39 CMEC Middle East FZE United Arab Emirates USD5,370,000  100% - Construction service =
January 20, 2015
CMECTREH A7 Wi s E RE 5,370,000%7 WL AR
2015%1 A20R
40  China National Complete The PRC RMB100,348,774  100% - Construction contracting  Limited liability company
Engineering Corporation September 5,1985
HERETRERAA t AR100,348,7747C IS BRRAAT
198549 45H
41 CMEC Mexico Engineering, S.DE  Mexico USD100,000 99% 1%  Construction contracting -
R.LDEC.V. August 3, 2015
BERBRIIRAREAAA EFF 100,000%7 HI%R
201548 A3H
42 CMEC Zambia Development Zambia USD10,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Limited September 14, 2015
BEREHDRRRAGRAR EBHE 10,000%7T LA
2015F9A14R
43 CMEC Africa Development Kenya KES20,480,000  100% - Construction contracting -
Limited December 16, 2015
hRFENERARAA BRE: 20,480,000%% BI%E
2015124168
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December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REAIREBER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEATER (&)
Nominal value of
Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital  to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ ERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ HEMLER A EREAEE READML ITER REERKIATME
Direct Indirect
ER A&
44 China Machinery Engineering The PRC RMB24,000,000  100% - Trading business Limited liability company
Yinchuan Free Trade Zone Co., June 23, 2016
Ltd.
HERHRETR HE AR %24,000,0007 855K AREERH
(Rl RE) BRARD 2016564238
45 Maldives Renewable Energy Hong Kong SAR USD1 100% - Construction contracting -
Company Limited February 4, 2016
SRRXMERARAF BARATHE 1% BIRE
201652A4R
46 CMEC Engineering XXK Mongolia USD100,000  100% - Construction contracting -
November 30, 2016
PRELIRARREAT 5h 100,000%7 AN
201611 30
47 CMEC Guinea Equatorial, S.L. ~ Guinea Equatorial XOF20,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
June 1, 2017
MRFEENREREELE  REEAT 20,000,000 AR
201756718 it 37
48  CMEC Saudi for Construction Saudi Arabia USD270,000  100% - Construction contracting -
LLC July 20, 2017
hRYRERAREEAT DEMAH 270,000% 7T BIRB
201757208
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December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REIREBER (&)

(CONTINUED)
MWEARER (F)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Nominal value of

Place and date issued ordinary/ Percentage of Nature of PRC
of incorporation/ registered  equity attributable incorporated
Name registration share capital ~ to the Company  Principal activities company
ARERL/ BERTEER/ RRAFEL
£ AMb%R A EREAEE EEADML IZXH PEEREIATME
Direct Indirect
E# 3
49  CMEC Dutch Caribbean B.V. Netherlands USD200,000  100% - Trading business -
November 14, 2017
CMECHE M BRALAR  #HE 200,000 70 g55H
20178117148
50 CMEC Bel Limited Belarus USD500,000  100% - Construction contracting -
January 16, 2018
hTERHREOREREAAN  DREN 500,000 AN
2018%1A16H
51 CMEC Lao Company Limited Laos USD1,000,000 49% - Construction contracting -
January 16, 2018
hEERREERERAT ZH 1,000,000%7 BI%E
2018%1A16H
52  China National Electric PRC RMB838,100,000  100% - Construction contracting  Limited liability company
Engineering Co., Ltd. September 27, 1984
hEENIRERAA i AK#888,100,0007 AR BRERAT
1984€9R278
53 CMEC Congo SAR.LU Congo XAF1,000,000  100% - Construction contracting -
March 8,2018
TERHREIRROARAT  BR 1,000,000 AN
BIR () BRAEAA 20185388 hHEERAIEER
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”),
which comprise all standards and interpretations approved
by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for derivative financial instruments which
have been measured at fair value and financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended December 31,
2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 21 RAEEE (&)

Basis of consolidation (continued) mERE (#)

258

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (i) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Business combinations under common control

The Company acquired the 100% equity interest in China
National Electric Engineering Co., Ltd. (“CNEEC”) in April 2018.
The Company and CNEEC were under the common control
of SINOMACH both before and after the acquisition and
such controls were not transitory. Thus, the acquisition was
considered to be business combination under common control
and the merger accounting basis was adopted. Accordingly,
the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for
the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017
included the financial statements of the combining entity or
businesses from the earliest date presented or since the date
when the combining entity or businesses first came under
common control, where this was a shorter period, regardless
of the date of the common control combination. The net assets
of the combining entity or businesses were combined using the
existing book values from the controlling parties’ perspective.
No amount was recognised in consideration for goodwill or
excess of the acquirers’ interest in the net fair value of the
acquirees’ identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost at the time of the common control combination.

The Company’s comparative audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 were
restated to include the financial statements of CNEEC
retrospectively under the merger accounting basis as
mentioned above.

Transaction costs, including professional fees, registration
fees, costs of furnishing information to shareholders, costs
or losses incurred in combining operations of the previously
separate businesses etc., incurred in relation to the common
control combination that were accounted for by using merger
accounting were recognised as expenses in the period in
which they were incurred.
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4

IFRS 9
IFRS 15

Amendments to IFRS 15

Amendments to IAS 40

IFRIC 22

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Financial Instruments

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Clarifications to IFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Transfers of Investment Property

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Annual Improvements 2014-20176  Amendments to IFRS 1

Cycle

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Except for the amendments to

IFRS 4 and Annual

Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle, which are not relevant to the

preparation of the Group’s financial statements, the nature and

the impact of the new and revised IFRSs are described below:

(@)

Amendments to IFRS 2 address three main areas: the
effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of
a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the
classification of a share-based payment transaction with
net settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation associated
with the share-based payment; and accounting where a
modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based
payment transaction changes its classification from
cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for vesting conditions
when measuring equity-settled share-based payments
also applies to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that a share-based
payment transaction with net share settlement features
for withholding a certain amount in order to meet the
employee’s tax obligation is classified in its entirety as an
equity-settled share-based payment transaction when
certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction are modified, with the
result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction, the transaction is accounted for
as an equity-settled transaction from the date of the
modification. The amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any cash-settled share-based
payment transactions and has no share-based payment
transactions with net settlement features for withholding
tax.
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December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, bringing
together all three aspects of the accounting for financial
instruments: classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting.

With the exception of hedge accounting, which the Group
has applied prospectively, the Group has recognised the
transition adjustments against the applicable opening
balances in equity at January 1, 2018. Therefore, the
comparative information was not restated and continues
to be reported under IAS 39.

Classification and measurement

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting
IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, including
the effect of replacing IAS 39’s incurred credit loss
calculations with IFRS 9’s expected credit losses (“ECLS”).

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 BT HERBERIKE (&)

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued) () (#&)
Classification and measurement (continued) SHEREE (&)

R2018F1 A18 » B et
SE395R T8 T A BR I {8 £ [ B B 7S
£ XERISEOSRIE T AT 2 A 45

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IAS
39 and the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at January
1, 2018 is as follows:

R HRRIAT
Measurement category Carrying amount
SRR
IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9 Difference
BREs Ry BRaBRE BREEY AREBRES
$30% RRHE9R £30%  EAHH £8
AWB'000  AVMB'000  RMB'000
NERTT NEEFT AREFL
Financial assets
LREE
Listed equity investments Available-for-sale financial assets at FVOCI  Financial assets at FVOCI
LR BOABEERRREHA RO BETERRRHHA 10021 10,021 -
Aftralig it E S REARE Hftfralis eREE
Un\isied equity investments Avalable-for-sale financial assets at cost  Financial assets at FVOCI
¥ riRERE AR B AL ESRER BOnEEFEAARHHA
Hftira s eREE 366,667 411,980 45323
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost
B RAMERE EHRENTE RENRAG B EHEAR 11,731,086 11646575 (84,811)
Restricted deposits Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost
RBHER S REYHE RENKAG B ERER 1363605 1,363,525 -
Time deposits with original maturity ~ Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost
over three months i .
RIIBEEA=EANERES  ERRERGE RENRAG B EHEAR 6,784,311 6,784,311 -
Cash and cash equivalents Loans and receivables Financial assets at amortised cost
RERREEEY EHRENTE RENRAGT B EREAR 21479315 21,479,315 =
Net difference
Tz (39,488)
Non-financial assets
FEREE
Contract assets
AREE 7098204 7268718 (29,576)
Deferred tax assets
ETHEAE 348,186 376783 28,597
Net difference
FEE (979
Total net difference
BEEE (40,467)
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 BT HREERKE (&)

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued) L) (&)

Classification and measurement (continued) PERTE (&)
R2018F1 818 « B & %8|
53957 18 T~ HY AR 1 {8 £ [ B B 7%

HAERFESRIAT T2 MR

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under IAS
39 and the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at January
1, 2018 is as follows:

ZEERINT
Measurement category Carrying amount
SRR BEE
IAS 39 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 9 Difference
BREs Ry BRaBRE BRE Rl ARERES
£30% RHH9R #3055  EHIFER £8

RMB000  RMB'000  RWB'000
ANBRTTL ARRTTL ARRTT

Financial liabilities

SHER

Trade and other payables (other
than derivative financial
instruments)

B REMEFE
(TEERIERM)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost Financial liabilities at amortised cost

RRARATENERAR BEBRATENEHAR 21,547,304 21,547,304 -

Financial liabilities at fair value

WAREEENERER
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

REBRAHENERAR

Derivative financial instruments

MESHTE

Interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings
AHERTENR AR

Net difference
FEE

Non-_financial liabilities
FEHEE

Deferred tax liabilities
EEHEsE

Net difference
FES

Totg\ net difference
BEER
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Financial liabilities at fair value

BAAEEENERER
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

BERNAHENEREE

11,426 11,426 =

916,369 916,369 =

90642 101,978 11,331




2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

Notes to the Financial Statements

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)

22 SR HERBERKE (&)

(continued) ) (&)
Impact on reserves and retained profits HFERIRE w7 2
The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves and 1B % & B BR B 75 R 5 A2 A M9?Jﬁ

retained profits is as follows:

iR ARREENNZENT

Reserves
(]
RMB’000
AR Fr
Available-for-sale investment revaluation A SRS EGEE
reserve
Closing balance under IAS 39 B2 ERIFE 395 H N F R4 fE
(December 31, 2017) (2017512 A318) (7,295)
Reclassification of available-for-sale BB HEHEREEMHER
investment revaluation reserve 7,295
Opening balance under IFRS 9 B PR B 75 ¥ & ZE B S5 QR IE N F 445
(January 1, 2018) (20181 A18) -
Reserves
(=]
RMB’000
AR Fr
Fair value reserve R EBERE
Closing balance under IAS 39 BIBR @5 B 305718 N F R H
(December 31, 2017) (20174128318) =
Reclassification of available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve EF BRI HEREEGHE (7,295)
Unlisted equity investments and IEETARHEIR B M IS B E A
investment products from available-for- KA E2EE AR EBEEZ
sale investments at cost to FVOCI BEEH T AEMIRE KETE
RAERHERE 45,323
Deferred tax liability in relation to the above B ol R IEABEREERIEEE (11,331)
Opening balance under IFRS 9 B PR B 5 5 HE RIS ORI N ¥ A5 4
(January 1, 2018) (2018%F1A1H) 26,697
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 BT HREERKE (&)
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) (continued) () (#&)
Impact on reserves and retained profits (continued) HFERIRE w F 52 (&)
Retained
Profits
1R % 7
RMB’000
AR For
Retained earnings RE &= A
Closing balance under IAS 39 Bl @ s &R 3057 H T F R4 fH
(December 31, 2017) (2017%12831H) 8,486,646
Impairment losses on financial and
contract assets,net SRR E RS EREREIEFHE (114,387)
Deferred tax in relation to the above ER |- 3l 25 TE AR A ) R SE A 1R 28,597
Opening balance under IFRS 9 BB B 75 ¥ 5 HE R 2 O5R 1A T~ S A As £k
(January 1, 2018) (20181 A1H) 8,400,856
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(©

IFRS 15 and its amendments replace IAS 11 Construction
Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue and related interpretations and
it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue arising
from contracts with customers. IFRS 15, establishes a
new five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates.
The disclosures are included in notes 3 and 5 to the
financial statements. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under IFRSs.
As a result of the application of IFRS 15, the Group has
changed the accounting policy with respect to revenue
recognition in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the
date of initial application or only to contracts that are not
completed at this date. The Group has elected to apply
the standard to contracts that are not completed as at
January 1, 2018. The adoption of IFRS 15 had no material
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

22 S RBERKE (&)

B B 7 3R 5 HE RSB 165% R EL B
IR B SR RIS 1157 32
EAR] - BEFREEERIE185E
[Wes] RAE=E - BRBERD
SMBERSN - ERARPIBERER P
FAI AW MELN e - BIFRE
BIREERNFE165R BT — AR
B URBEFARZEAA
fR - RIBBEIBR M HRELERE15
5t WasiRpE IR B IR LM
EPEZREYIRG MAER BT
BBz KESBETER - BK
B 7% & 2E RIF 1655 0 R Bl AT
ERERWEREHRE MRS
TE o RERITSIAZEEER
TERBEMRTE BRI EE
B BARETEENER - TR
BHMzENEREENEERE
R EE  UREZHE RME
it WEATHNI HmRMGE
B3R5 o 5% 2 Al % B A BB B 75
SEAE T A RITR AR AR
E o R BIER B R s 2 R
E155% - ARBEEERI B HRE
HiFE2.4PT8A B AR E S
BUR e

AEEERKETENRAER
BRI 5 s ERIF 165 - R
BWTA - ZBREAERR A
ERABHNMAEGR  HfEER
REBRRTRONER - NEE
EERZAEREANEE2018
FIATHRARTERNAR - MR
BRI ELERNE15RE ARE
BRI ALBEEARE -
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Bt 35 ER AR Y R

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 22 BT HERBSERIKE (&)

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(c) (continued) ()

The cumulative effect of the initial application of IFRS
15 was recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits as at January 1, 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated
and continues to be reported under IAS 11, IAS 18 and
related interpretations.

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at January 1, 2018
as a result of the adoption of IFRS 15:

(&)

B X FE PR B RR B 7 s 2E R 2815
SRH) RET R B R A MN20184F 1
A1BREBENFNERAE -
Eit - WEEHERER - B#
BIRBER ST ERE115% « |
BRest R E185% LiAMRESR
i& °

TREFIMN2018F1 A1 H HERHR
B PR B 75 3R 5 HE BN ZE 1 65% T 52 5
EEIIERERBE 58

Increase/
Notes (decrease)
Kzt #m, Cid)
RMB’000
AR For
Assets BE
Contract assets EREE (i) 7,268,718
Amounts due from contract customers FEWERZEERIEA (i) (7,268,718)
Total assets BEMR =
Liabilities aE
Contract liabilities ERAE (ii) 15,796,358
Receipts in advance TEURIE (ii) (15,796,358)
Total liabilities BERTE =
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(©)

(continued)

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item was affected as at December 31,
2018 and for the year ended December 31, 2018 as a
result of the adoption of IFRS 15. The adoption of IFRS
15 has had no material impact on the Group’s profit or
loss or other comprehensive income, or on the Group’s
operating, investing and financing cash flows, but has had
impact on the consolidated statement of financial position
of the Group. The first column shows the amounts
recorded under IFRS 15 and the second column shows
what the amounts would have been had IFRS 15 not
been adopted:

Consolidated statement of financial position as at
December 31, 2018:

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

22 B RRBERNE (H)

(©)

(&)

T & # 7 R2018%F12 A31H &
& £2018F12A31H It F &
R AN BIPR B 15 3R 5 2 A B 155% T
XEENSYBBRRBEESE -
B4 B0 B B 75 R A5 HE RI SE 1 557 3
AEBEBE K EAMERE WA
EERQE RERBERERE
WEEAFE BHAEESH
WA REXTZE - giR#ET
1R R BIBR B 15 R 5 AE A 51657 A
BRHE 5 M _HEIFF W
KRB 4 B PR B 7S 3R 5 2E R 81555
THSH -

A2018%E12 8310 & 4f Bf 1% ik
MK

Amounts prepared under

BEATHEINERE
Previous Increase/
Notes IFRS 15 IFRS (decrease)

ERMBRE BEERME

Bzt A BIE15% HERA B/ (RD)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHFT AR¥FT AREFR
Contract assets EREE (i) 4,875,615 - 4875615
Amounts due from contract customers & REFE A (i) - 4875615 (4,875,615
Contract liabilities ARARE ) 14,941,065 - 14,941,065
Receipts in advance BUFR (i) - 14,941,065 (14,941,065)
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(c) (continued)

The nature of the adjustments as at January 1, 2018 and
the reasons for the changes in the statement of financial
position as at December 31, 2018 are described below:

(i)~ Construction services

Before the adoption of IFRS 15, contract costs were
recognised as an asset provided it was probable that
they would be recovered. Such costs represented
an amount due from the customers and were
recorded as amounts due from contract customers
in the statement of financial position before the
construction services were billed to customers.
Upon the adoption of IFRS 15, a contract asset is
recognised when the Group performs by transferring
goods or services to customers and the Group’s
right to consideration is conditional. Accordingly, the
Group reclassified RMB7,268,718,000 from amounts
due from contract customers to contract assets as
at January 1, 2018.

Upon adoption of IFRS 15, the non-current contract
assets are included in other non-current assets.
As at December 31, 2018, the adoption of IFRS
15 resulted in a decrease in amounts due from
contract customers of RMB4,875,615,000 and an
increase in current contract assets and non-current
contract assets (included in non-current assets) of
RMB4,875,615,000.

(i)  Consideration received from customers in
advance

Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group
recognised consideration received for construction
services, trading services or services business yet to
be rendered or delivered from customers in advance
as advances received from customers which are
included in receipts in advance. Under IFRS 15, the
amount is classified as contract liabilities.

Therefore, upon adoption of IFRS 15, the Group
reclassified RMB15,796,358,000 from receipts in
advance to contract liabilities as at January 1,
2018 in relation to the consideration received from
customers in advance as at January 1, 2018.

China Machinery Engineering Corporation
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(©

22 S RBERKE (&)

(#8)

A20185F1 A1 AR MEE &
2018512 A31H B ik i &
B RINT ¢

() BERFE

FE
1655 AT » ER S RIKA A
e - MARRAENEAE
B o ZEMAIE R E P
B YRMRERERTP
B HBEZRIR AR RLRA
RABWERIZPHIA - R
RNBE R %R EERFA5
ﬁé %$$@Lﬂ§"?

BIEMHE - é;‘*
TR o lJtt $%l
7.268,718,0007T Eﬁ
BEkRASREFRIES

B E2018F1H1H B 4

TA B A0 B % B 765 S 5 2E B 55
1655714  IERBE RBERT
AHMIERBEE - K2018
F12831H » &4 B R B
Wﬁ%ﬁ%%wﬁ%ﬁﬁ
WERRFERERD AR
4.875,615,0007C ' 1 /7t 2
éﬁﬁéﬂ%ﬁ@éﬁﬁé
(EEFERBEEF) BIEM
AR ¥4 875,615,0007T °

(if) ?g:;ﬁé W& PRI B a1

TR A BRI R B 75 3 5 22 RIS
1657 A - AR E K 5 B
P REM E AR HE S
R - BB RB IR
EHEOE WA ERER BTEI
BEPHE  BHSEI AR
WKIE - RIZBIBR I 5 s
BRI - ZSENER
BRAEE -

FE I - AR AN B BR B A5 3R
AERIE155:1% - AEEBA
R #15,796,358,0007C Y &
aE R2018F1H1H B 8 W
IEE%)T“*EEEE2018$1
ﬂ1 BEFBEMKED RS
EEENERAE -



Notes to the Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

()

(continued)

As at December 31, 2018, under IFRS 15,
RMB14,941,065,000 was reclassified from receipts
in advance to contract liabilities in relation to the
consideration received from customers in advance
for construction services, trading services or services
business yet to be rendered or delivered.

Amendments to IAS 40 clarify when an entity should
transfer property, including property under construction
or development, into or out of investment property. The
amendments state that a change in use occurs when
the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of
investment property and there is evidence of the change
in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for
the use of a property does not provide evidence of a
change in use. The amendments have had no impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group.

IFRIC 22 provides guidance on how to determine the date
of the transaction when applying IAS 21 to the situation
where an entity receives or pays advance consideration
in a foreign currency and recognises a non-monetary
asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that the date
of the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income (or part of it) is the date on
which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset
(such as a prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as
deferred income) arising from the payment or receipt of
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments
or receipts in advance of recognising the related item,
the entity must determine the transaction date for each
payment or receipt of the advance consideration. The
interpretation has had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements as the Group’s accounting policy for the
determination of the exchange rate applied for initial
recognition of non-monetary assets or non-monetary
liabilities is consistent with the guidance provided in the
interpretation.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

22 BT RRBERNE (H)

(©

(%)

R2018F12A31H » 1R & B &
B mEERFISH S ARK
14,941,065,0007T B TN FRIE =
OB EE M REHI R TELE
AR - B ERBARTEH KB
EREFFIENE W ELREL
ERIAME -

gt R 405K IE T R EB
ERBMEBEASIBERERENE
MR - HPBRlERR RS
ME - BIIARFTHEMERAK
TEREREMENERE - N

FRED- NEREESELE
MR - LTHERBREDE
B - S AYREMOB M
RAXRLEHE -

B ERE2EZESRESR
2255 5k ¥7 B S DA INE I ER ok S A<
BAREURERIEEBEEN
BEMNBEREAER S LS
215% BF a0 {A] T SE X 5 B HATR it 45
5l ZREEE RETVIRE
RIEBEE - BRI (SH
h—E1D) BARANEER - X
SAMAERULEAZMHK
BEMREEENIEELHEE
(IRTERRIE) HIFEEE A E
(EZEWA) B - BEHERE
R R E GIESE S
I - BB B MAES I S ER
B—EEAREBERXZH - B
RASBERETVNRBERIEER
EESFEKABNEREXRD
BETBRREZRBATA/NIES
— N ZERBHAEENERE
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BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 © M #F1E 5 ok 4 3K Y B R B 7
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 2R
STANDARDS
The Group has not applied the following new and revised AREEW RN ZETBREF BRI
IFRSSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these TEEME & RERA T RLIEE
financial statements. 30 B B T R A 2E B o
Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a Business? EBHBRELESRE EE0ER
BATA
Amendments to IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with ARMBREENZORN AFEHRMENES
Negative Compensation’ BaR F
Amendments to IFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets B EBRREERFI0R R REZHAHE LS
and IAS 28 between an Investor and its AR e ERESRY  AELAACEHEE
Associate or Joint Venture? EHE HEsFE
IFRS 16 Leases’ HAREBRE LS 6% HE
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?® AREBREENETR  RBAP
Amendments to IAS 1 Definition of Material? %@Eﬁﬁﬁ‘l%ﬁﬁ&% EZNMES
and IAS 8 SPER BRI B ‘
Amendments to IAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or RS EE105%0 LT GRAEE
Settlement’ EHE
Amendments to IAS 28  Long-term Interests in Associates ARG EAZ0%N  RBELTRLELA
and Joint Ventures' BT BRI
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax BRMBRERERE.  fEAEENTETY
Treatments’ REF23H
Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11, 2015F 220178 8H2  BRUHREENES
2015-2017 Cycle IAS 12 and IAS 23! FEN# % EREBREE

BIZE11% B est
EB|F125 RERe
SPER|F23E M BT

$1

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 L R2019F1A1A k2 B HENEFE
HARE A R

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020 2 R2020F1B1HS 2 BFABNEE
HARE A R

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2021 5 HR2021F1A1ESZBRABNEE
HARE A R

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 i AREE TR | AE R B H - AT e A

adoption
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. A business can exist without
including all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of whether
market participants are capable of acquiring the business and
continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether
acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to
focus on goods or services provided to customers, investment
income or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore,
the amendments provide guidance to assess whether an
acquired process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from January 1, 2020.

BT EE SRR M AL

December 31, 2018 e 201812 A31H

2.3 BB 1 R A& R BB B

HERA (&)

T8 B PR A o B 0 55 RO B 7 2R
SRR —SENMT -

B M 5 8 & E R FEIRAETTANBB
EBOER - WREBINESI - KE
AIARTRA R AR —EEEAD
MEE MEZRLBEE-HERAM—
BEERE MMELAHEIEED
MEENBEARER - B EABREA
BEEHNMBENABRASBIE - %E
RIBUHT A2 BER LB
WEEBURFELEEHNRTE
BREHBIMMEBHNRANER
BIEARHEAEELNENELEX
AR - ZERIMEWERENERE
CBHBIATFRENERIR
B REWAKBEEHEENHM
WA o IEHN - ERT AR TR R B B AT G
TG BIEE B ERNNIES - WHIE
AARBESTERIERE  AFFHAM
RSN —EESHNEESE TBNE
BETECRHE - AEEEHH2020
F1A1BRRARFER -
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 C A 18 18 Rk & 4BV Bl BR B 7%
INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING HXER (&)

274

STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in IAS 28 in dealing
with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 was removed by the
IASB in December 2015 and a new mandatory effective date
will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating
Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of
Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard
sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to
recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard
includes two elective recognition exemptions for lessees
— leases of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use
asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use
asset meets the definition of investment property in IAS 40,
or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment to
which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
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Notes to the Financial Statements

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change
in the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from the accounting under IAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16 requires lessees
and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under
IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The
Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 from January 1, 2019. The
Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in IFRS 16
to recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at
January 1, 2019 and will not restate the comparatives. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying
IAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present value of
the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application.
The right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of
the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised in
the statement of financial position immediately before the date
of initial application. The Group plans to use the exemptions
allowed by the standard on lease contracts whose lease terms
end within 12 months as of the date of initial application.
During 2018, the Group has performed a detailed assessment
on the impact of adoption of IFRS 16. As disclosed in note 37,
at December 31, 2018, the Group had future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate
of approximately RMB26,468,000. Upon adoption of IFRS 16,
certain amounts included therein may need to be recognised
as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The Group
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STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

anticipates that the application of IFRS 16 in the future will
result in an increase in assets and liabilities, however, which
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments clarify
that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude of
information. A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the
primary users. The Group expects to adopt the amendments
prospectively from January 1, 2020. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the scope exclusion of
IFRS 9 only includes interests in an associate or joint venture
to which the equity method is applied and does not include
long-term interests that in substance form part of the net
investment in the associate or joint venture, to which the equity
method has not been applied. Therefore, an entity applies IFRS
9, rather than IAS 28, including the impairment requirements
under IFRS 9, in accounting for such long-term interests.
IAS 28 is then applied to the net investment, which includes
the long-term interests, only in the context of recognising
losses of an associate or joint venture and impairment of the
net investment in the associate or joint venture. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments on January 1, 2019 and
will assess its business model for such long-term interests
based on the facts and circumstances that exist on January 1,
2019 using the transitional requirements in the amendments.
The Group also intends to apply the relief from restating
comparative information for prior periods upon adoption of
the amendments.
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STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

IFRIC-23 addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that
affects the application of IAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes or
levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain
tax treatments separately; (i) the assumptions an entity
makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iiij how an entity determines taxable profits or
tax losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits
and tax rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in
facts and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use
of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at
the date of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative information. The Group expects to adopt the
interpretation from January 1, 2019. The interpretation is
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s investments in the associates or joint
ventures, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint ventures.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations other than business combination
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. Under the acquisition method, the consideration
transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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Business combinations and goodwill (continued) EBEHREE ()

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the MEBFEHFIBEERET  EAIFEH
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition AR ERZENKERRN AR ER
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in B¥EE  FFEENEMKEER
profit or loss. fEi8am P iR o

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer W HE T 198 iR W sk A B R I
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent HEWAREERER B2 IAY
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial DEAREENABEEBRBEBE g%
instrument and within the scope of IAS 39 is measured at AIZE39sREmE R sk BB ER AR E
fair value with changes in fair value either recognised in profit BitE  EAnBEEZHNIERAK
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. EREMEENEMNERER - o8
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not AESNIBHENEN=E Hig
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for BEBETERPAR -

within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of BEYFZKAGE BB EEY
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount B JEEREmNERSERAEE
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of SR A B4 YRS 5 IR AR R 5 9 (A
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over AREEEE  AMBEEEFE
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. EXFEAEAEZHANERE - AHE
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than ELH I B B AR T E &
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, MAREE  ZEBREFMTHES
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on RERAERAZEREB W -

bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less RAIEFERE + BB RN AR AE R R
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for FTREEERE c mEAETSERE
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes Al BEEESHBERBERRNERR
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be REEANRBER - g ERAE
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of ETAH c AEBEM12A318 £ 17
goodwill as at December 31. For the purpose of impairment EENFERENR - BETHER
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, A AXBEAMBANTES KE
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s AERE Y ETEHARE FEED
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that HBRRGEFEZNAEEZREEE
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, BlustBReEFEMARN - MER
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group EEEMEENEERAGENREEX
are assigned to those units or groups of units. FEA S EMAER
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured
based on the relative value of the operation disposed of and
the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and equity investments at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability
is measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.
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POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or

DMREETE (F

FEMEEZAREBEFESFH AT
B2REREERNESEENIKE
RglETeREERRRSEER
RERRZR—EMBE2EEMESL
RREMEHIBE S -

AEBEHETRBRAERTRMBES
% BMRBRABBAERAEE
VEEMAERAIBERHARERE
BRI ERAAIBREABE -

MABERUERRAEXREZR
BEEMBE BHERYAAEER
EEENEBEZ cREBHAZE
BT ARBEBRSE

#—B - BASAELRERERD
52 %8 CRERE) i

FE - REETEFE GTEAR
BENEZREEHARE
AEZRREERER)

indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the F=E - RHELZETE GIEAR
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value BENEZXEEHABE
measurement is unobservable TATERER)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at
the end of each reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, construction contract assets, financial assets
and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been deter